
 

  wincoil.gov | Page 1  

 
REVISED 
AGENDA 

 
Winnebago County Courthouse  

400 West State Street, Rockford, IL 61101 
County Board Room, 8th Floor 

 

Thursday, May 22, 2025 
6:00 p.m. 

 
1. Call to Order  ............................................................................... Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 
2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance……..………………………………….Board Member John Butitta 
 
3. Agenda Announcements .............................................................. Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 
4. Roll Call ................................................................................................ Clerk Lori Gummow 
 
5. Awards, Presentations, Public Hearings and Public Participation 

A. Awards – None 
B. Presentations – Winnebago County Revolving Loan Fund Program Overview – Presented 

by John Phelps and Chris Dornbush 
C. Public Hearings – None 
D. Public Participation – Maria Mendia, District 12 Vacancy, Pro 

Jane Carrell, Election Validity 6 part Resolution for a Legally Valid 2026 Election, Pro 
Brian Jones, Election Validity 6 part Resolution for a Legally Valid 2026 Election, Pro  
Dean Barker, Election Validity 6 part Resolution for a Legally Valid 2026 Election, Pro 
Babe Paukstys, Election Validity 6 part Resolution for a Legally Valid 2026 Election, Pro  
Michelle Peterson, Election Validity 6 part Resolution for a Legally Valid 2026 Election, Pro 
Ken Zitko, Election Validity 6 part Resolution for a Legally Valid 2026 Election, Pro 
 

6. Approval of Minutes .................................................................... Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
A. Approval of April 24, 2025 minutes  
B. Layover of May 8, 2025 minutes 

 
7. Consent Agenda….…………………………………………….………………….…… Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

A. Raffle Report   
B. Auditor’s Report 

 



 

wincoil.gov | Page 2  

8. Appointments (Per County Board rules, Board Chairman appointments shall lay over until 
the second board meeting after they are first introduced) 
A.  Zoning Board of Appeals, Annual Compensation: $1,200  

1.  Tami Verstraete (Reappointment), Machesney Park, Illinois, to serve a 5-year term 
expiring May 2030 

2.   Tom Walsh (Reappointment), Durand, Illinois, to serve a 5-year term expiring May 2030 
B.  Board of Review, Annual Compensation: Chair: $37,249.94, member: $31,430.62 
      1.  Pamela Cunningham - Chair (Reappointment), Winnebago, Illinois, to serve a 2-year 

term expiring May 2027 
      2.  Jay Dowthard (Reappointment), Rockford, Illinois, to serve a 2-year term expiring May 

2027 
C.  Durand Sanitary District, Annual Compensation: $500 
      1.  David Bliss (Reappointment), Durand, Illinois, to serve a 3-year term expiring May 2028 
D. Cherry Valley Cemetery Association, Annual Compensation: None 
      1.  Donna Riha (Reappointment), Cherry Valley, Illinois, to serve a 6-year term expiring  May 

2031 
E.   Harlem Cemetery Association, Annual Compensation: None 

        1.   Ray C. Rogers (Reappointment), Loves Park, Illinois, to serve a 6-year term expiring May 
2031 

      2. Thomas L. Taylor (Reappointment), Roscoe, Illinois, to serve a 6-year term expiring May 
2031 

 3. Terry Johnson (Reappointment), Loves Park, Illinois, to serve a 6-year term expiring May    
2031 

F.   Seward Sanitary District, Annual Compensation: None 
      1.  Dennis Hille (Reappointment), Seward, Illinois, to serve a 3-year appointment expiring 

May 2028 
 

9. Reports of Standing Committees…………..………………………………..…..Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 

A. Finance Committee…………………………………………………….John Butitta, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 

 
B. Zoning Committee ....................................................... .Jim Webster, Committee Chairman 

Planning and/or Zoning Requests: 
1. SU-01-25 A Special Use Permit for Outdoor Entertainment to allow Musical Events and 

Accessory Uses such as a Snack Bar / Refreshment Stand in the AG, Agricultural Priority 
District for the property that is commonly known as 10831 Telegraph Road, 
Winnebago, IL 61088 in Burritt Township, District 1 to be laid over. 

2. Z-04-25 A Map Amendment to rezone 5 +- Acres from the AG, Agricultural Priority 
District to the RA, Rural Agricultural Residential District (a sub-district of the RA District) 
for the property that is commonly known as 9901 N. Campbell Road, Durand, IL 61024 
in Harrison Township, District 1 to be laid over. 

3. SU-03-25 A Special Use Permit for Mining to allow a Gravel Extraction Operation 
(renewal) in the AG, Agricultural Priority District for the property that is commonly 



 

wincoil.gov | Page 3  

known as 11150 and 11184 N. Main Street, Rockton, IL 61072 in Rockton Township, 
District 2 to be laid over. 

4. Committee Report 
 

C. Economic Development Committee ......................... John Sweeney, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
2. Ordinance Amending Chapter 2 ("Administration") of the Winnebago County Code to 

Restore Administrative Authority to the County Board Chairman to be Laid Over  
 

D. Operations and Administrative Committee ........... Keith McDonald, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
2. Resolution Authorizing Application for a Capital Assistance Grant for Paratransit 

Vehicle(s) Under the Illinois Department of Transportation’s General Authority to 
Make Such Grants 

3. Resolution Authorizing Execution and Amendment of Section 5311 Grant Agreement 
4. Ordinance to Provide Public Transportation in the Rural Areas of Winnebago County, 

Illinois to be Laid Over 
5. Resolution Authorizing Execution of the Acceptance of the Special Warranty (Grant for 

Rural Transportation) 
6. Resolution to Approve the Intergovernmental Agreement for the Public Safety Building 

by and Between the County of Winnebago and the City of Rockford 
7. Resolution Declaring Vacancy in Winnebago County Board District 12  
8. Resolution Awarding Purchase of Transit Van for Coroner’s Office using Fee Funds 

Cost: $67,807 
9. Resolution Awarding Replacement of 1st Floor Air Handler at Adult Probation and 

Wellness Center using CIP 2025 Funds 
Cost: $97,720 

10. Resolution Awarding Parking Lot Repaving for the Juvenile Justice Center using CIP 
2023 Funds 
Cost: $170,458 

11. Resolution Awarding Purchase of Replacement Truck for Winnebago County Sheriff’s 
Office using CIP PSST 2025 Funds 
Cost: $55,000 

  
E. Public Works Committee ............................................. Dave Tassoni, Committee Chairman 

1. Committee Report 
2. (25-030) Ordinance Establishing a Speed Zone on Latham Road (CH 17) from Rockton 

Avenue to IL Route 2  
Cost: n/a         C.B. District: 1, 5 

3. (25-031) Resolution to Reject Bid for Box Culvert Materials on Rockton Avenue at 
Gleasman Road (Section:  25-00737-00-BR)  
Cost: n/a       C.B. District:  1 

4. (25-032) Resolution Authorizing the Award of Bid for Moate Road Resurfacing (Section: 
25-00000-03-GM)  
Cost:  $794,444.04     C.B. District:  1 

5. (25-033) Resolution Authorizing the Award of Bid for Pecatonica Road Shoulder Paving  
(Section: 25-00000-05-GM)  



 

wincoil.gov | Page 4  

Cost:  $547,408.50     C.B. District:  1 
6. (25-034) Resolution Adopting the Winnebago County Traffic Safety Action Plan 

Cost: n/a       C.B. District: County Wide 
Link to Traffic Safety Action Plan: 
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1tjzQf887YehNKJaFjBYFPdAtgP2FwGFH/view?usp=sharing 

7. (25-035) Resolution Adopting a Policy for Celebrate Life Memorials along the Perryville 
Path 
Cost: n/a       C.B. District: 7, 8, 20 
 

F. Public Safety and Judiciary Committee……………………Brad Lindmark, Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 
2. Resolution Authorizing the Execution of a Mutual Aid Agreement with the Illinois 

Coroners and Medical Examiners Association 
3. Resolution Authorizing the Chairman of the County Board to Execute a Winnebago 

County Mental Health Board Amendment to the Funding Agreement 
 

G. Legislative and Lobbying Committee……………………………………………… Committee Chairman 
1. Committee Report 

 
10. Unfinished Business …………………………….……………………………………..Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 

 
Appointments read in on April 24, 2025 
A.  Four Rivers Sanitation District, Annual Compensation: $6,000 
      1.   Brad Long (New Appointment), Rockford, Illinois, to serve a 3-year term (Elmer Jones) 

expiring April 2028 
B.  New Milford Fire Protection District, Annual Compensation: Not to exceed $1,000 per year 

1. Doug Hayes (New Appointment), Rockford, Illinois, to serve the remainder of a 3-year 
term (Kurt Rodgers) expiring May 2026 

2. Greg Tucker (Reappointment), Rockford, Illinois, to serve a 3-year term expiring May 
2028 
 

11. New Business………………………………………………………………………………Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
(Per County Board rules, passage will require a suspension of Board rules). 
 

12. Announcements & Communications ..................................................... Clerk Lori Gummow 
A. Correspondence (see packet)   

 
13.  Adjournment …………………………………………………………………………..….Chairman Joseph Chiarelli 
 

Next Meeting:  Thursday, June 12, 2025 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1tjzQf887YehNKJaFjBYFPdAtgP2FwGFH/view?usp=sharing


Awards,  
Presentations,  
Public Hearings  

and Public Participation 



Approval of 
Minutes 

























CONSENT 
AGENDA 



All applying organizations have complied with the requirements of the Winnebago

LICENSE # OF
# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

31296 1 WINNEBAGO COUNTY CASA 5/24/2025-5/24/2025 $4,500.00

31297 1
DON'T BE NEXT 
FOUNDATION 6/21/2025-6/21/2025 $2,000.00

31298 1 ROSCOE LIONS CLUB 6/01/2025-9/07/2025 $6,000.00

31299 1
WHITE EAGLE CLUB OF 
ROCKFORD 6/01/2025-8/09/2025 $2,500.00

31301 1
UNITED WAY OF ROCK 
RIVER VALLEY 6/12/2025-6/12/2025 $2,500.00

31303 1 CENTER FOR SIGHT & HEARING 6/23/2025-6/23/2025 $4,999.00

31304 1

SOUTH BELOIT 
BUSINESSMEN'S 
ASSOCIATION 6/01/2025-12/2/2025 $2,480.00

31305 1

SOUTH BELOIT 
BUSINESSMEN'S 
ASSOCIATION 6/01/2025-12/2/2025 $2,500.00

LICENSE # OF
# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

LICENSE # OF
# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

The Following Have Requested a Class C, One Time Emergency License

RAFFLE APPLICATION REPORT

Presently the County Clerk's office has  Raffle Applications submitted by
8 different organizations for 10 Raffles.

County Raffle Ordinance.  All fees have been collected, bonds received and all
individuals involved with the raffles have received the necessary Sheriff's

Department clearance.

The Following Have Requested a Class A, General License

The Following Have Requested a Class B, MULTIPLE (2, 3 OR 4) LICENSE



The Following Have Requested a Class D,E,& F Limited Annual License
LICENSE # OF

# RAFFLES NAME OF ORGANIZATION LICENSE DATES AMOUNT

31300 1
WHITE EAGLE CLUB OF 
ROCKFORD 6/01/2025-5/31/2026 $4,999.00

31302 1
ROCKFORD LUTHERAN 
SCHOOL 5/23/2025-5/23/2026 $4,999.00

Deputy Clerk KRYSTAL SOTO

Date

This concludes my report,

22-May-25LORI GUMMOW
Winnebago County Clerk







Appointments 



      404 Elm Street • Room 533 • Rockford, IL 61101 | Website: www.WinCoIL.us 
It is our mission to provide high quality services and promote a safe community for all people in Winnebago County. 

Executive Summary 
Date: May 22, 2025 
From: County Board Chairman Joseph V. Chiarelli 
Topic: Board Appointment 
State of Illinois Public Act 099-0634 requires disclosure of appointments to local public entities. 

County Code Chapter 2, Article II, Division 4, Section 2-88 states, “The Chairman shall make all 
appointments to commissions, boards, authorities, or special districts with the advice and consent of the 
county board, or as otherwise provided by law.” 

Recommendation: County Board Chairman Joseph V. Chiarelli recommends the following persons to 
serve as County appointees: 
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 
Tami Verstraete of Machesney Park, Illinois, and Tom Walsh of Durand to be reappointed to 5-
year terms on the Zoning Board of Appeals expiring May 2030 

Zoning Board of Appeals 
Location: 404 Elm St., Rockford, IL 61101 

Service 
Description: 

Hears public testimony on zoning petitions filed by petitioners and makes 
recommendations to the County Board on the petitions 

Board 
Composition: 

Seven (7) members from different townships appointed by the Winnebago County    
Board Chairman with the advice and consent of the County Board: 
 Burritt Township - Daly Pecatonica Township 
Cherry Valley Township-Tilly Rockford Township 

   Durand Township-Walsh Rockton Township 
Harlem Township-Verstraete Roscoe Township-Erickson 

   Harrison Township Seward Township-Klinger 
Laona Township Shirland Township 

   Owen Township          Winnebago Township-Fuhr 

Compensation: $100 per meeting 
Bond: None 

Attorney: State’s Attorney’s Office 
Meetings: 2nd Wednesday of the month 

Origin of 
Entity:  Article 2, Section 2.3 of the Winnebago County Codes 

Property 
Tax/Funding:  Funded from County’s General Fund 

Consolidation/ 
Plans:  If applicable 

https://library.municode.com/il/winnebago_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COCO_CH90UNDEOR_ART2ADBOCOOF
https://library.municode.com/il/winnebago_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COCO_CH90UNDEOR_ART2ADBOCOOF


      404 Elm Street • Room 533 • Rockford, IL 61101 | Website: www.WinCoIL.gov 
It is our mission to provide high quality services and promote a safe community for all people in Winnebago County. 

Executive Summary 
Date: May 22, 2025 
From: County Board Chairman Joseph V. Chiarelli 
Topic: Board Appointment 

State of Illinois Public Act 099-0634 requires disclosure of appointments to local public entities. 

County Code Chapter 2, Article II, Division 4, Section 2-88 states, “The Chairman shall make all 
appointments to commissions, boards, authorities, or special districts with the advice and consent of the 
county board, or as otherwise provided by law.” 

Recommendation: County Board Chairman Joseph V. Chiarelli recommends the following persons to serve 
as County appointees: 

Pamela Cunningham of Winnebago, Illinois, and Jay Dowthard of Rockford, Illinois to be 
reappointed to 2-year terms expiring May 2027 on the Board of Review. 

Board of Review 

Location:  
County Administration Building 
404 Elm Street 
Rockford, IL 61101 

Service 
Description:  

Provides property owners a venue to resolve assessed value complaints.  Serves as 
the final local administrative review for assessment complaints.  

Board 
Composition:  

Three (3) members appointed by the County Board Chairman with advice and consent 
of the County Board.  No more than two of the Board Members may be affiliated with 
the same political party (added members may be appointed in emergency situation) 
Must reside in Winnebago County. Experienced in property appraisal and tax 
administration. Must pass Review Exam 

Term of Office:  Two (2) years 
Compensation:  Two members $31,430.62 and Chairman $37,249.94 annually 

Bond:  None 
Attorney:  States Attorney’s Office 

Meetings:  Convenes first Monday in June, meets as needed until year’s work complete, no later 
than March 15. 

Origin of Entity:  Property Tax Code 35 ILCS 200 Section 6 and Section 16 
Property 

Tax/Funding:  Funded through the General Fund which includes property tax revenue. 

Consolidation/ 
Dissolution Plans:  If applicable 

https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs4.asp?DocName=003502000HArt%2E+6&ActID=596&ChapterID=8&SeqStart=8800000&SeqEnd=10300000
https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs4.asp?DocName=003502000HArt%2E+6&ActID=596&ChapterID=8&SeqStart=8800000&SeqEnd=10300000
https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs4.asp?DocName=003502000HArt%2E+16+Div%2E+2&ActID=596&ChapterID=8&SeqStart=44400000&SeqEnd=46000000
https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs4.asp?DocName=003502000HArt%2E+16+Div%2E+2&ActID=596&ChapterID=8&SeqStart=44400000&SeqEnd=46000000


      404 Elm Street • Room 533 • Rockford, IL 61101 | Website: www.WinCoIL.gov 
It is our mission to provide high quality services and promote a safe community for all people in Winnebago County. 

Executive Summary 
Date: May 22, 2025 
From: County Board Chairman Joseph V. Chiarelli 
Topic: Board Appointment 

State of Illinois Public Act 099-0634 requires disclosure of appointments to local public entities. 

County Code Chapter 2, Article II, Division 4, Section 2-88 states, “The chairman shall make all 
appointments to commissions, boards, authorities, or special districts with the advice and consent of the 
county board, or as otherwise provided by law.” 

Recommendation: County Board Chairman Joseph V. Chiarelli recommends: 

David Bliss of Durand, Illinois, to be reappointed to a 3-year term, May 2025 to May 2028 on 
the Durand Sanitary District Board. 

Durand Sanitary District 

Location: 308 W. Main Street, Durand, IL 61024 

Service Description: Provides sanitary sewer service to the Durand area 

Board Composition: Three members, must reside in District, appointed by the Winnebago County
Board Chairman with the advice and consent of the County Board 

Compensation: $500 per year 

Bond: $10,000 

Attorney: Christopher Cocoma 

Meetings: 2nd Tuesday of the month 

Origin of Entity:  Sanitary District Act of 1917 (70 ILCS 2405/3) 

Property
Tax/Funding: District levies an annual property tax, charges for service and replacement tax

Consolidation/ 
Dissolution Plans: If applicable 

https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs3.asp?ActID=967&ChapterID=15


      404 Elm Street • Room 533 • Rockford, IL 61101 | Website: www.WinCoIL.gov 
It is our mission to provide high quality services and promote a safe community for all people in Winnebago County. 

Executive Summary 
Date: May 22, 2025 
From: County Board Chairman Joseph V. Chiarelli 
Topic: Board Appointment 

State of Illinois Public Act 099-0634 requires disclosure of appointments to local public entities. 

County Code Chapter 2, Article II, Division 4, Section 2-88 states, “The Chairman shall make all 
appointments to commissions, boards, authorities, or special districts with the advice and consent of the 
county board, or as otherwise provided by law.” 

Recommendation: County Board Chairman Joseph Chiarelli recommends the following person to serve 
as County appointee. 
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 
Donna Riha of Cherry Valley, Illinois, to serve a 6-year term from May 2025 – March 2031 on 
the Cherry Valley Cemetery Association Board.   

Cherry Valley Cemetery Association 

Location:  2494 Mill Road, Cherry Valley, IL  

Service 
Description:  Administrative, care and maintaining of a cemetery formed by the association 

Board 
Composition:  

Six (6) to ten (10) members appointed to six (6) year terms by the Winnebago County Board 
Chairman with the advice and consent of the County Board. 2/3 must reside within 15 miles 
of the Cemetery. Other members must be residents of Illinois  

Compensation: None 

Bond:  None 

Attorney:  None 

Meetings:  Annual meeting and as needed 

Origin of Entity:  805 ILCS 320/1 Section 1 that any six (6) or more persons may organize a Cemetery 
Association to be owned, managed, and controlled in the manner hereinafter provided 

Property 
Tax/Funding:  Interment fees and sale of grave plots 

Consolidation/ 
Dissolution 

Plans: 
If applicable 

https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs3.asp?ActID=2297&ChapterID=65
https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs3.asp?ActID=2297&ChapterID=65


 
  

 

 
               404 Elm Street • Room 533 • Rockford, IL 61101 | Website: www.WinCoIL.gov 

It is our mission to provide high quality services and promote a safe community for all people in Winnebago County. 

 

Executive Summary 
Date: 5/22/25 
From: County Board Chairman Joseph V. Chiarelli 
Topic: Seward Sanitary Board Appointment 
 
State of Illinois Public Act 099-0634 requires disclosure of appointments to local public entities. 
 
County Code Chapter 2, Article II, Division 4, Section 2-88 states, “The chairman shall make all 
appointments to commissions, boards, authorities, or special districts with the advice and consent of the 
county board, or as otherwise provided by law.” 
 
Recommendation: County Board Chairman Joseph V. Chiarelli recommends Dennis Hille of 
Seward, Illinois to serve a 3-year term from May 2025 – May 2028 on the Seward Sanitary 
District Board. 
 
 Seward Sanitary District  

Location:  PO Box 57, Seward, IL 61077  

Service Description:  Provides sanitary sewer service to the Seward area  

Board Composition:  
Three members, must reside in District, appointed by the Winnebago County 
Board Chairman with the advice and consent of the County Board.  Must reside in 
District – 89 homes, 9 businesses  

Compensation:  None  

Bond:  $10,000  

Attorney:  None  

Meetings:  2nd Saturday of the month – 8 am at the Township Building on Grant Street  

Origin of Entity:  Sanitary District Act of 1917 (70 ILCS 2405/3)  
Property 

Tax/Funding:  District levies an annual property tax, charges for service and replacement tax  

Consolidation/ 
Dissolution Plans:  If applicable  

 

https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs3.asp?ActID=967&ChapterID=15
https://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs3.asp?ActID=967&ChapterID=15


Reports of 
Standing 

Committees 



ZONING 
 COMMITTEE 



Attachment 
 ZONING COMMITTEE  

OF THE COUNTY BOARD AGENDA 
 May 22, 2025  
 

 

Zoning Committee……….………….......………..……….....…Jim Webster, Committee Chairman 

       PLANNING AND/OR ZONING REQUESTS: 

  TO BE LAID OVER: 
 

1. SU-01-25 A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR OUTDOOR ENTERTAINMENT TO ALLOW 
MUSICAL EVENTS AND ACCESSORY USES SUCH AS A SNACK BAR / 
REFRESHMENT STAND IN THE AG, AGRICULTURAL PRIORITY DISTRICT requested 
by Bob and Heidi Miller, Property Owners, for the property that is commonly known as 10831 
Telegraph Road, Winnebago, IL 61088 in Burritt Township. 

      Part of PIN: 10-17-400-003    C.B. District:     1 
      Lesa Rating: NA             Consistent W/2030 LRMP – Future Map: N/A 
 ZBA RECOMMENDATION:  APPROVAL w/ ZBA CONDITIONS (6-0) 
 ZC RECOMMENDATION:  TBD  

 
2.  Z-04-25 A MAP AMENDMENT TO REZONE 5 +- ACRES FROM THE AG, 

AGRICULTURAL PRIORITY DISTRICT TO THE RA, RURAL AGRICULTURAL 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT (A SUB-DISTRICT OF THE RA DISTRICT) requested by Ray 
McCoy, Co-Trustee (Property Owner), for the property that is commonly known as 9901 N. 
Campbell Road, Durand, IL 61024 in Harrison Township. 

  PIN:  06-29-300-003    C.B. District:     1 
 Lesa Rating: Very High            Consistent W/2030 LRMP – Future Map: NO 

 ZBA RECOMMENDATION:  APPROVAL (6-0) 
 ZC RECOMMENDATION:  TBD 
 
3.  SU-03-25 A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR MINING TO ALLOW A GRAVEL EXTRACTION 

OPERATION (RENEWAL) IN THE AG, AGRICULTURAL PRIORITY DISTRICT requested 
by Robert Schlichting, Applicant (Property Owner), for the property that is commonly known as 
11150 and 11184 N. Main Street, Rockton, IL 61072 in Rockton Township. 

      PIN:  03-35-200-019    C.B. District:     2 
     Lesa Rating: N/A             Consistent W/2030 LRMP – Future Map: N/A 

ZBA RECOMMENDATION:  APPROVAL w/CONDITIONS (5-1) 
ZC RECOMMENDATION:  TBD 

 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 

 4.  COMMITTEE REPORT (ANNOUNCEMENTS) - for informational purposes only; not      
         intended as an official public notice):  

 
• Chairman, Brian Erickson, hereby announces that a Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) 
 meeting is tentatively scheduled for Wednesday, June 11, 2025, at 5:30 p.m. in 
 Room 303 of the County Administration Building.   
 
• Chairman, Jim Webster, hereby announces that the next Zoning Committee (ZC) meeting is 
 tentatively scheduled for Wednesday, June 25, 2025, at 5:30 p.m. in Room 303 of the 
 County Administration Building.   

  



ECONOMIC 
DEVELOPMENT 

 COMMITTEE 



Sponsored by: John Sweeney, Angela Fellars, 
Angie Goral, Valerie Hanserd, Joe Hoffman,  
Kevin McCarthy, Tim Nabors, John Penney,  
Chris Scrol, Dave Tassoni, Michael Thompson, 
Christina Valdez, Joe Chiarelli 

County Board Meeting May 22, 2025 

ORDINANCE 
OF  

THE COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

SUBMITTED BY: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

2025 CO ______ 

ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 2 ("ADMINISTRATION") OF THE 
WINNEBAGO COUNTY CODE TO RESTORE ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY TO 

THE COUNTY BOARD CHAIRMAN 

WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois is a non-home rule unit of government 
organized under the Illinois Counties Code (55 ILCS 5/1-1001 et seq.); and 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board Chairman is elected at-large by the voters of 
the County and is directly accountable to the public for the efficient and transparent 
administration of county government; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the interest of efficient operations, clarity of roles, and effective 
leadership to formally vest executive and administrative authority in the Office of the County 
Board Chairman, while preserving all legislative authority in the County Board as a whole; and 

WHEREAS, the County Board desires to amend certain sections of Chapter 2 
("Administration") of the Winnebago County Code of Ordinances-specifically Sections 2-47, 2-
49, 2-123, 2-124, 2-147, 2-151, 2-155, 2-155.8, 2-155.12, 2-158, 2-168, 2-172, 2-182, and 2-228 
to effectuate this reallocation of administrative authority and modernize the County's operational 
structure; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that Chapter 2 of the Winnebago County Code of Ordinances, is hereby 
amended to read as follows: 

ARTICLE 11. DIVISION 2. - CHAIRMAN 

Sec. 2-47. - Membership on county board. 

The Chairman shall serve as the Chief Executive Officer of the County and be 
responsible for all administrative operations not otherwise assigned by law. The Chairman shall 
preside over all regular and special meetings of the County Board but shall not be considered a 
member of the County Board and shall not vote on any question before the County Board except 



2 
 

to break a tie. The Chairman shall have the authority to appoint, supervise, direct, and remove all 
department heads and county employees who are not otherwise appointed or elected pursuant to 
state law. The Chairman shall be responsible for the day-to-day administration of county 
government, including the implementation of policies enacted by the County Board, coordination 
of departments, oversight of internal operations and services, budget preparation, 
intergovernmental representation, and labor relations. The Chairman may appoint a County 
Administrator, subject to confirmation by the County Board, to assist in carrying out 
administrative duties. 
 
(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, 7(2-169), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2019-CO-040, 4-11-19) 
 
Sec. 2-49. - Duties. 
 

The county board chairman shall oversee development of long-range planning goals and 
objectives for the county. The county board chairman shall ensure conformance to the duties and 
responsibilities set forth in the "Counties Code" (55 ILCS 5/1-1001 et seq., 1992, as amended), 
he shall be responsible for the following: 

 
(a) Administrative responsibilities. 

 
(1) Appoint, with the advice and consent of the county board, those positions as 

required by the laws of the state. The county board chairman shall have the 
authority to appoint, discipline or remove the county administrator, chief 
financial officer and county department heads, except the offices of elected 
county officers and as otherwise provided by law, in accordance with 
Winnebago County Human Resource policies. 

(2) Represent the county on all economic development opportunities. Monitor 
and report to the economic development committee chairman and the county 
board caucus leaders all economic development activities and proposed 
agreements or IGA's (Inter Governmental Agreements) including any 
requested incentives at the time they are requested within seven business 
days of being first contacted by any outside entity or municipality wishing 
to do business with the county. 

(3) Shall represent the county at all organizations of which the county is a 
member; or with the assistance of the county administrator, or a designee 
assigned with the advice and consent of the county board. 

(4) Serve as the primary liaison between county elected officials and county 
board. 

(5) Monitor the development of annual host fee allocations to be approved by 
the county board. 

(6) Develop and promote the county's legislative agenda with the approval of 
the county board. 

(7) Assist in developing and monitoring the county's strategic plan with the 
advice and consent of the county board. 

(8) Lead communication of county initiatives and accomplishments as approved 
by the county board. 



3 
 

(9) Attend staff meetings convened for the purpose to discuss issues that may 
require legislative action by the county board and report a summary of the 
discussion to the appropriate committee chair. 

(10) Assist the committee chairs in establishing committee agendas. 
(11) Establish the agenda for county board meetings, except each agenda shall 

include a report from all standing committees and the items within the 
committee reports shall be established by the committee chairs. 

(12) Monitor the negotiation and enforcement of any collective bargaining 
agreements between the county and employees governed by the Illinois 
Public Labor Relations Act. 

(13) Supervise and assign duties to the county administrator. 
 

(b) Reporting and communications. 
 

(1) Report monthly to the county board on the affairs of the county. 
(2) When advisable, in order to promote county services and operations which 

are in the public interest, recommend to the county board the adoption of 
ordinances and resolutions. 

(3) Any county employee, who performs duties that fall under the purview of 
the county board chairman and as outlined in section (a) above, shall report 
directly to the county board chairman, unless otherwise directed. This shall 
include but not be limited to the County's Communications Director and the 
Director of Chairman's Office of Criminal Justice Initiatives. 

 
(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, 7(2-171), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2003-CO-42, 5-22-03; Ord. 
No. 2006-CO-7, 1-12-06; Ord. No. 2007-CO-94, 1, 12-20-07; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18; 
Ord. No. 2019-CO-040, 4-11-19; Ord. No. 2022-CO-059, 8-11-22) 
 

(c) Financial Management. 
 

(1) Monitor, review and recommend to the county board the annual budget. 
(2) Negotiate leases, contracts, and other agreements for goods or services, with 

the assistance of the county administrator and other designees, subject to the 
approval of the board: ensure that all terms and conditions of leases, contracts, 
and other agreements are performed and shall notify the board of any 
violations thereof. 

 
ARTICLE 111. DIVISION 2. - ADMINISTRATOR 
 
Sec. 2-123. - Appointment/dismissal. 
 
Except as provided in an employment contract, the county administrator shall be appointed, 
disciplined or dismissed by the county board chairman. 
 
(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, 8(2-186), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2017-CO-067, 6-22-17; Ord. 
No. 2019-CO-072, 8-8-19) 
 



4 
 

Sec. 2-124. - Duties. 
 
The county administrator shall serve as a member of the county's leadership team and advise on 
a wide range of issues, including but not limited to strategy, policy, planning and provide 
communications. 
 

(a) The county administrator shall be subject to the direction and control of the county board 
chairman and shall supervise the administration of the following: 

(1) Purchasing; 
(2) Buildings and maintenance; 
(3) Functions of the supervisor of assessments; 
(4) Animal services; 
(5) Information technology; 
(6) Community development  
(7) River Bluff Nursing Home; 
(8) County board office; 
(9) Veterans Memorial Hall; 
(10) Risk management program; 
(11) Chief financial officer. Budget and finance, under the direct supervision of 

the administrator; 
(12) Human Resources. 

 
(b) The county administrator shall have the authority to appoint an appropriate designee to 

assist in the supervision of the above departments. 
(c) The county administrator, or his or her designee, shall evaluate the performance of the 

directors and/or coordinators of the departments listed in subsection (a) above.  
(d) The county administrator shall be responsible for managing operational budgets to 

achieve organizational strategic goals for the departments listed in subsection (a) above. 
(e) The county administrator shall: 

(1) Maintain regular communication with all elected county officials as 
designated by the county board chairman. 

(2) Notify the county board chairman of staff meetings convened for the 
purpose to discuss issues that may require legislative action by the County 
Board. 

(3)  Assist the county board chairman and committee chairs in preparation of 
committee agendas, ordinances, resolutions and other business. 

(4) Establish standard operational procedures or administrative policies. 
(5) Serve as liaison to county board committees as assigned by the county board 

chairman. 
(f) Negotiate and enforce any collective bargaining agreements between the county and any 

employees governed by the state public employees labor relations act; 
(g) Assist the county board chairman in negotiating leases, contracts, and other agreements 

for goods or services, subject to the approval of the board; 
(h) Assist the county board to develop, install and maintain a centralized system for 

purchasing goods and services on behalf of county departments and functions, 
(i) Perform other duties assigned by the county board chairman. 

 



5 
 

ARTICLE 111. DIVISION 4. - CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
 

Sec. 2-147. - Appointment/dismissal. 
 
The chief financial officer shall be appointed, disciplined or dismissed by the county board 
chairman. The chief financial officer shall report to and be under the supervision of the county 
board chairman.  
 
(Ord. No. 2017-CO-068, 6-22-17; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18; Ord. No. 2020-co-084, 11-
24-20) 
 
ARTICLE 111. DIVISION 5. – CHIEF OPERATIONS OFFICER 
 
Sec. 2-151. - Appointment/dismissal. 
 
The chief operations officer shall be recommended, and appointed, disciplined or dismissed, by 
the county administrator with the approval of the county board chairman.  
 
(Ord. No. 2018-CO-061, 6-28-18; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 
 
ARTICLE 111. DIVISION 6. - CHIEF STRATEGY OFFICER  
 
Sec. 2-155. - Appointment/dismissal and duties. 
 
The chief strategy officer shall be appointed, disciplined or dismissed, by the county board 
chairman.  
 
(Ord. No. 2018-CO-062, 6-28-18; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 
 
ARTICLE 111. DIVISION 7. - CHIEF HUMAN RESOURCES OFFICER 
 
Sec. 2-155.8. - Appointment/dismissal. 
 
The chief human resources officer shall be recommended by the county administrator and 
appointed, disciplined or dismissed by the county board chairman.  
 
(Ord. No. 2019-co-on, 8-8-19) 
 
ARTICLE 111. DIVISION 8. - CHIEF INFORMATION OFFICER 
 
Sec. 2-155.12, - Appointment/dismissal. 
 
The chief information officer shall be appointed, disciplined or dismissed by the county board 
chairman. with the advice and consent of the county board. 
(Ord. No. 2017-CO-100, 10-26-17) 
 
 



6 
 

ARTICLE IV. - DEPARTMENTS 
 
DIVISION 1. - FINANCE DEPARTMENT 
 
Sec. 2-158. - Director. 
 
The person in charge of the finance department shall be known as the finance director. The 
finance director shall be appointed, disciplined or dismissed, by the County board chairman. 
 
(Ord. No. 2006-CO-4, 1-12-06; Ord. No. 2017-co-110, 11-21-17; Ord. No. 2018-CO075, 7-26-
18) 
 
DIVISION 2. - HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 
 
Sec. 2-168. - Director. 
 
The human resources director shall be appointed, disciplined or dismissed by the county board 
chairman. 
   
(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, 10(13-2(a), (c)), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2017-co-110, 11-21-17; 
Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18; Ord. No. 2019-CO-076, 8-22-19) 
 
DIVISION 2.1. - HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT 
 
Sec. 2-172. - Administrator. 
 
The person in charge of the human services department shall be known as the human services 
administrator. The human services administrator shall be appointed, disciplined or dismissed by 
the county board chairman. 
 
(Ord. No. 2007-CO-94, 111, 12-20-07; Ord. No. 2017-CO-110, 11-21-17) 
 
DIVISION 3. - COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 
 
Sec. 2-182. - Director. 
 
The person in charge of the department of community development shall be known as the 
director of community development. The director of community development shall be appointed, 
disciplined or dismissed, by the county board chairman. 
 
(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, 6(2-51), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2007-CO-94, V, 12-20-07; Ord. 
No. 2017-co-110, 11-21-17; Ord. No. 2018-co-075, 7-26-18) 
 
DIVISION 6. - PURCHASING AND CENTRAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT 
 
Sec. 2-228. - Director. 
 



7 
 

The director of purchasing shall serve as the purchasing agent for the county and shall be 
responsible for the procurement of materials, supplies, equipment, services, construction, 
construction related services and professional services in accordance with this division. The 
director of purchasing and central services shall be appointed, disciplined or dismissed by county 
board chairman 
 
 (Ord. No. 92-CO-79, 9(13A-3), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 98-CO-65, 11-12-98; Ord. No. 2017-CO-
110, 11-21-17; Ord. No. 2018-CO-047, 5-10-18; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-2618) 
 
SECTION 2: REAFFIRMATION OF LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
 
Nothing in this ordinance shall be construed to transfer or limit the legislative powers of the 
County Board. The Board shall retain the sole authority to enact ordinances, resolutions, levy 
taxes, adopt the budget, and establish public policy for the County in accordance with Illinois 
law. 
 
SECTION 3: REPEAL OF INCONSISTENT PROVISIONS 
 
All ordinances, resolutions, motions, rules, or sections of the Winnebago County Code that are 
inconsistent with the provisions of this ordinance – including any language within Sections 2-47, 
2-49, 2-123, 2-124, 2-147, 2-151, 2-155, 2-155.8, 2-155.12, 2-158, 2-168, 2-172, 2-182, and 2-
228 are hereby repealed or amended to the extent of such inconsistency. 
 
 
SECTION 4: SEVERABILITY 
 
If any part or provision of this ordinance is found to be invalid or unconstitutional by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, such finding shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions. 
 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict 
herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that this Ordinance shall be effective on its adoption. 
 

 BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that the Clerk of the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago is directed to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Ordinance to the Winnebago  
County Human Resources Director, County Chief Operations Officer, County Finance Director, 
County Administrator, and the County Auditor. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



8 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
        Economic Development Committee 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

JOHN SWEENEY, CHAIR  JOHN SWEENEY, CHAIR 

TIM NABORS, VICE CHAIR  TIM NABORS, VICE CHAIR 

ANGELA FELLARS  ANGELA FELLARS 

VALERIE HANSERD  VALERIE HANSERD 

BRAD LINDMARK  BRAD LINDMARK 

JOHN PENNEY  JOHN PENNEY 

RAY THOMPSON  RAY THOMPSON 
 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of  
 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 
 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY:  JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 

CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



 
Sponsored by: John Sweeney, Angela Fellars, 
Angie Goral, Valerie Hanserd, Joe Hoffman,  
Kevin McCarthy, Tim Nabors, John Penney,  
Chris Scrol, Dave Tassoni, Michael Thompson, 
Christina Valdez, Joe Chiarelli 

 County Board Meeting May 22, 2025 
 
 

   
ORDINANCE 

OF  
THE COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
SUBMITTED BY: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 
2025 CO ______ 

 
 

ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 2 ("ADMINISTRATION") OF THE 
WINNEBAGO COUNTY CODE TO RESTORE ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY TO 

THE COUNTY BOARD CHAIRMAN 
 
 

 
WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois is a non-home rule unit of government 

organized under the Illinois Counties Code (55 ILCS 5/1-1001 et seq.); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board Chairman is elected at-large by the voters of 
the County and is directly accountable to the public for the efficient and transparent 
administration of county government; and 
 

WHEREAS, it is in the interest of efficient operations, clarity of roles, and effective 
leadership to formally vest executive and administrative authority in the Office of the County 
Board Chairman, while preserving all legislative authority in the County Board as a whole; and 
 

WHEREAS, the County Board desires to amend certain sections of Chapter 2 
("Administration") of the Winnebago County Code of Ordinances-specifically Sections 2-47, 2-
49, 2-123, 2-124, 2-147, 2-151, 2-155, 2-155.8, 2-155.12, 2-158, 2-168, 2-172, 2-182, and 2-228 
to effectuate this reallocation of administrative authority and modernize the County's operational 
structure; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that Chapter 2 of the Winnebago County Code of Ordinances, is hereby 
amended to read as follows: 
 
ARTICLE 11. DIVISION 2. - CHAIRMAN 
 
Sec. 2-47. - Membership on county board. 
 

The county board chairman shall convene all regular and special meetings of the county 
board but shall not be a member of the county board and shall not vote on any questions before 
the county board except to break a tie. 



2 
 

The Chairman shall serve as the Chief Executive Officer of the County and be 
responsible for all administrative operations not otherwise assigned by law. The Chairman shall 
preside over all regular and special meetings of the County Board but shall not be considered a 
member of the County Board and shall not vote on any question before the County Board except 
to break a tie. The Chairman shall have the authority to appoint, supervise, direct, and remove all 
department heads and county employees who are not otherwise appointed or elected pursuant to 
state law. The Chairman shall be responsible for the day-to-day administration of county 
government, including the implementation of policies enacted by the County Board, coordination 
of departments, oversight of internal operations and services, budget preparation, 
intergovernmental representation, and labor relations. The Chairman may appoint a County 
Administrator, subject to confirmation by the County Board, to assist in carrying out 
administrative duties. 
 
(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, 7(2-169), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2019-CO-040, 4-11-19) 
 
Sec. 2-49. - Duties. 
 

The county board chairman shall oversee development of long-range planning goals and 
objectives for the county. The county board chairman shall ensure conformance to the duties and 
responsibilities set forth in the "Counties Code" (55 ILCS 5/1-1001 et seq., 1992, as amended), 
he shall be responsible for the following: 

 
(a) Administrative responsibilities. 

 
(1) Appoint, with the advice and consent of the county board, those positions as 

required by the laws of the state. The county board chairman shall have the 
authority to appoint, discipline or remove the county administrator, chief 
financial officer and county department heads, except the offices of elected 
county officers and as otherwise provided by law, in accordance with 
Winnebago County Human Resource policies. 

(2) Represent the county on all economic development opportunities. Monitor 
and report to the economic development committee chairman and the county 
board caucus leaders all economic development activities and proposed 
agreements or IGA's (Inter Governmental Agreements) including any 
requested incentives at the time they are requested within seven business 
days of being first contacted by any outside entity or municipality wishing 
to do business with the county. 

(3) Shall represent the county at all organizations of which the county is a 
member; or with the assistance of the county administrator, or a designee 
assigned with the advice and consent of the county board. 

(4) Serve as the primary liaison between county elected officials and county 
board. 

(5) Monitor the development of annual host fee allocations to be approved by 
the county board. 

(6) Develop and promote the county's legislative agenda with the approval of 
the county board. 



3 
 

(7) Assist in developing and monitoring the county's strategic plan with the 
advice and consent of the county board. 

(8) Lead communication of county initiatives and accomplishments as approved 
by the county board. 

(9) Attend staff meetings convened for the purpose to discuss issues that may 
require legislative action by the county board and report a summary of the 
discussion to the appropriate committee chair. 

(10) Assist the committee chairs in establishing committee agendas. 
(11) Establish the agenda for county board meetings, except each agenda shall 

include a report from all standing committees and the items within the 
committee reports shall be established by the committee chairs. 

(12) Monitor the negotiation and enforcement of any collective bargaining 
agreements between the county and employees governed by the Illinois 
Public Labor Relations Act. 

(13) Supervise and assign duties to the county administrator. 
 

(b) Reporting and communications. 
 

(1) Report monthly to the county board on the affairs of the county. 
(2) When advisable, in order to promote county services and operations which 

are in the public interest, recommend to the county board the adoption of 
ordinances and resolutions. 

(3) Any county employee, who performs duties that fall under the purview of 
the county board chairman and as outlined in section (a) above, shall report 
directly to the county board chairman, unless otherwise directed. This shall 
include but not be limited to the County's Communications Director and the 
Director of Chairman's Office of Criminal Justice Initiatives. 

 
(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, 7(2-171), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2003-CO-42, 5-22-03; Ord. 
No. 2006-CO-7, 1-12-06; Ord. No. 2007-CO-94, 1, 12-20-07; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18; 
Ord. No. 2019-CO-040, 4-11-19; Ord. No. 2022-CO-059, 8-11-22) 
 

(c) Financial Management. 
 

(1) Monitor, review and recommend to the county board the annual budget. 
(2) Negotiate leases, contracts, and other agreements for goods or services, with 

the assistance of the county administrator and other designees, subject to the 
approval of the board: ensure that all terms and conditions of leases, contracts, 
and other agreements are performed and shall notify the board of any 
violations thereof. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



4 
 

ARTICLE 111. DIVISION 2. - ADMINISTRATOR 
 
Sec. 2-123. - Appointment/dismissal. 
 
Except as provided in an employment contract, the county administrator shall be appointed, 
disciplined or dismissed by the county board chairman. Upon recommendation of personnel and 
policies committee. 
 
(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, 8(2-186), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2017-CO-067, 6-22-17; Ord. 
No. 2019-CO-072, 8-8-19) 
 
Sec. 2-124. - Duties. 
 
The county administrator shall serve as a member of the county's leadership team and advise on 
a wide range of issues, including but not limited to strategy, policy, planning and provide 
communications. 
 

(a) The county administrator shall be subject to the direction and control of the county board 
chairman and shall supervise the administration of the following: 

(1) Purchasing; 
(2) Buildings and maintenance; 
(3) Functions of the supervisor of assessments; 
(4) Animal services; 
(5) Information technology; 
(6) Community development  
(7) River Bluff Nursing Home; 
(8) County board office; 
(9) Veterans Memorial Hall; 
(10) Risk management program; 
(11) Chief financial officer. Budget and finance, under the direct supervision of 

the administrator; 
(12) Human Resources. 

 
(b) The county administrator shall have the authority to appoint an appropriate designee to 

assist in the supervision of the above departments. 
(c) The county administrator, or his or her designee, shall evaluate the performance of the 

directors and/or coordinators of the departments listed in subsection (a) above.  
(d) The county administrator shall be responsible for managing operational budgets to 

achieve organizational strategic goals for the departments listed in subsection (a) above. 
(e) The county administrator shall: 

(1) Maintain regular communication with all elected county officials as 
designated by the county board chairman. 

(2) Notify the county board chairman of staff meetings convened for the 
purpose to discuss issues that may require legislative action by the County 
Board. 

(3)  Assist the county board chairman and committee chairs in preparation of 
committee agendas, ordinances, resolutions and other business. 



5 
 

(4) Establish standard operational procedures or administrative policies. 
(5) Serve as liaison to county board committees as assigned by the county board 

chairman. 
(f) Negotiate and enforce any collective bargaining agreements between the county and any 

employees governed by the state public employees labor relations act; 
(g) Assist the county board chairman in negotiating leases, contracts, and other agreements 

for goods or services, subject to the approval of the board; 
(h) Assist the county board to develop, install and maintain a centralized system for 

purchasing goods and services on behalf of county departments and functions, 
(i) Perform other duties assigned by the county board chairman. 

 
ARTICLE 111. DIVISION 4. - CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

 
Sec. 2-147. - Appointment/dismissal. 
 
The chief financial officer shall be appointed, disciplined or dismissed by the county board 
chairman. administrator, with the advice and consent of the county board and shall serve at the 
pleasure of the county administrator. The chief financial officer shall report to and be under the 
supervision of the county board chairman. administrator. 
 
(Ord. No. 2017-CO-068, 6-22-17; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18; Ord. No. 2020-co-084, 11-
24-20) 
 
ARTICLE 111. DIVISION 5. – CHIEF OPERATIONS OFFICER 
 
Sec. 2-151. - Appointment/dismissal. 
 
The chief operations officer shall be recommended, and appointed, disciplined or dismissed, by 
the county administrator with the approval of the county board chairman.  
 
(Ord. No. 2018-CO-061, 6-28-18; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 
 
ARTICLE 111. DIVISION 6. - CHIEF STRATEGY STRATEGIC INITIATIVES 
OFFICER  
 
Sec. 2-155. - Appointment/dismissal and duties. 
 
The chief strategy strategic initiatives officer shall be recommended, and appointed, disciplined 
or dismissed, by the county administrator with the approval of the county board chairman.  
 
(Ord. No. 2018-CO-062, 6-28-18; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 
 
 
 
 
 
 



6 
 

ARTICLE 111. DIVISION 7. - CHIEF HUMAN RESOURCES OFFICER 
 
Sec. 2-155.8. - Appointment/dismissal. 
 
The chief human resources officer shall be recommended by the county administrator and 
appointed, disciplined or dismissed by the county board chairman. with the advice and consent of 
the county board. 
 
(Ord. No. 2019-co-on, 8-8-19) 
 
ARTICLE 111. DIVISION 8. - CHIEF INFORMATION OFFICER 
 
Sec. 2-155.12, - Appointment/dismissal. 
 
The chief information officer shall be appointed, disciplined or dismissed by the county board 
chairman. with the advice and consent of the county board. 
(Ord. No. 2017-CO-100, 10-26-17) 
 
ARTICLE IV. - DEPARTMENTS 
 
DIVISION 1. - FINANCE DEPARTMENT 
 
Sec. 2-158. - Director. 
 
The person in charge of the finance department shall be known as the finance director. The 
finance director shall be recommended, and appointed, disciplined or dismissed, by the county 
administrator with the approval of the County board chairman. 
 
(Ord. No. 2006-CO-4, 1-12-06; Ord. No. 2017-co-110, 11-21-17; Ord. No. 2018-CO075, 7-26-
18) 
 
DIVISION 2. - HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 
 
Sec. 2-168. - Director. 
 
The human resources director shall be recommended, appointed, disciplined or dismissed by the 
county board chairman. chief of human resources or the county administrator with the approval 
of the county board. In the absence of an administrator and chief human resources officer, the 
human resources director shall be recommended, appointed, disciplined or dismissed by a 
majority vote of the county board. 
   
(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, 10(13-2(a), (c)), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2017-co-110, 11-21-17; 
Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18; Ord. No. 2019-CO-076, 8-22-19) 
 
DIVISION 2.1. - HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT 
 
Sec. 2-172. - Administrator. 



7 
 

 
The person in charge of the human services department shall be known as the human services 
administrator. The human services administrator shall be recommended, appointed, disciplined 
or dismissed by the county administrator with the approval of the county board chairman. 
 
(Ord. No. 2007-CO-94, 111, 12-20-07; Ord. No. 2017-CO-110, 11-21-17) 
 
DIVISION 3. - REGIONAL PLANNING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DEPARTMENT 
 
Sec. 2-182. - Director. 
 
The person in charge of the department of regional planning and community development shall 
be known as the director of planning and community development. The director of planning and 
community development shall be recommended, and appointed, disciplined or dismissed, by the 
county administrator with approval of the county board chairman. 
 
(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, 6(2-51), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2007-CO-94, V, 12-20-07; Ord. 
No. 2017-co-110, 11-21-17; Ord. No. 2018-co-075, 7-26-18) 
 
DIVISION 6. - PURCHASING AND CENTRAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT 
 
Sec. 2-228. - Director. 
 
The director of purchasing shall serve as the purchasing agent for the county and shall be 
responsible for the procurement of materials, supplies, equipment, services, construction, 
construction related services and professional services in accordance with this division. The 
director of purchasing and central services shall be recommended, and appointed, disciplined or 
dismissed by the county administrator with the approval of the county board chairman 
 
 (Ord. No. 92-CO-79, 9(13A-3), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 98-CO-65, 11-12-98; Ord. No. 2017-CO-
110, 11-21-17; Ord. No. 2018-CO-047, 5-10-18; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-2618) 
 
SECTION 2: REAFFIRMATION OF LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
 
Nothing in this ordinance shall be construed to transfer or limit the legislative powers of the 
County Board. The Board shall retain the sole authority to enact ordinances, resolutions, levy 
taxes, adopt the budget, and establish public policy for the County in accordance with Illinois 
law. 
 
SECTION 3: REPEAL OF INCONSISTENT PROVISIONS 
All ordinances, resolutions, motions, rules, or sections of the Winnebago County Code that are 
inconsistent with the provisions of this ordinance – including any language within Sections 2-47, 
2-49, 2-123, 2-124, 2-147, 2-151, 2-155, 2-155.8, 2-155.12, 2-158, 2-168, 2-172, 2-182, and 2-
228 are hereby repealed or amended to the extent of such inconsistency. 
 
 



8 
 

SECTION 4: SEVERABILITY 
If any part or provision of this ordinance is found to be invalid or unconstitutional by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, such finding shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions. 
 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict 
herewith are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that this Ordinance shall be effective on its adoption. 
 

 BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that the Clerk of the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago is directed to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Ordinance to the Winnebago  
County Human Resources Director, County Chief Operations Officer, County Finance Director, 
County Administrator, and the County Auditor. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



9 
 

Respectfully submitted, 
        Economic Development Committee 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

JOHN SWEENEY, CHAIR  JOHN SWEENEY, CHAIR 

TIM NABORS, VICE CHAIR  TIM NABORS, VICE CHAIR 

ANGELA FELLARS  ANGELA FELLARS 

VALERIE HANSERD  VALERIE HANSERD 

BRAD LINDMARK  BRAD LINDMARK 

JOHN PENNEY  JOHN PENNEY 

RAY THOMPSON  RAY THOMPSON 
 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of  
 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 
 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY:  JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 

CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

It shall be the intent of the county to prepare annually a comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) to be 

presented to the board no later than 180 days after year-end. The CAFR should be audited by an independent 

CPA firm experienced in governmental auditing. It shall be the further intent of the County to present its CAFR to 

the government finance officers association to receive the certificate of excellence award in financial reporting. If 

at any time the county will not receive an unqualified opinion from the CPA firm, the CPA firm and the chief 

financial officer and finance director will notify the board prior to the issuance of the report. 

It shall be the intent of the county to maintain a capital asset ledger of all permanent assets acquired. The 

finance department will maintain these asset records on an on-going basis to ensure proper controls and report 

annually regarding these records to the board. No asset will be considered fixed unless its value or component 

value exceeds $12,000.00 or in the case of infrastructure assets purchased or acquired with an original cost of 

$50,000.00 or more. Depreciation will be charged on all capital assets. This policy is consistent with the 

requirements of GASB Statement No. 34. Depreciation will be recorded on a straight-line basis over the normal 

useful life of the asset. 

It shall be the intent of the county to manage all accounts receivable. Accounts receivable are created by 

operations in certain departments and offices. In general, they arise at the renewal of a permit or license from 

departments such as health, River Bluff Nursing Home or transportation. The department or office that is 

responsible for the billing is responsible for collections and managing the receivables. Consistent with good 

financial management, each department and office will age their receivables. Departments and offices shall 

continue collection efforts. 

It is the intent of the county to comply with the modified accrual basis of accounting, in which revenues are 

recorded when they are both measurable and available. In general, revenues are considered available if they are 

collected within 90 days of the fiscal year end except for property taxes which are 60 days and certain health 

department and county reimbursable grants for which available is defined as 180 days. 

(Ord. No. 2019-CO-003, 1-10-19; Ord. No. 2020-CO-027, 2-27-20) 

Editor's note- Ord. No. 2019-CO-003, adopted January 10, 2019, set out provisions intended for use as§ 2-37. 

Inasmuch as there were already provisions so designated, and at the editor's discretion, these provisions have 

been included as § 2-38. 

Secs. 2-39-2-45. - Reserved. 

DIVISION 2. - CHAIRMAN 

Sec. 2-46. - Creation of office. 

The county board chairman shall be elected by the voters of the county and shall serve a four-year term 

commencing on the first Monday of the month following the month of his election and continuing until his 

successor is elected and qualified. 

about:blank 12/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 7(2-168), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2019-CO-040, 4-11-19) 

Sec. 2-47. - Membership on county board. 

The county board chairman shall convene all regular and special meetings of the county board but shall not 

be a member of the county board and shall not vote on any questions before the county board except to break a 

tie. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 7(2-169), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2019-CO-040, 4-11-19) 

Sec. 2-48. - Action on ordinances and resolutions. 

Any ordinance, resolution or motion approved by the county board shall be presented to the chairman before 

it becomes effective. If the chairman approves such ordinance, resolution or motion, he shall sign it and it shall 

become law on the date prescribed. If the chairman does not approve the ordinance, resolution or motion, he 

shall return it to the board within ten business days with his objections and the board shall proceed to 

reconsider the matter at its next meeting to be held within 30 business days of the board's receipt of the 

chairman's objections. If after such reconsideration, a majority of the members of the board pass such 

ordinance, resolution or motion, it shall become effective on the date prescribed but not earlier than the date of 

passage following the reconsideration. If any ordinance, resolution or motion is not returned by the chairman to 

the board within ten business days after it had been presented to him, it shall become effective at the end of the 

tenth day. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 7(2-170), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 6-28-18; Ord. No. 2019-CO-040, 4-11-19) 

Sec. 2-49. - Duties. 

The county board chairman shall oversee development of long-range planning goals and objectives for the 

county. The county board chairman shall ensure conformance to the duties and responsibilities set forth in the 

"Counties Code" (55 ILCS 5/1-1001 et seq., 1992, as amended), he shall be responsible for the following: 

about:blank 

(a) Administrative responsibilities. 

(1) Appoint, with the advice and consent of the county board, those positions as required by the 

laws of the state. 

(2) Represent the county on all economic development opportunities. Monitor and report to the 

economic development committee chairman and the county board caucus leaders all 

economic development activities and proposed agreements or IGA's (Inter-Governmental 

Agreements) including any requested incentives at the time they are requested within seven 

business days of being first contacted by any outside entity or municipality wishing to do 

business with the county. 

(3) 

13/100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Shall represent the county at all organizations of which the county is a member; or with the assistance of the 

county administrator, or a designee assigned with the advice and consent of the county board. 

(4) Serve as the primary liaison between county elected officials and county board. 

(5) Monitor the development of annual host fee allocations to be approved by the county board. 

(6) Develop and promote the county's legislative agenda with the approval of the county board. 

(7) Assist in developing and monitoring the county's strategic plan with the advice and consent of 

the county board. 

(8) Lead communication of county initiatives and accomplishments as approved by the county 

board. 

(9) Attend staff meetings convened for the purpose to discuss issues that may require legislative 

action by the county board and report a summary of the discussion to the appropriate 

committee chair. 

(10) Assist the committee chairs in establishing committee agendas. 

(11) Establish the agenda for county board meetings, except each agenda shall include a report 

from all standing committees and the items within the committee reports shall be established 

by the committee chairs. 

(b) Reporting and communications. 

(1) Report monthly to the county board on the affairs of the county. 

(2) When advisable, in order to promote county services and operations which are in the public 

interest, recommend to the county board the adoption of ordinances and resolutions. 

(3) Any county employee, who performs duties that fall under the purview of the county board 

chairman and as outlined in section (a) above, shall report directly to the county board 

chairman, unless otherwise directed. This shall include but not be limited to the county's 

communications director and the director of chairman's office of criminal justice initiatives. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 7(2-171 ), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2003-CO-42, 5-22-03; Ord. No. 2006-CO-7, 1-12-06; Ord. No. 

2007-CO-94, § I, 12-20-07; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18; Ord. No. 2019-CO-040, 4-11-19; Ord. No. 2022-CO-059, 

8-11-22; Ord. No. 2023-CO-074, 9-28-23) 

Sec. 2-50. - Limit of authority. 

No provision of this division is intended to vest in or grant to the county board chairman any duty or any 

authority which is vested by general law or by ordinance in any other county officer, official or employee. No 

provision of this division shall be construed to delegate to the county board chairman authority to be performed 

by the county board; nor shall the county board chairman have the power to bind, obligate or commit the county 

in any manner except as provided herein or by the express grant of authority by the county board. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 7(2-173), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2019-CO-040, 4-11-19) 

Sec. 2-51. - Salary. 

about:blank 14/100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

The chairman of the county board shall be paid compensation per annum of such amount as established by 

the county board from time to time. 

(Code 1964, § 2-66; Ord. No. 2019-CO-040, 4-11-19) 

Sec. 2-52. - Presentation of budget amendments to the finance committee. 

(a) Budget amendments should be obtained before the procurement/employment processed is 

commenced. 

(b) The process for presenting such a budget amendment shall be as follows: 

(1) No later than ten business days prior to the meeting of the finance committee at which the budget 

amendment shall be considered, the department head/elected official shall submit the proposed 

budget amendment to the chief financial and budget officer (CFO). The CFO shall review the 

requested budget amendment and determine the financial impact of the budget amendment for 

accuracy to identify the source of funding for presentation to the finance committee. 

(2) The CFO will then meet with the requesting department head/elected official to discuss potential 

revisions to the budget amendment (if applicable) and associated information prior to meeting 

with the finance committee. 

(c) Line item transfers between object class level, which is the budgetary level of control over 

expenditures, may be approved by the county administrator and chief financial officer, provided the 

total amount appropriated by the county board for the respective department (org code). 

(Ord. No. 2017-CO-036, 3-9-17; Ord. No. 2018-CO-060, 6-28-18; Ord. No. 2019-CO-040, 4-11-19) 

Secs. 2-53-2-60. - Reserved. 

DIVISION 3. - RULES OF ORDER 

Sec. 2-61. - Order of agenda. 

The regular order in which business shall be considered by the county board at all regularly scheduled 

meetings of the board is as follows: 

about:blank 

(1) Call to order. 

(2) Invocation and pledge of allegiance. 

(3) Agenda announcements. 

(4) Roll call. 

(5) Awards, presentations, public hearings, and public participation. 

(6) Approval of minutes. 

15/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

(7) Consent agenda. (To include raffle report, auditor's report-approval of bills, administrator report 

-leaves of absences, and other administrative reports). 

(8) Appointments 

(9) Reports of standing committees. 

(10) Unfinished business. 

(11) New business. 

(12) Announcements and communications. 

(13) Adjournment-Next meeting. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-62. - Power of chair. 

The chairman shall preserve order and decorum and shall determine all questions of order. Rulings of the 

chair on all matters of order and decorum shall be conclusive unless appealed to the board by one member and 

seconded by another member. If the ruling of the chair is appealed and seconded, the chair shall submitthe 

ruling to a vote of the board putting the question in the affirmative. A majority vote sustains the ruling of the 

chair. The chairman shall have the authority to issue an amended agenda when he is contacted by a committee 

chairman or otherwise determines that an item on the agenda is to be laid over. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-63. - Recognition by chair. 

Each member, prior to speaking, shall be recognized by the chair. When two or more members request 

recognition, the chair shall designate the member to speak first, pursuant to the following: 

(1) Upon being recognized by the chair, the member recognized shall acknowledge the recognition by 

the chair before beginning his or her comments. 

(2) If the member who made the motion claims the floor and has not already spoken on the question, 

he/she is entitled to be recognized in preference to other members. 

(3) If the member who has seconded the motion claims the floor and has not already spoken on the 

question, he/she shall be recognized in preference to all other members except the movant. 

(4) No one is entitled to the floor a second time in debate on the same motion on the same day if any 

other member who has not spoken on the motion seeks the floor. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-64. - Actions on resolutions and ordinances. 

about:blank 16/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

(a) All resolutions and ordinances submitted by a member under new business, except actions or 

communications of courtesy, shall be referred without debate to the appropriate committee for 

consideration and recommendation. When the board is required by law or ordinance to conduct a 

hearing or to make specific findings of fact, the appropriate board committee shall, when permitted by 

law and ordered by the chairman, perform such function and thereafter promptly make a written 

report of its findings and recommendations to the board for its consideration and action. 

(b) All resolutions and ordinances shall be prepared on 8.5 x 11 paper. 

(c) After presentation to the board, each ordinance and grant application, except ordinances authorizing 

the issuance of bonds and other debt financing, shall lay over until the next regular meeting of the 

board for debate and action. This rule may be waived in the manner provided in section 2-68, except 

for those matters which are required to be laid over pursuant to state or federal law or local 

ordinances. 

(d) Prior to presentation of the annual budget to the board for layover, the draft budget shall be made 

available to the public on the county website and in the county clerk's office and a public hearing shall 

be held at a committee of the whole meeting to allow for comments by the public regarding the 

budget. Comments may be submitted in writing prior to the hearing or orally at the hearing, subject to 

the limitations set forth in section 2-85(e), except that the number of speakers will not be limited. The 

annual county budget shall lay over after the first reading for at least 15 days. 

(e) Any item to be voted on shall be sponsored by the county board chairman or a sitting county board 

member. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-65. - Limitation of debate. 

about:blank 

(a) No member shall speak a total of more than twice on the same question, unless permitted to do so by 

the chair. 

(b) No member shall speak longer than three minutes upon recognition, unless permitted to do so by the 

chair. Any member called to order shall immediately cease speaking. 

(c) Non-members may address the board if written request is submitted to the county board office by 

5:00 p.m. on the Tuesday prior to the upcoming county board meeting for which recognition is sought. 

The written request must identify the name of the speaker, specify the subject matter the speaker will 

address, and indicate the speaker's interest in the subject. This information shall be included on the 

county board agenda. Comments shall be limited to three minutes. Speakers may not address zoning 

matters which are pending before the ZBA, zoning committee or the county board. Personnel matters 

or pending or threatened litigation may not be addressed in open session. An individual may speak a 

17/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

maximum of three times per calendar year on the same topic. This prohibition shall include the repetition of the 

same topic in a statement on what is purported to be a different topic. Personal attacks or inappropriate 

language of any sort will not be tolerated. 

(d) A maximum of 21 minutes shall be allowed for non-members to speak at each meeting. If a particular 

item is deemed by the chair to be controversial, the chair shall strive to allow all sides an equal 

amount of time within which to speak at each meeting, subject to the 21 minute time limit. The chair 

shall determine the sequential order in which non-members will be allowed to address the board. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-066, 9-29-22; Ord. No. 2022-CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-66. - Motions. 

(a) No motion shall be debated or voted upon unless it shall have been previously seconded. When 

seconded and prior to debate, the motion shall be clearly stated by the chair and shall be reduced to 

writing if requested by the chair or a board member. 

(b) After a motion has been stated by the chair, it shall be deemed to be in possession by the board. 

(c) A motion to "reconsider" a question may he made only at the meeting at which the vote was taken by 

a member who voted on the prevailing side. Reconsideration requires an affirmative vote of a majority 

of the members present, regardless of the vote necessary to adopt the question reconsidered. If 

adopted, reconsideration places the original question before the board in the exact position it 

occupied before being voted upon. No question may be twice reconsidered. 

(d) A motion to recess or adjourn is not debatable and requires the approval of a majority of the 

members present for adoption. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-67. - Roll call votes. 

about:blank 

(a) All votes shall be recorded. This rule may not be suspended. A roll call vote of the members shall be 

taken on all proposed ordinances and the appropriation or allocation of funds, whether by ordinance 

or resolution. However, the chairman may inquire whether any member opposes the question. If no 

more than two members indicate their opposition, the chairman may order the clerk to note for the 

record the names of the members in opposition and to enter the approval of all the other board 

members present on the record. 

(b) Any member on any question may call for a roll call vote. 

(c) Roll call votes shall be called in progressive alphabetical order. Each roll call vote shall commence with 

the second name called on the previous roll call vote. 

18/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-68. - Suspension of rules of order or procedure. 

(a) Any rule of order or procedure, unless otherwise specified by the rules or required by statute, may be 

temporarily suspended at any meeting of the board by an affirmative vote of three-fifths of the 

members present. 

(b) Zoning matters coming before the board from the zoning committee for vote must lay over to the next 

board meeting after they are introduced before being voted on, and this rule may not be suspended 

to provide for a vote of the board at the same meeting in which the zoning matter is introduced by the 

zoning committee unless by unanimous vote of all board members present to so suspend this rule. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-69. - Quorum; majority vote. 

A majority of the members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business; and all questions which 

shall arise at a meeting shall be determined by the votes of the majority of the members present and voting, 

except as otherwise provided by law or ordinance. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-70. -Abstention. 

(a) Each member present shall vote on each question put to a vote, unless excused from such vote as 

provided herein. 

(b) The chairman shall not vote except to break a tie. 

(c) Members shall be excused from a vote due to a conflict of interest as defined in 50 ILCS 105/3 et seq. 

A conflict of interest to require abstention must involve a direct personal or financial interest in the 

issue being voted upon. A member shall state their desire to abstain prior to the final vote being 

taken. 

(d) The chairman, after consultation with the board's legal counsel, shall have the power to excuse a 

member from voting for a conflict of interest even though not prohibited by 50 ILCS 105/3 et seq. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-71. - Robert's Rules of Order to govern. 

about:blank 19/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Parliamentary rules contained in the current edition of "Robert's Rules of Order," newly revised, shall govern 

the county board and its committees in all cases applicable, except where such rules are inconsistent with these 

rules of order or procedure, Illinois law, or other specific county ordinance. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-72. - Awards, proclamations and presentations. 

(a) Awards or proclamations. All proclamations or awards shall be presented by the chairman, or his or 

her designee. At the chairman's discretion, the presentation shall take place at the county board office 

or at the recipient's location. The presentation will be documented and recorded by the county's 

communication director, the chairman's assistant, or designee. This subsection shall not apply to 

proclamations or awards that are related to first responders, military and law enforcement, for 

actions, services, or in memorialization of individuals, or certain events, or for recognition of county 

youth or school groups for scholastic and/or sports related outstanding achievements. 

(b) Presentations. All presentations to county board members during a county board meeting shall be 

permitted at the discretion of the chairman and be limited to units of government, which includes all 

county departments and limited to one presentation at each meeting. All other presentations shall be 

permitted at the discretion of the party caucus chairs at a time and place determined by the party 

caucus chairs. 

(Ord. No. 2022-CO-066, 9-29-22; Ord. No. 2022-CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Secs. 2-73-2-80. - Reserved. 

DIVISION 4. - RULES OF PROCEDURE 

Sec. 2-81. - Presiding officer. 

The county board chairman shall act as the presiding officer at county board meetings. If the chairman is 

unable to attend a regular or special meeting of the county board, the majority caucus leader shall act as the 

presiding officer in his or her absence. If the majority caucus leader is unable to attend the meeting, the minority 

caucus leader shall act as the presiding officer. If both caucus leaders are unable to attend the meeting, the 

county clerk shall convene the meeting, and the county board shall choose a member by majority vote to preside 

as chairman pro tern. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-067, 9-29-22; Ord. No. 2022-CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-82. - Amendment of rules of order and procedure. 

about:blank 20/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

At the first meeting of the board held in the month of December in the even-numbered years, the board may 

adopt, amend, or rescind the rules of order and procedure or the organizational structure of the county board. 

The rules of order and rules of procedure or the organizational structure of the county board may be amended 

at any regular meeting of the county board by the affirmative vote of three-fifths of the members present. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-83. - Selection of committee chairmen and members. 

(a) The following shall be the standing committees of the county board: 

(1) Finance committee. 

(2) Public safety and judiciary committee. 

(3) Public works committee. 

(4) Zoning committee. 

(5) Economic development committee. 

(6) Operations and administrative committee. 

(7) Legislative and lobbying committee. 

(b) The caucus chairmen of the majority and minority parties of the newly elected county board shall 

recommend to the county board for its advice and consent, the appointment of the chairman, and 

members of all standing committees at the first meeting of the board held in the month of December, 

of each even numbered year. 

(c) Where possible, each committee shall reflect a cross section of the board. 

(d) Vice-chairmen of all standing committees shall be established by the committee chairman. Each vice

chairman shall represent an alternative party to the committee chairman. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-84. - Committees called by the chair. 

(a) The chairman of the county board shall appoint such committees called by the chair as may be 

necessary. 

(b) Committees called by the chair shall report to the county board as necessary. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-85. - Responsibilities of committee chairmen and vice-chairmen. 

about:blank 21/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

about:blank 

(a) The committee chairman shall submit an agenda at the time of public notice; items on the agenda 

may be acted upon at the discretion of the committee. The agenda for legislative and lobbying 

committee shall be established by the committee chairman and the county board chairman. 

(b) Meetings shall be called by the chairman and shall be scheduled during non-county board meeting 

weeks, except for the zoning committee and if a meeting is required to address an emergency. The 

county board office shall, by no later than 9:00 a.m. on the Friday preceding a committee meeting, 

submit items for the committee agenda. The committee chairman shall amend the proposed agenda 

as necessary and return a final approved version to the county board office by no later than noon of 

that day. 

(c) The text of any resolution, ordinance or budget amendment, along with a red lined copy of any 

changes to existing legislation, agreements or documents, if applicable, along with a summary 

explaining the purpose for the resolution or ordinance, must be posted on the county website and 

distributed to the members of the committee by 5:00 p.m. on the Friday of the week prior to the 

committee meeting. 

(d) The chairman may, on his own motion, lay over any matter before the committee to the next meeting 

of the committee. 

(e) Members of the public who wish to address a committee shall sign up on a sheet provided at the 

committee meeting. The speaker shall provide his or her name and the subject to be discussed before 

the committee. A maximum of five speakers shall be permitted to address the committee on a first 

come basis. Comments shall be limited to three minutes. Speakers may not address zoning matters 

which are pending before the ZBA, zoning committee or the county board. Personnel matters or 

pending or threatened litigation may not be addressed in open session. An individual may speak a 

maximum of three times per calendar year on the same topic. This prohibition shall include the 

repetition of the same topic in a statement on what is purported to be a different topic. Personal 

attacks or inappropriate language of any sort will not be tolerated. 

(f) Matters before a committee shall be presented by the sponsoring board member. The sponsoring 

board member or committee chairman may request input from non-board members in response to 

questions posed on the proposed matter by board members. Board members who are not committee 

members may be permitted to ask questions regarding a matter before the committee after all 

committee members have had an opportunity to speak and with the consent of the committee 

members. 

(g) Each committee shall make a report to the county board of any matters voted on by the committee. 

The committee report shall be presented to the county board by the chairman or vice-chairman of the 

committee, or by any other member of the committee designated by the chairman. If a committee 

report recommends that the county board adopt or pass an ordinance, resolution or other matter, 

that ordinance, resolution or other matter may be taken up and acted upon after its presentation, 

subject to deferral by appropriate action. All zoning petitions from the zoning committee shall be 

taken up and acted upon, even if the committee did not recommend adoption or approval. For all 

22/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

other matters, if a committee report recommends that the county board not adopt or pass an ordinance, 

resolution or other matter, then at the time such report is presented, or at the next meeting if the county board 

has deferred action on such report, such ordinance, resolution or other matter shall be automatically tabled and 

may not be further considered, unless a member of the county board moves to disapprove the committee 

report and such motion is adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the county board members present. If 

the motion to disapprove receives a majority vote, the ordinance, resolution or other matter shall be before the 

county board. 

(h) The committee chairman shall appoint such sub-committees and sub-committee chairman as may be 

necessary to carry out the work assigned to or undertaken by the committee. 

(i) The committee vice-chairman shall assume all responsibilities of the committee chairman in the event 

of the absence or inability to act of the committee chairman. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-86. - Record keeping and communications. 

about:blank 

(a) Ordinances and resolutions adopted by the county board shall be numbered consecutively by the 

clerk of the board in the order of their passage. Each document number shall be made up of a prefix 

containing the last two digits of the year of its adoption (e.g., 12 to represent 2012) followed by a two

letter code designating the type of action (e.g. CR to represent County Resolution, and CO to represent 

County Ordinance) followed by the consecutive numbers assigned by the clerk (e.g., 01, 02, 03, etc.). 

(b) The clerk of the board shall deliver to the county auditor, county clerk, county treasurer, and county 

board chairman's office certified copies of all documents adopted by the board which affect the 

appropriation, levy, or expenditure of any county funds. When directed by the county board or its 

chairman, the clerk of the board shall also distribute to the designated persons or entities certified 

copies of any other document reflecting actions of the board. 

(c) All letters, petitions, and correspondence addressed or directed to the county board or its chairman or 

which relate to the business of the county board received by the county clerk as clerk of the board, 

shall be immediately delivered by said clerk to the office of the chairman. The chairman at the next 

regular board meeting shall report the receipt of such materials to members under "announcements 

and communications" and may read such material to the board. Correspondence should be available 

in the county board office for at least 30 days. Urgent matters shall be delivered by the chairman 

forth-with to the appropriate committee, and the chairman shall advise the board members of such 

referral at the next regular board meeting. 

(d) The chairman of the board shall prepare and mail to the members and principal members of the news 

media, an agenda for each county board meeting. The agenda shall be placed in the mail by 3:00 p.m. 

the Friday prior to the next board meeting. The chairman prior to the call of the roll shall announce all 

changes in the agenda. 

23/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-87. - Appointments to fill vacancies of elected positions. 

In case of death, resignation, or legal inability to hold elective office, the county board chairman, with advice 

and consent of the county board, shall select a person qualified under state statute to serve as the interim as 

provided by law. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-

CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-88. - Appointments to commissions, boards, authorities, or special districts. 

(a) The board chairman shall make all appointments to commissions, boards, authorities, or special 

districts with the advice and consent of the county board, or as otherwise provided by law. 

(b) The board chairman shall submit to the members a listing of the recommended appointees on the 

agenda of a regular board meeting for the advice and consent of the board. All appointments shall lay 

over until the second board meeting after they are first introduced. 

(c) The chairman shall present a list of all county board appointees serving on commissions, boards, 

authorities, or special districts to board members within 30 days after the beginning of each board 

term. This list shall indicate the month and year of appointment, term of office, and compensation. 

(d) Appointments to fill vacancies on commissions, boards, authorities, or special districts shall be filled in 

the same manner as provided above and shall be for the balance of the unexpired term. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2017-CO-035, 3-9-17; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, 

Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22; Ord. No. 2024-CO-040, 6-27-24) 

Sec. 2-89. - Appointment of department heads. 

Appointments or re-appointments of department heads shall be made according to the County Code of 

Ordinances or as required by state statute. Any position not specifically mentioned in the county code of 

ordinances or in state statute shall be appointed or re-appointed upon recommendation of the county 

administrator with the advice and consent of the county board. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2018-036, 12-4-18; Ord. No. 2019-CO-075, 8-22-19; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, 

Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

Sec. 2-90. - Closed sessions. 

Closed sessions may be held in accordance with "The Open Meetings Act," 5 ILCS 120/1 et seq. 

(Res. No. 96-CR-253, 12-2-96; Ord. No. 2020-CO-085, Exh. A, 12-7-20; Ord. No. 2022-CO-098, Exh. A, 12-8-22) 

about:blank 24/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Sec. 2-91. - Attendance by other means (video or audio conference). 

(a) In accordance with the Illinois Open Meetings Act (5 ILCS 120/1 et. seq.), a county board member may 

attend regular or special meetings for all public bodies of the county board by other means (video or 

audio conference) if the member is prevented from physically attending because of: 

(1) Personal illness or disability; 

(2) Employment purposes or the business of the public body; or 

(3) A family or other emergency. 

(b) A member wishing to attend a regular or special meeting by other means must notify the clerk of the 

county board and county board office at least seven days before the meeting, unless advance notice is 

impractical. 

(c) After a roll call vote establishing that a quorum is physically present, any member physically present 

may make a motion to permit another member to participate by other means. Such motion shall 

include the reason for the absence. 

(d) All members physically present are permitted to vote on whether such participation will be allowed 

and the motion must be approved by a vote of a majority of those members physically present. 

(e) A member attending by other means shall be considered present at the meeting and entitled to 

discuss and vote on any matter before the public body, as if the member were physically present at 

the meeting. The meeting minutes shall reflect if a member is attending by other means. 

(f) A member shall maintain proper decorum as if the member were physically present at the meeting 

and comply with all county board rules and procedures previously adopted and adhered to. 

(g) The member attending by other means and all members physically present must be able to 

communicate effectively, and members of the public must be able to hear all discussion, testimony 

and votes. 

(h) The chairman may terminate attendance by other means in the event conditions of (f) and (g) are not 

met. 

(i) No more than two members may attend a meeting by other means without being physically present at 

the meeting location. Attendance by other means shall be limited to four times in a calendar year. 

However, committee chairpersons shall have discretion to permit attendance by other means in 

excess of four meetings. 

U) Attendance by other means by any member is prohibited for closed sessions. 

(Ord. No. 2022-CO-102, 12-22-22) 

Sec. 2-92. - Seating positions for county board meetings. 

The caucus leader of the majority party shall establish the seating positions of board members for county 

board meetings. 

about:blank 25/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

(Ord. No. 2022-CO-102, 12-22-22) 

Secs. 2-93-2-11 0. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE Ill. - OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES 

DIVISION 1. - GENERALLY 

Sec. 2-111. -Administrator of River Bluff Nursing Home; appointment; qualifications, appointment of employees. 

(a) Appointment. The administrator of the River Bluff Nursing Home shall be appointed by the county 

board chairman with the advice and consent of the county board and shall serve at the pleasure of the 

county board chairman. 

(b) Qualifications. The administrator of the River Bluff Nursing Home must possess the requisite 

qualifications necessary to become licensed under the Nursing Home Administrators Licensing And 

Disciplinary Act (225 ILCS 70/1 et seq.) and have at least three years of progressively responsible 

experience in the administration of a longterm nursing care facility with at least one year of 

supervisory experience, including the preparation of a budget. 

(c) Appointment of employees. The administrator may appoint such number of employees as shall be 

necessary and authorized by the county board. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 5(2-19.1), 11-24-92) 

Sec. 2-112. - Project director; duties and responsibilities; dismissal. 

(a) Creation. The position of project director has been created and is a temporary full time position lasting 

for the duration of the construction of the Winnebago County Justice Center. 

(b) Duties and responsibilities: Oversee the Winnebago County Justice Center Project, including, but not 

limited to, land acquisition and relocation, building construction, and the physical transition. 

(c) Dismissal. Prior to the conclusion of the construction of the Winnebago County Justice Center, the 

project director may be dismissed by a two-thirds vote of the county board for misfeasance, 

malfeasance, or nonfeasance in the performance of the duties of the office. The reasons for the 

dismissal shall be specified in writing. The project director may, within 21 days after receipt of the 

statement of reasons for dismissal, request a hearing before the county board. The county board shall 

conduct a hearing within 30 days of a timely request, and may reverse the dismissal by a vote of a 

majority of the members present. 

(Ord. No. 2003-CO-41, 5-22-03) 

Secs. 2-113-2-120. - Reserved . 

about:blank 26/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

DIVISION 2. -ADMINISTRATOR 

Sec. 2-121. - Establishment. 

The office of county administrator is hereby established. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 8(2-184), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2017-CO-067, 6-22-17) 

Sec. 2-122. - Qualifications. 

The county administrator shall have a bachelor's degree in accounting, finance, public administration, 

business administration or a similar degree and/or comparable experience and a minimum of five years of 

supervisory and administrative experience, including employment relations. A county administrator who meets 

the above criteria may be exempt from the residency requirement set forth in section 62-5 of the County Code of 

Ordinances. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 8(2-185), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2017-CO-067, 6-22-17; Ord. No. 2017-CO-110, 11-21-17) 

Sec. 2-123. -Appointment/dismissal. 

The county administrator shall be appointed, disciplined or dismissed by the county board upon 

recommendation of the personnel and policies committee. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 8(2-186), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2017-CO-067, 6-22-17; Ord. No. 2019-CO-072, 8-8-19) 

Sec. 2-124. - Duties. 

The county administrator shall serve as a member of the county's leadership team and advise on a wide range 

of issues, including but not limited to strategy, policy, planning and provide communications. 

about:blank 

(a) The county administrator shall be subject to the direction and control of the county board and 

shall supervise the administration of the following: 

(1) Purchasing; 

(2) Buildings and maintenance; 

(3) Functions of the supervisor of assessments; 

(4) Animal services; 

(5) Information technology; 

(6) Community development; 

(7) River Bluff Nursing Home; 

(8) County board office; 

(9) Veterans Memorial Hall; 

27/100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

(10) Risk management program; 

(11) Chief financial officer. Budget and finance, under the direct supervision of the administrator; 

and 

(12) Human resources. 

(b) The county administrator shall have the authority to appoint an appropriate designee to assist in 

the supervision of the above departments. 

(c) The county administrator, or his or her designee, shall evaluate the performance of the directors 

and/or coordinators of the departments listed in subsection (a)(9) above. 

(d) The county administrator shall be responsible for managing operational budgets to achieve 

organizational strategic goals for the departments listed in subsection (a) above. 

(e) The county administrator shall: 

(1) Maintain regular communication with all elected county officials as designated by the county 

board chairman. 

(2) Notify the county board chairman of staff meetings convened for the purpose to discuss issues 

that may require legislative action by the county board. 

(3) Assist the county board chairman and committee chairs in preparation of committee agendas, 

ordinances, resolutions and other business. 

(4) Establish standard operational procedures or administrative policies. 

(5) Serve as liaison to county board committees as assigned by the county board chairman. 

(f) Negotiate and enforce any collective bargaining agreements between the county and any 

employees governed by the state public employees labor relations act. 

(g) Assist the county board chairman in negotiating leases, contracts, and other agreements for goods 

or services, subject to the approval of the board; 

(h) Assist the county board to develop, install and maintain a centralized system for purchasing goods 

and services on behalf of county departments and functions; and 

(i) Perform other duties assigned by the county board. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 8(2-187), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2007-CO-94, § II, 12-20-07; Ord. No. 2017-CO-067, 6-22-17; Ord. 

No. 2017-CO-110, 11-21-17; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18; Ord. No. 2019-CO-005, 1-24-19; Ord. No. 2022-CO-

059, 8-11-22; Ord. No. 2024-CO-050, 8-22-24) 

Secs. 2-125-2-135. - Reserved. 

DIVISION 3. - SUPERVISOR OF ASSESSMENTS 

about:blank 

Footnotes: 

--- (2) ---

Cross reference- Taxation generally, ch. 78. 

28/100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Sec. 2-136. - Office established. 

The county does hereby establish the office of supervisor of assessments for the county. 

(Code 1964, § 2-38) 

State Law reference- Appointment, 35 ILCS 205/2. 

Secs. 2-137-2-144. - Reserved. 

DIVISION 4. - CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

Footnotes: 

--- (3) ---

Editor's note- Ord. No. 2017-CO-068, adopted June 22, 2017, set out provisions intended for use as 4-121-4-124. In order to 

maintain the established numbering system, and at the editor's discretion, said provisions have been redesignated as§§ 2-145--

2-148. 

Sec. 2-145. - Establishment. 

The office of chief financial officer is hereby established . 

(Ord. No. 2017-CO-068, 6-22-17) 

Sec. 2-146. - Qualifications. 

The chief financial officer shall have, at a minimum, a bachelor's degree in accounting, finance, public 

administration or business administration and/or comparable experience and a minimum of ten years of 

increasingly responsible experience in executive-level financial administration, ideally with a portion of that 

experience in the public sector. A CPA and/or master's degree in public policy, public administration, finance or 

business administration is preferable. A chief financial officer who meets the above criteria may be from the 

residency requirement set forth in section 62-5 of the County Code of Ordinances. 

(Ord. No. 2017-CO-068, 6-22-17; Ord. No. 2017-CO-110, 11-21-17; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-147. - Appointment/dismissal. 

The chief financial officer shall be appointed by the county administrator, with the advice and consent of the 

county board and shall serve at the pleasure of the county administrator. The chief financial officer shall report 

to and be under the supervision of the county administrator. 

(Ord. No. 2017-CO-068, 6-22-17; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-084, 11-24-20) 

about:blank 29/100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Sec. 2-148. - Duties. 

(a) The chief financial officer shall be subject to the direction and control of the county administrator and 

supervise the administration of the following: 

(1) Finance department, including but not limited to functions of accounting, accounts payable and 

payroll. 

(2) Internal services department fund, internal technology fund, and county health insurance fund. 

a. The chief financial officer shall supervise and evaluate the performance of the directors and/or 

coordinators of the departments listed in subsection (a) above. 

b. The chief financial officer shall serve as the staff liaison to the county's finance committee and 

maintain regular communications with all elected county officials as designated by the county 

administrator. 

c. The chief financial officer shall: 

(1) Assist the county administrator in preparing the annual budget for submission to the 

county board, including developing a county-wide budget planning process. 

(2) Assist the county administrator in the review and preparation of long range financial 

planning including capital improvement programs, budgets and projected financial trends. 

(3) Prepare or cause to be prepared, any and all documents necessary for the county to enter 

into the lending market and administrate ongoing debt management. 

(4) Establish effective internal controls throughout the county. 

(5) Monitor the financial activities of the tort fund, including the related tax levy. 

(6) Serve as the internal point-person for the annual external audit. 

(7) Oversee tax filings to be submitted on behalf of the county. 

(8) Assist the county administrator in developing a long-term capital plan for submission to 

the county board. 

(9) Assist the county administrator in the preparation of county board agendas, ordinances, 

resolutions, and other business. 

(10) Establish standard operating procedures, work rules, and administrative policies for the 

finance department. 

(11) Grant administration, including, but not limited to, serving as the Grant Accountability and 

Transparency Act (GATA) officer and the System for Award Management (SAMS) 

administrator. 

(12) Other duties as assigned by the county administrator. 

(Ord. No. 2017-CO-068, 6-22-17; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18; Ord. No. 2020-CO-084, 11-24-20) 

DIVISION 5. - OPERATIONS OFFICER 

about:blank 30/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Sec. 2-149. - Establishment. 

The office of operations officer is hereby established. 

(Ord. No. 2018-CO-061, 6-28-18; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-150. - Qualifications. 

The operations officer shall have, at a minimum, a bachelor's degree from an accredited college or university 

in public administration, public policy, business administration, political science or related field and five years of 

progressive experience in a leadership role, with public sector experience preferred. An operations officer who 

meets the above criteria may be exempted from the residency requirement set forth in section 62-5 of the 

County Code of Ordinances. 

(Ord. No. 2018-CO-061, 6-28-18; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-151. -Appointment/dismissal. 

The operations officer shall be recommended, and appointed or dismissed, by the county administrator with 

the approval of the county board chairman. 

(Ord. No. 2018-CO-061, 6-28-18; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-152. - Duties. 

Under the supervision of the county administrator, the operations officer will perform the following duties: 

about:blank 

(a) Provide assistance to the county administrator with a variety of administrative, fiscal, policy, and 

operational matters; oversees special projects; performs research; prepares reports and presents 

to the county board as needed; compiles and analyzes administrative and fiscal data; monitors 

programs and daily department operations as assigned by the county administrator. 

(b) Responsible for facilities management and planning for the entire county and oversees the 

building maintenance department; 

(c) Advises the county administrator on a variety of county issues as assigned; makes 

recommendations regarding policy changes; researches issues, complaints, and problems; 

provides recommendations regarding solutions and courses of action; implements determined 

course of action. 

(d) Provides county administrator and department heads with technical information, status reports, 

and policy recommendations related to programs and operations. 

(e) Oversees county departments as assigned by the county administrator. 

(f} 

31/100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Provides planning, coordination, implementation and administration of assigned programs and special projects; 

analyzes, researches, and monitors performance; implements improvements and prepares reports of findings. 

(g) Assists the county administrator with developing policy and strategy related to the county's risk 

management program and self-funded insurance programs; assists in the development and 

implementation of policies and guidelines to protect the county and its property from loss, 

damage, liability, and other risks; investigates claims and directly participates in the resolution of 

claims against the county. 

(h) Communicates and interfaces with a variety of groups and individuals including the department 

heads, county employees, service providers, state agencies, regulatory agencies, media and the 

general public to coordinate work activities, resolve problems, and exchange information; 

represents county administration at department, committee, external agency or service partner 

meetings as assigned. 

(i) Support efforts to continually improve business practices and processes to efficiently utilize 

county-wide resources; articulate changes in organizational and business priorities to staff in ways 

which encourages action and support. 

U) Assists the county administrator with the development, implementation and monitoring of county 

strategic goals, objectives, and priorities. 

(k) Serves as the Meaningful Access Coordinator for the County, designated to promote equal access 

and full participation under Title VI Civil Rights and Title II Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) for 

the county. 

(I) Assists the county administrator in the development, management and implementation of the 

capital improvement plan. 

(m) May perform functions of the county administrator in absence of same. 

(n) Other duties as assigned by the county administrator. 

(Ord. No. 2018-CO-061, 6-28-18; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

DIVISION 6. - CHIEF STRATEGIC INITIATIVES OFFICER 

Sec. 2-153. - Establishment. 

The office of chief strategic initiatives officer is hereby established . 

(Ord. No. 2018-CO-062, 6-28-18; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-154. - Qualifications. 

The chief strategic initiatives officer shall have, at a minimum, a bachelor's degree from an accredited college 

or university in public administration, business administration, or related field and ten years of progressive 

experience in a leadership role, with public sector experience preferred. A chief strategic initiatives officer who 

about:blank 32/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

meets the above criteria may be exempted from the residency requirement set forth in section ·62-5 of the 

County Code of Ordinances. 

(Ord. No. 2018-CO-062, 6-28-18; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-155. - Appointment/dismissal and duties. 

The chief strategic initiatives officer shall be recommended, and appointed or dismissed, by the county 

administrator with the approval of the county board cha irman. 

Under the supervision of the county administrator, the chief strategic initiatives officer will perform the 

following duties: 

about:blank 

(a) Coordinates the board office strategic planning and reporting process. 

(1) Supports the connectivity between strategic and operational planning. 

(2) Facilitates monitoring reports to publicly demonstrate operational progress toward achieving 

the strategic priorities. 

(3) Prepares, with input from department heads, quarterly transparency reports that are aligned 

to the strategic and operational plans. 

(b) Implements internal and external communication strategies to engage with stakeholders to 

ensure public access to information, as well as to enhance knowledge of and support for the 

county. 

(1) Develops and promotes the county's brand as in appearance and perception. 

(2) Serves as the Administration's Freedom of Information Act Officer (FOIA), responsible for 

coordinating the Administration's central FOIA record, ensuring timely responses, and 

providing support for escalated requests as necessary. 

(3) Serves as the administration's public information officer as part of the regional Winnebago 

County Public Information Officer's all-hazards emergency response partners committee; 

responsible for providing a coordinated and standardized communications response in case of 

large-scal'e disaster. 

(c) Maintains a comprehensive policy management process to ensure policy maintenance, 

stakeholder access, and consistency. 

(d) Collaboratively develops, assesses, and leads strategic initiatives at all levels of the organization to 

ensure alignment with organizational standards and objectives. 

(1) Includes special project management as directed by the county administrator; may be short

or long-term in nature, requiring ongoing collaboration with applicable department head. 

(2) Promotes decision-making to support cultural development, employee engagement, and long

term organizational sustainability. 

(e) Coordinates the county's engagement in legislative affairs directly affecting the county. 

(1 ) 

33/100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Monitors and swiftly responds to legislative activity to support or oppose legislation relative to the county's 

legislative agenda. 

(2) Works collaboratively with staff and elected officials to articulate the impact of legislative 

mandates and/or administrative rules on the county. 

(f) Other duties as assigned or required by the county administrator. 

(Ord. No. 2018-CO-062, 6-28-18; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Secs. 2-155.1-2-155.5. - Reserved . 

DIVISION 7. - CHIEF HUMAN RESOURCES OFFICER 

Sec. 2-155.6. - Establishment. 

The office of chief human resources officer is hereby established . 

(Ord. No. 2019-CO-073, 8-8-19) 

Sec. 2-155.7. - Qualifications. 

The chief human resources officer shall have, at a minimum, a bachelor's degree with ten to 12 years of 

progressive HR management experience, including leading an HR division or department within the public sector 

(preferably a county) or a combination of higher level private sector HR leadership and higher education or 

manager experience within a public sector environment. Preferred Master's degree in Human Resources 

Management or a similar master's degree program and HR certification through SHRM or IPMA-HR. A chief 

human resources officer who meets the above criteria may be exempt from the residency requirement set forth 

in section 62-5 of the County Code of Ordinances. 

(Ord. No. 2019-CO-073, 8-8-19) 

Sec. 2-155.8. - Appointment/dismissal. 

The chief human resources officer shall be recommended by the county administrator, and appointed or 

dismissed by the county administrator with the advice and consent of the county board. 

(Ord. No. 2019-CO-073, 8-8-19) 

Sec. 2-155.9 - Duties. 

Under the supervision of the county administrator, the chief human resources officer will perform the 

following duties: 

(a) Serve as a strategic partner to the county administrator to optimize human capital resources. 

about:blank 34/100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

(b) Oversees the annual review for improvement of the county's policies, procedures and practices on 

personnel matters. 

(c) Maintains knowledge of industry trends and employment legislation to ensure compliance. 

(d) Maintains responsibility for the county's compliance with federal, state, and local legislation 

pertaining to all personnel matters. 

(e) Communicate changes in the county's personnel policies and procedures, and ensures that proper 

compliance is followed. 

(f) Assists the county administrator with developing policy and strategy related to the county's risk 

management program and self-funded insurance programs; assists in the development and 

implementation of policies and guidelines to protect the county and its property from loss, 

damage, liability, and other risks; investigates claims and directly participates in the resolution of 

claims against the county. 

(g) Assists the county administrator in developing employee benefit programs and oversee 

implementation and administration. 

(h) Assists the county administrator with developing effective employee recruitment and retention 

programs. Responsible for developing reporting metrics to assess the success of these programs. 

(i) Assist the county administrator in the annual review, preparation, and administration of the 

county's wage and salary program. 

U) Develop and oversee job description development. Ensures job descriptions are compliant with 

state and federal regulations. 

(k) Recommend and evaluate staff development for the county. 

(I) Responsible for managing OSHA training and compliance throughout the county. Develop and 

maintain a system for the human resources department to track, audit, provide support and 

identify what training should be completed by county departments. 

(m) Serves as the meaningful access coordinator for the county, designated to promote equal access 

and full participation under Title VI Civil Rights and Title II Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) for 

the county. 

(n) Oversee administration of collective bargaining agreements between the county and bargaining 

units of employees under the employment jurisdiction of the county board and participate in and 

advise the county administrator in negotiations of collective bargaining agreements. 

(o) May perform functions of the county administrator in absence of same. 

(p) Participate on committees and special projects and seeks additional responsibilities. 

The CHRO will develop and implement a county wide performance management system. The system should 

ensure that following key areas are included: performance planning; ongoing employee feedback; employee 

input; employee evaluation and employee performance review. 

(Ord. No. 2019-CO-073, 8-8-19) 

about:blank 35/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM 

DIVISION 8. - CHIEF INFORMATION OFFICER 

Footnotes: 

--- (4) ---

Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Editor's note- Ord. No. 2017-CO-100, adopted October 26, 2017, set out provisions intended for use as Division 5, §§ 2-156-2-

159. Inasmuch as there were already provisions so designated, and at the discretion of the editor, the provisions have been 

redesignated as Division 8, §§ 2-155. 10-2-155. 13. 

Sec. 2-155.10. - Establishment. 

The office of chief information officer is hereby established. 

(Ord. No. 2017-CO-100, 10-26-17) 

Sec. 2-155.11. - Qualifications. 

The chief information officer shall have, at a minimum, a bachelor's degree in computer science or related 

field and/or comparable experience and a minimum of ten years of progressive information technology 

management experience, ideally with a portion of that experience in the public sector. A master's degree in 

computer science or related field is preferable. 

(Ord. No. 2017-CO-100, 10-26-17) 

Sec. 2-155.12. - Appointment/dismissal. 

The chief information officer shall be appointed or dismissed by the county board chairman with the advice 

and consent of the county board. 

(Ord. No. 2017-CO-100, 10-26-17) 

Sec. 2-155.13. - Duties. 

(a) The chief information officer shall serve as a member of the county board chairman's leadership team 

and advise on a wide-range of issues, including, but not limited to, strategy, policy, planning, and 

communications. 

about:blank 

(b) The chief information officer shall be subject to the direction and control of the county board 

chairman and shall supervise the administration of the information technology department. 

(c) The chief information officer shall supervise and evaluate the performance of the employees of the 

information technology department. 

(d) The chief information officer shall: 

(1) Recommend overall strategy with regard to the planning, use and coordination of information 

processing technology and services, including the evaluation of current and proposed systems; 

36/100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

(2) Negotiate, subject to county board approval, and administer contracts for hardware and software 

acquisition, implementation and maintenance; 

(3) Handle PC support and applications development; 

(4) Prepare periodic and routine reports on operating performance, equipment and application 

utilization, level of efficiency and standards of service; 

(5) Supervise technical support staff in maintaining efficient operation of the county's information 

systems; 

(6) Establish standard operating procedures, work rules, and administrative policies for the 

information technology department; and 

(7) Perform such other information technology related duties as assigned by the county board 

chairman. 

(Ord. No. 2017-CO-100, 10-26-17) 

ARTICLE IV. - DEPARTMENTS 

DIVISION 1. - FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

Sec. 2-156. - Established. 

A finance department is hereby established under the supervision of the chief financial officer and the county 

board chairman. 

(Ord. No. 2006-CO-4, 1-12-06; Ord. No. 2017-CO-11 0, 11-21-17) 

Sec. 2-157. - Responsibilities. 

The finance department shall be responsible for the following: 

(1) Be the general accountant of the county and keep its general accounts including payroll 

processing and accounts payable. 

(2) Devise and install a system of financial records in the offices and divisions of the county, to be 

followed in such offices and divisions. 

(3) Prepare and coordinate with other offices the necessary audit work papers for completion of the 

outside audits and the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 

(4) Assessment and implementation of necessary internal controls and accounting functions for 

county departments. 

(5) Other necessary accounting and financial functions as required. 

(Ord. No. 2006-CO-4, 1-12-06) 

about:blank 37/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Sec. 2-158. - Director. 

The person in charge of the finance department shall be known as the finance director. The finance director 

shall be recommended, and appointed or dismissed, by the county administrator with the approval of the county 

board chairman. 

(Ord. No. 2006-CO-4, 1-12-06; Ord. No. 2017-CO-110, 11-21-17; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-159. - Organization. 

The finance director shall appoint such number of employees as shall be necessary and authorized by the 

county board. 

(Ord. No. 2006-CO-4, 1-12-06; Ord. No. 2017-CO-110, 11-21-17) 

Secs. 2-160-2-165. - Reserved. 

DIVISION 2. - HUMAN RESOURCES DEPARTMENT 

Footnotes: 

--- (5) ---

Cross reference- County personnel regulations, ch. 62. 

Sec. 2-166. - Establishment. 

A human resources department is hereby established . 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 10(13-2(a)), 11-24-92) 

Sec. 2-167. - Responsibilities. 

The human resources department shall be responsible for the following: 

(1) Administering all collective bargaining agreements between the county and bargaining units of 

employees under the employment jurisdiction of the county board. 

(2) Administering the personnel code as it applies to employees under the employment jurisdiction of 

the county board. 

about:blank 

(3) Administering the health and dental insurance program that is available to the employees. 

(4) Ensuring compliance by the county with all state and federal regulations with respect to employee 

benefits including, but not limited to, ERISA (Employee Retirement Income Security Act) as 

amended by COBRA (Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reduction Act). 

(5) 

38/100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Administering any and all federal and state laws related to fair and equitable hiring and employment practices 

with respect to employees under the employment jurisdiction of the county board, including, but not limited to, 

the Illinois Human Rights Act (775 ILCS 5/1-101 et seq.), Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act 

of 1991 and the Americans With Disabilities Act. 

(6) Administering the safety and liability risk management program for employees under the 

employment jurisdiction of the county board. 

(7) Assisting the county government elected office holders and chief judge of the 17th Judicial Circuit 

with respect to subsections (1) through (6) of this section when requested. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 10(13-2(b)}, 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-168. - Director. 

The human resources director shall be recommended, appointed, disciplined or dismissed by the chief of 

human resources or the county administrator with the approval of the county board. In the absence of an 

administrator and chief human resources officer, the human resources director shall be recommended, 

appointed, disciplined or dismissed by a majority vote of the county board. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 10(13-2(a), (c)), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2017-CO-110, 11-21-17; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18; 

Ord. No. 2019-CO-076, 8-22-19) 

Sec. 2-169. - Organization. 

The director of human resources shall appoint such number of employees as shall be necessary and as 

authorized by the county board. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 10(13-2(d)}, 11-24-92) 

DIVISION 2.1. - HUMAN SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

Sec. 2-170. - Establishment. 

A human services department is hereby established under the supervision of the chief financial officer and 

the county board chairman. 

(Ord. No. 2007-CO-94, § Ill. 12-20-07; Ord. No. 2017-CO-110, 11-21-17) 

Sec. 2-171. - Responsibilities. 

The human services department shall be responsible for the following: 

about:blank 

(1) Supervise the administrator of River Bluff Nursing Home and the director of human resources . 

(2) 

39/100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30125, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Administer, implement, and evaluate the risk management program in accordance with section 2-246 of this 

Code. 

(3) Serve as liaison with the court services department on implementation of alternative programs. 

(Ord. No. 2007-CO-94, § Ill, 12-20-07) 

Sec. 2-172. - Administrator. 

The person in charge of the human services department shall be known as the human services administrator. 

The human services administrator shall be recommended by the county administrator with the approval of the 

county board chairman. 

(Ord. No. 2007-CO-94, § 111, 12-20-07; Ord. No. 2017-CO-110, 11-21-17) 

Secs. 2-173-2-180. - Reserved. 

DIVISION 3. - REGIONAL PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT 

Footnotes: 

--- (6) ---

Cross reference- Buildings and building regulations, ch. 18; civil emergencies and emergency services, ch. 30; environment, ch. 

42; health and sanitation, ch. 50; parks and recreation, ch. 58; solid waste, ch. 70; subdivisions, ch. 74; utilities, ch. 86; zoning, ch. 

90. 

Sec. 2-181. - Establishment. 

There is hereby established the department of community development which shall consist of the following 

divisions: 

(1) Planning and development. 

(2) Building. 

(3) Zoning. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 6(2-51 ), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2007-CO-94, § V, 12-20-07; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18; Ord . 

No. 2024-CO-050, 8-22-24) 

Sec. 2-182. - Director. 

The person in charge of the department of community development shall be known as the director of 

community development. The director of community development shall be recommended, and appointed or 

dismissed, by the county administrator with the approval of the county board chairman. 

about:blank 401100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 6(2-51 ), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2007-CO-94, § V, 12-20-07; Ord. No. 2017-CO-110, 11-21-17; Ord. 

No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18; Ord. No. 2024-CO-050, 8-22-24) 

Secs. 2-183-2-195. - Reserved. 

DIVISION 4. - TRANSPORTATION AND PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT 

Footnotes: 

--- (7) ---

Cross reference--- Civil emergencies and emergency services, ch. 30; fire prevention and protection, ch. 46; Jaw enforcement, ch. 

54; roads and bridges, ch. 66; subdivisions, ch. 74; traffic and vehicles, ch. 82. 

Sec. 2-196. - Establishment. 

A department of transportation and public works is hereby established, and the officer in charge thereof shall 

be the county engineer. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 1 (2-78(a)), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 96-CO-22, § 1, 4-25-96) 

Sec. 2-197. - Purpose. 

The purpose of the department of transportation and public works is to undertake the powers and duties of 

the county board as set forth in the State Highway Code (605 I LCS 5/5-101 et seq.) and to enforce all laws, 

ordinances, resolutions, rules and regulations governing the location, width and course of stormwater or 

floodwater runoff channels and basins on any map, plat or subdivision of any block, lot or sub lot, or any part 

thereof or any piece or parcel of land within the county; the construction, alteration and maintenance of 

buildings, structures and camps or parks accommodating persons in house trailers, house cars, cabins or tents 

and parts and appurtenances thereof in a condition reasonably safe from hazards of flooding; removal of 

driftwood and other obstructions from natural and other watercourses in the county; the flow within the county 

of the waters of any river, stream or watercourse over and through any and all dams and other obstructions 

existing or constructed in, upon, or along any river, stream or watercourse; the prevention of pollution of any 

stream or any other body of water within the county; the accumulation of runoff or stormwaters or floodwaters 

within the county; and the prevention of flood damage by regulating the construction of buildings in the county 

to provide for the orderly runoff or retention of rain and melting snow, except as may be otherwise provided by 

law or ordinance; and to perform such other tasks as may be delegated by the county board. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 1(2-78(b)), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-198. - County engineer; qualifications, responsibilities. 

about:blank 41/100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

The county engineer shall be appointed pursuant to the provisions of section 5-201 of the State Highway Code 

(605 ILCS 5/5-201 et seq.). The county engineer shall undertake the duties and responsibilities set forth in the 

State Highway Code (605 ILCS 5/5-205-5-205.8, inclusive) as well as be responsible for the administration of the 

transportation and public works department. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 1(2-78(c)), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-199. - Organization. 

The county engineer shall appoint such employees as shall be necessary and as authorized by the county 

board. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 1(2-78(d)), 11-24-92) 

Sec. 2-200. - Reserved. 

Editor's note- Ord. No. 96-CO-22, § 2, adopted Apr. 25, 1996, repealed § 2-200, which pertained to 

superintendent of public works and derived from Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 2(2-79), adopted Nov. 24, 1992. 

Secs. 2-201-2-210. - Reserved. 

DIVISION 5. - INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SERVICES 

Footnotes: 

--- (8) ---

Editor's note- Ord. No. 2017-CO-100, adopted October 26, 2017, repealed the former Division 5, §§ 2-211-2-214, and enacted 

a new Division 5 as set out herein. The former Division 5 pertained to internal services and derived from Ord. No. 92-C0-79, § 3(2-

50(a)-(d)), November 24, 1992;; Ord. No. 2017-CO-110, November 21, 2017. 

Sec. 2-211. - Establishment. 

An information technology department is hereby established. 

(Ord. No. 2017-CO-100, 10-26-17) 

Sec. 2-212. - Purpose. 

The purpose of the Information technology department is to provide computer, data processing and record 

retention services primarily to offices and departments of county government and, secondarily, upon specific 

authorization of the county board, to units of local government within or outside the county, and to other area 

businesses. 

about:blank 42/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

(Ord. No. 2017-CO-100, 10-26-17) 

Sec. 2-213. - Director. 

The person in charge of the information technology department shall be the chief information officer. 

(Ord. No. 2017-CO-100, 10-26-17) 

Sec. 2-214. - Organization. 

The chief information officer shall appoint such number of technical assistants and employees as shall be 

necessary and authorized by the county board. 

(Ord. No. 2017-CO-100, 10-26-17) 

Secs. 2-215-2-225. - Reserved. 

DIVISION 6. - PURCHASING AND CENTRAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

Sec. 2-226. - Establishment. 

There is hereby established the department of purchasing and central services. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 9(13A-1 ), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 98-CO-65, 11-12-98; Ord. No. 2018-CO-047, 5-10-18; Ord. No. 

2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-227. - Responsibilities. 

The department shall be responsible for undertaking, enforcing and monitoring the central purchasing 

system for county governmental operations, for providing a centralized location for copying and printing 

services, for supply procurement, and for mailing services. 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 9(13A-2), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 98-CO-65, 11-12-98; Ord. No. 2018-CO-047, 5-10-18; Ord. No. 

2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-228. - Director. 

The director of purchasing shall serve as the purchasing agent for the county and shall be responsible for the 

procurement of materials, supplies, equipment, services, construction, construction related services and 

professional services in accordance with this division. The director of purchasing and central services shall be 

recommended, and appointed or dismissed, by the county administrator with the approval of the county board 

chairman. 

about:blank 43/100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

(Ord. No. 92-CO-79, § 9(13A-3), 11-24-92; Ord. No. 98-CO-65, 11-12-98; Ord. No. 2017-CO-110, 11-21-17; Ord. No. 

2018-CO-047, 5-10-18; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Secs. 2-229-2-240. - Reserved. 

DIVISION 7. - CODE HEARING UNIT 

Sec. 2-241. - Establishment. 

A code hearing unit is hereby established pursuant to Section 5-41010 of the Counties Code, 55 ILCS 5/5-

41010. 

(Ord. No. 97-CO-67, § I, 12-11-97) 

Sec. 2-242. - Purpose. 

The purpose of the code hearing unit is to undertake the powers and duties necessary for the administrative 

adjudication of county codes regulating animal control; the definition, identification, and abatement of public 

nuisances; the accumulation, disposal and transportation of garbage, refuse, and other forms of solid waste; the 

construction and maintenance of buildings and structures; sanitation practices; and zoning. 

(Ord. No. 97-CO-67, § I, 12-11-97) 

Sec. 2-243. - Hearing officer. 

The person in charge of the code hearing unit shall be known as hearing officer and shall preside at hearings 

conducted to administratively adjudicate allegations of violations of the County Code. The hearing officer shall be 

recommended by the county administrator with the approval of the county board chairman. 

(Ord. No. 97-CO-67, § I, 12-11-97; Ord. No. 2017-CO-110, 11-21-17; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-244. - Organization. 

The hearing officer shall appoint such number of employees as shall be necessary and authorized by the 

county board. 

(Ord. No. 97-CO-67, § I, 12-11-97) 

Sec. 2-245. - Reserved. 

DIVISION 8. - RISK MANAGEMENT 

about:blank 44/100 

Nancy Bleile
Highlight



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Sec. 2-246. - Purpose. 

The purpose of the risk management program is to preserve the operating effectiveness of county 

government, to protect employees and others from accidents that might result in death, serious injury or 

property damage, and to reduce costs and promote the efficient use of resources. 

(Ord. No. 98-CO-65, 11-12-98) 

Sec. 2-247. - Program; elements. 

The risk management program will consist of the following elements: 

(1) To provide risk analysis, workers compensation administration, loss control, and safety program 

development. 

(2) To establish procedures to reduce the loss exposure. 

(3) To develop, recommend and implement goals, objectives and procedures for the risk management 

program. 

(4) To evaluate and analyze the county's loss history, research risk reduction strategies, and identify 

areas of weakness; and in cooperation with the human resources department, to utilize effective 

training programs to improve on those weaknesses. 

(5) To assist the state's attorney's office by investigating and gathering information and 

documentation for any legal action. 

(6) To perform safety inspections to detect the existing or potential safety problems, recommend 

corrective action, and assist with the implementation of programs. 

(7) Where appropriate, to develop interdepartmental safety teams to further enhance overall safety 

programs. 

(8) To develop a system to facilitate communications with the county's liability insurance 

administrator on claims administration and loss prevention programs. 

(9) To prepare an annual report to the county board. 

(10) The risk management program will be established and overseen by the county administrator and 

his/her designees. 

(Ord. No. 98-CO-65, 11-12-98; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-248. - Program structure. 

about:blank 

(a) Reporting requirements. 

(1) All incidents resulting in personal injury or death, or damage to personal property shall be 

reported as immediately as feasible to the human resources department and the county 

administrator; in all cases, no later than one business day after the incident giving rise to the 

45/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

injury, death or property damage, or, in the case of an injury to an employee, no later than one business day 

following the report of the injury. 

(2) Reports of injuries to an employee shall be made on the forms provided for such notice as 

required by the Worker's Compensation Act. All other notices shall be on forms provided by the 

human resources department. 

(3) The human resources department will establish a file on each claim. Notice of all incidents 

resulting in injury or property damage to a third party shall be given to the state's attorney's office, 

civil division. 

(b) Resolution of claims. 

(1) All claims made pursuant to the Worker's Compensation Act will be resolved pursuant to the 

provisions of section 62-242 of this Code. 

(2) Any settlement proposal involving an injury or property damage to a third party must be reviewed 

by the state's attorney's office, civil division, before an offer of settlement is made to the claimant. 

(Ord. No. 98-CO-65, 11-12-98; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

DIVISION 9. - INDEMNIFICATION 

Sec. 2-249. - Application of division. 

Nothing in this division relieves the county of its duty to indemnify or insure its employees as provided in 

sections 5-1002, 5-1002.5, and 5-1003 of the Counties Code (55 ILCS 5/5-1002, 5-1002.5, 5-1003). 

(Ord. No. 98-CO-65, 11-12-98) 

Sec. 2-250. - Definitions. 

The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this division, shall have the meaning ascribed to them 

in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning: 

Employee means any person formerly or presently employed by the county or by a county official. 

Official means any former or present elected or appointed officer of the county. 

Volunteer means any person, not an employee, who formerly or presently provides service to the county 

upon the request of or at the direction of an official or employee, without compensation. 

(Ord. No. 98-CO-65, 11-12-98) 

Sec. 2-251. - Claims or actions. 

about:blank 46/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

If any claim or action is brought or instituted against an official, employee, or volunteer, where such claim or 

action arises out of an act or omission of the official, employee, or volunteer, performed or made in good faith in 

the discharge of his official duties or in the course of his employment or volunteer service, the county shall 

indemnify such official, employee or volunteer, as the case may be, for any judgment recovered against him as a 

result of such claim or action, except where the claim or action arises from the willful or wanton misconduct of 

the official, employee or volunteer. The county may appear on behalf of and defend any suit any such official, 

employee or volunteer. 

(Ord. No. 98-CO-65, 11-12-98) 

Sec. 2-252. - Notice. 

Any person who, at the time of performing such action or omission complained of, was an official, employee, 

or volunteer, who is made a party defendant to any such action shall, within ten days of service of process upon 

him, notify the county of the fact that the action has been instituted, and that he has been made a party 

defendant to the action. This notice must be in writing and filed in the office of the state's attorney and also in 

the office of the county clerk, either by himself, his agent, or attorney. The notice shall state in substance that the 

official, employee, or volunteer, as the case may be, (by naming him), has been served with process and been 

made a party defendant to an action wherein it is claimed that a person has suffered injury to his person or 

property caused by the official, employee, or volunteer, stating the title and number of the case, the court 

wherein the action is pending, and the date of service. The duty of the county to indemnify is conditioned upon 

receiving notice of the filing of any such action and the manner and form herein described. 

(Ord. No. 98-CO-65, 11-12-98; Ord. No. 2018-CO-075, 7-26-18) 

Sec. 2-253. - Exceptions; conflict of interest. 

(a) This division shall not apply: 

(1) To any portion of a judgment representing an award of punitive or exemplary damages. 

(2) When an employee, official or volunteer has been charged with a criminal offense. 

(b) Should the state's attorney determine that he has a conflict of interest in representation of an official, 

employee or volunteer, the official, employee or volunteer, as the case may be, may seek 

reimbursement from the county for the reasonable costs associated with engaging the services of an 

attorney to defend him against such claim or action. 

(Ord. No. 98-CO-65, 11-12-98) 

ARTICLE V. - BOARDS, COMMISSIONS AND COMMITTEES 

DIVISION 1. - GENERALLY 

about:blank 47/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Secs. 2-254-2-270. - Reserved. 

DIVISION 2. - PUBLIC AID COMMITTEE 

Sec. 2-271. - Creation; power and authority. 

There is hereby created and named under the provisions of the Public Aid Code, 305 I LC 5/1-1 et seq., the 

public aid committee which shall have and exercise the power and authority prescribed by article XI of such act. 

(Code 1964, § 2-149) 

Secs. 2-272-2-300. - Reserved. 

ARTICLE VI. - FINANCE 

DIVISION 1. - GENERALLY 

Sec. 2-301. - Depositories for county funds. 

about:blank 

(a) Depository banks for the funds of the county treasurer and ex officio county collector shall be as 

designated by the county board from time to time. 

(b) The deposits shall not exceed 75 percent of the capital stock and surplus of the depositories, as 

provided for by statute, unless securities equal in market value to the amount of funds in excess of 75 

percent of the capital stock and surplus of a depository are deposited with the county treasurer or 

banks designated as "custodial banks" for the purpose of the safekeeping of pledged securities. 

(c) Custodial banks for the safekeeping of securities pledged by depository banks as collateral of any 

funds deposited in such bank in excess of 75 percent of the capital stock and surplus of such bank 

shall be as designated by the county board from time to time. 

(d) Such securities deposited for custody with the designated custodial banks may be released from 

custody, delivered, sold, redeemed, exchanged, or otherwise disposed of upon instructions signed by 

the depository bank and approved by the county treasurer or designated deputies. 

(e) The following designated securities are authorized as collateral: 

(1) Obligations of the United States government, treasury bills, notes and bonds. 

(2) Obligations of United States government agencies. 

(3) Obligations of the state. 

(4) Obligations of municipalities and public bodies located in the state. 

48/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

(Code 1964, § 2-34) 

Secs. 2-302-2-310. - Reserved . 

DIVISION 2. - INTERNAL AUDIT 

Sec. 2-311. - Short title. 

This division shall be known, cited and referred to as the "Internal Audit Procedure Ordinance." 

(Ord. No. 89-CO-29, § 2-301, 4-27-89) 

Sec. 2-312. - Access to records. 

The county auditor shall have access to all records, documents and resources necessary to maintain a 

continuous internal audit. 

(Ord. No. 89-CO-29, § 2-302, 4-27-89) 

Sec. 2-313. - Contents and issuance of internal audit report. 

(a) Upon the completion of each internal audit, the county auditor shall issue an internal audit report to 

the affected county officer, agent, or division, with a copy of such report to be sent to the county 

board committee responsible for financial management. 

(b) This internal audit report will address actual or potential weaknesses within the internal control of the 

operations and/or financial reporting of the county officer, agent or division and recommend 

procedures which will improve or eliminate the problem areas. 

(Ord. No. 89-CO-29, § 2-303, 4-27-89) 

Sec. 2-314. - Response to internal audit report. 

about:blank 

(a) Each county officer, agent or division shall, within three business days, acknowledge receipt of the 

internal audit report. 

(b) Within 30 days of the receipt of the internal audit report, each county officer, agent, or division shall 

submit a written response to the county auditor, outlining the action that has been taken in response 

to the recommendations made by the auditor. 

(c) Subsequent to the issuance of the internal audit report, the county auditor shall review the operations 

and financial reporting of the affected county officer, agent, or division. This review will focus on, but 

not be limited to, the recommendations suggested in the internal audit report. Upon completion of 

the review, a report outlining the conditions found at the time of the review will be prepared and 

delivered to the county board. 

49/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

(Ord. No. 89-CO-29, § 2-304, 4-27-89) 

Secs. 2-315-2-325. - Reserved. 

DIVISION 3. - CENTRALIZED PURCHASING SYSTEM 

Footnotes: 

--- (9) ---

Editor's note- Ord. No. 2023-CO-092, adopted November 9, 2023, amended Div. 3 in its entirety to read as herein set out. 

Former Div. 3, §§ 2-328-2-336, 2-339, 2-348-2-351, 2-357-2-364, pertained to similar provisions, and derived from Ord. No. 

2018-CO-047, May 10, 2018. 

Sec. 2-326. - Short title. 

This division may be cited as the "Purchasing Ordinance of Winnebago County." 

(Ord. No. 2023-CO-092, 11-9-23) 

Sec. 2-327. - General provisions. 

about:blank 

(a) Policies and procedures. 

(1) Purpose. The underlying purpose and policies of this division are to manage the procurement 

process in accordance with state statutes and federal rules and regulations; spend taxpayer 

money wisely and fairly; encourage fair and equitable treatment through broad-based 

competition; protect against fraud, favoritism, extravagance and corruption; obtain the best 

commodities and services at the lowest price practicable; make purchases which are in the best 

interest of the county; provide safeguards for the maintenance of a procurement system of quality 

and integrity; and meet the needs of the County of Winnebago, Illinois through continuous 

improvement of purchasing systems and procedures. To the extent permitted by law, the county 

will promote economic development by encouraging the participation of Winnebago County 

businesses, by providing equal opportunity for minority and women-owned businesses, and for 

veterans, and by applying environmentally sound practices in the procurement process. 

(2) Applicability. The purchasing ordinance is applicable to the procurement of materials, services, 

supplies, equipment, construction, construction related services and professional services, except 

for certain professional services as defined in section 2-357, by the county board except as 

specified below. These provisions shall apply to all expenditures of public funds by a county 

department for purchasing regardless of its source, except as otherwise provided by federal or 

state law, regulations, County of Winnebago Ordinance or county administrative policy. 

Procurements involving federal or state assistance will be conducted in accordance with any 

applicable mandatory state and/or federal law, rules or regulation or grant. 

a. 

50/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

The following elected county officials have internal control over their offices, and therefore, are not subject to 

the county competitive bidding statute or purchasing ordinance: 

about:blank 

1. Auditor 55 ILCS 5/3-1004. 

2. County clerk 55 ILCS 5/3-2003.2. 

3. Recorder 55 I LCS 5/3-5005.2. 

4. State's attorney 55 ILCS 5/3-9005. 

5. Treasurer 55 ILCS 5/3-10005. 

b. The following elected county offices have internal control over their offices except for 

purchases of equipment: 

1. Coroner 55 ILCS 5/3-3003. 

2. Sheriff 55 ILCS 5/3-6018. 

c. The following offices are not subject to the county competitive bidding statute or purchasing 

ordinance. 

1. Courts. 

2. Public defender. 

3. Regional office of education. 

4. Clerk of circuit court. 

d. The county engineer shall be required to procure services, materials and equipment for road 

and bridge construction, maintenance, engineering, land acquisition and such other technical 

supplies, services and engineering equipment necessary to meet the operational obligations of 

the county engineer, as set forth in the Illinois Compiled Statutes. 

e. Nothing in this division shall prevent any county department from complying with the terms 

and conditions of any grant, gift, bequest, or cooperative purchasing agreement that is 

otherwise consistent with law and this policy. 

f. Purchasing records required under this Section shall be maintained by any county department 

to which procurement authority has been delegated and a copy of all such records, as 

appropriate, shall be provided to the purchasing department upon request. 

(3) Public access to procurement information. Procurement information shall be a public record as 

defined by the Illinois Freedom of Information Act, 5 ILCS 140/1 et seq. 

(4) Requirement of good faith. This division requires all parties involved in the negotiation, 

performance, or administration of county contracts to act in good faith. 

(5) Property rights. Receipt of an invitation for bid (IFB), request for proposal (RFP) or other 

procurement document or submission of any response thereto, or other offer, confers no right to 

receive an award or contract, nor does it obligate the county in any manner. 

(6) 

51/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Singular-plural gender rules. Words in the singular number include the plural, and those in the plural include the 

singular. Words of a particular gender include any gender and the neuter, and when the sense so indicates, 

words of the neuter gender may refer to any gender. 

(Ord. No. 2023-CO-092, 11-9-23) 

Sec. 2-328. - Severability. 

If any provision of this division or any application thereof to any person or circumstances is held invalid, such 

invalidity shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions or application of this division. 

(Ord. No. 2023-CO-092, 11-9-23) 

Sec. 2-329. - Repealer. 

All ordinances, resolutions, rules and regulations in conflict with this division are hereby repealed to the 

extent of their inconsistency. 

(Ord. No. 2023-CO-092, 11-9-23) 

Sec. 2-330. - Savings clause. 

Nothing herein, hereby adopted shall be construed to affect any suit or proceeding now pending in a court of 

law or any cause or causes accrued or existing under any prior resolution or ordinance. Nor may any right or 

remedy of any character be lost, impaired or affected by this division. 

(Ord. No. 2023-CO-092, 11-9-23) 

Sec. 2-331. - Effective date. 

This division shall become effective at 12:01 a.m. 30 days after its adoption by the county board. 

(Ord. No. 2023-CO-092, 11-9-23) 

Sec. 2-332. - Definitions. 

The words defined in this section shall have the meanings set forth below whenever they appear in this 

division. 

Architectural, engineering, and land surveying services. Those professional services within the scope of 

practice of architecture, professional engineering, structural engineering, or land surveying, as defined by the 

laws of the State of Illinois. 

Best and final offer (BAFO). Is a term used in bids to indicate that no further negotiation on the amount or 

terms is possible. It can also be a bid containing final pricing and deliverables submitted by bidding contractors 

based on the outcome of the negotiations conducted during the initial bid stage. 

about:blank 52/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Bid. An advertised, open, competitive solicitation for prices that are opened publicly. 

Bid security. A guaranty that the bidder will enter into a contract if an offer is presented within the specified 

period of time; bidder's failure to do so will result in forfeiture of the bid security. 

Bid tab. Bid tabulations show each bidder's bid amount for each pay item in a contract. They are posted as 

soon as the authorized buyer certifies that a bid tab accurately reflects the bids received and publicly opened. 

Bidder's list. A current database of potential vendors or contractors for each category of commodities and 

services repetitively purchased for county use. 

Business. Any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, individual, sole proprietorship, joint stock 

company, joint venture, or any other private legal entity. 

Change order. Written authorization directing a contractor to modify or change an existing purchase order or 

contract. 

Competitive proposals. Purchases over the Simplified Acquisition Threshold (SAT). Formal solicitation required 

as well as fixed price cost-reimbursement contracts and is used when sealed bids are not appropriate. The 

contract should be awarded to the responsible firm whose proposal is most advantageous to the program, with 

pricing being one of the factors. 

Confidential information. Any information which is available to an employee only because of the employee's 

status as an employee of the county or its agencies and is not a matter of public knowledge or available to the 

public via request pursuant to the Illinois Freedom of Information Act, 5 ILCS 140/1 et seq. 

Construction. The process of building, altering, improving, or demolishing any public structure or building, or 

other public improvements of any kind to any public real property. It does not include the routine operation, 

routine repair, or routine maintenance of existing structures, buildings, or real property. 

Contract. All types of agreements, regardless of what they may be called, for the procurement or disposal of 

supplies, services, construction or professional services that are legally binding promises enforceable by law. 

Contract employee. See independent contractor. 

Contract file. A record maintained in the purchasing department which may include a requisition, purchase 

order, contract documents and/or related correspondence. 

Contract modification. Any written alteration in specifications, delivery point, rate of delivery, period of 

performance, price, quantity, or other provisions of any contract accomplished by mutual action of the parties to 

the contract. 

Contract renewal. Continuation of the contract for an additional period of time, under the original terms and 

conditions, when allowed by provisions for renewal, which were included in the original bid document. 

Contract-revenue generating. Revenue generating contracts are agreements under which the county receives 

from a vendor either a commission or share in the profit generated from the sale of goods or services. Examples 

include vending machines, food service, and joint-purchasing agreements. 

about:blank 53/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Contractor. Any person having a contract with the county or a using agency thereof. 

Cooperative joint purchasing. Procurement or purchasing conducted by or on behalf of more than one 

governmental or public procurement unit. 

Cost plus percentage contracts. Cost plus percentage of cost (CPPC) contracting shall not be used. Cost plus 

percentage of cost contracts demand the county to pay a fee that rises as the contractor's costs rise. It has been 

determined that this type of contract provides no incentive for the contractor to control costs and is thus 

improper. Any contract entered into utilizing cost plus percentage calculation shall be void. 

Cost-reimbursement contract. A contract under which a contractor is reimbursed for costs which are allocable 

in accordance with the contract terms and the provisions of this division, and a fee or profit, if any. 

County board chairman. The county officer elected by the electors of the county to serve as chairman of the 

county board. 

County agency. A county officer, employee, department, office, official, commission, county board, or agency 

whose purchasing authority is subject to the provisions of this division. 

Debarment. The process of determining that a contractor is ineligible to receive contract awards based upon 

a preponderance of evidence, usually a conviction. Debarment is usually three years in length. The name of the 

debarred contractor may be published as ineligible on the System for Award Management (SAM), which is a 

website administered by the U.S. General Services Administration, or on the list of sanctioned providers 

maintained by the State of Illinois. 

Discussions. Oral or written negotiations between the county or its agencies and an offeror during which 

information is exchanged about specifications, scope of work, terms, conditions and price set forth in the initial 

proposal. Communication with an offeror for the sole purpose of clarification does not constitute discussions. 

Elected official. For the purposes of this division, elected official includes; clerk of the circuit court, county 

auditor, county board chairman, county board members, county clerk, county coroner, county treasurer, and 

county recorder, superintendent of the regional office of education, county sheriff and state's attorney. For 

purposes of this division, the Chief Judge of the 17th Judicial Circuit Court is also considered an elected official. 

Emergency purchase. Procurement obtained in circumstances which include threats to public health or safety, 

where immediate repairs to county property are required to protect or prevent against further loss or damage, 

or where immediate action is needed to prevent or minimize serious disruption to county services. 

Employee. An individual drawing a salary or wages from the county whether elected or not and providing 

services for the county. 

Equipment. Items that are purchased or used by the county that are not goods and supplies and which are 

not expendable except through depreciation or wear and tear, and which do not lose their identity or become 

integral parts of other items or installations. 

FOIA. Illinois Freedom of Information Act, 5 ILCS 140/1 et seq. 

about:blank 54/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Goods and supplies. All personal property relating to the maintenance, repair and operating materials 

necessary to sustain day-to-day county operations. 

Gratuity. A payment, loan, subscription, advance, and deposit of money, service, or anything of more than 

nominal value, present or promised, unless consideration of substantially equal or greater value is received. 

/DOT. Illinois Department of Transportation. 

Immediate family. Husband, wife, mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son, daughter, brother, sister, 

son-in-law, daughter-in-law, uncle, aunt, brother-in-law, and sister-in-law. 

Independent contractor. A person hired to accomplish a given result who has the right to control or direct his, 

her or its own work as to details and means by which the desired results are achieved. 

Invitation for bids (IFB). A formal request to prospective vendors soliciting price quotations or bids; contains, 

or incorporates by reference, the specifications or scope of work and all contractual terms and conditions. 

Irresponsible bidder. A bidder or prospective bidder who has failed to furnish, upon written request, proof of 

his/her responsibility; or who has, as a vendor or contractor with the county, repeatedly made slow or 

unsatisfactory deliveries; or who has violated, or attempted to violate, any provisions of this division. 

Local bidder. A firm or individual who regularly maintains a place of business and transacts business in, or 

maintains an inventory of merchandise for sale in, or is licensed by, or pays business taxes to the county. 

Material alteration. Any construction, repair, reconstruction, rehabilitation, addition or improvement of a 

county owned, leased or rented building or structure, which appreciatively or significantly affects or influences its 

function, use or appearance. 

Materials. Items or supplies required in the performance of day-to-day operations. 

Micro purchases. Purchase of materials, services, supplies, equipment construction and construction related 

services that are less than the small purchase threshold. Efforts should be made to distribute purchase equitably 

among qualified providers. 

Multi-year contracts. Procurement contracts extending more than one year. 

Multiple price quotation. Where competitive selection is not required or cannot be utilized because of an 

emergency, a process of obtaining price information from at least three sources or vendors prior to purchase. 

Negotiations. The director of purchasing and responsible department head can conduct negotiations, as 

appropriate, as to price, delivery and terms. 

Notice to proceed. Formal notification given to the contractor or vendor that officially begins the project. 

Person. Any individual or group of individuals, business, union, contractor, firm, corporation, trustee, 

partnership, association, joint venture, committee, club or other entity. 

about:blank 55/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Procurement. The buying, purchasing, renting, leasing, or otherwise acquiring of any goods, services, 

construction, or professional services. It also includes all functions that pertain to the obtaining of any goods, 

service, construction, or professional services, including description of requirements, selection, and solicitation 

of sources, preparation and award of contract, and all phases of contract administration. 

Public works projects. Any fixed work construction, improvement or demolition by any public body that is 

funded or financed in whole or in part with public funds and as further defined in the Illinois Prevailing Wage Act, 

820 ILCS 130/0.01 et seq. 

Purchasing card (P-card). A payment method using a card issued by a bank or major credit card provider for 

county purchases. 

Professional service. The service of a person possessing a high degree of professional skill where the ability or 

fitness of the person plays an important part and the primary reason for contracting with the person is the 

county's confidence, trust and belief in his or her talent and ability to perform the services. Professional services 

include, but are not limited to, appraisers, architects, engineers, accountants, land surveyors, psychologists, 

physicians, and other health professionals. 

Purchase order. A written order signed and issued by the purchasing department directing a business to 

provide goods, services, construction or professional services on behalf of the county. 

Purchase requisition. An internal document, by which a department sends, to the purchasing department, 

details of goods, supplies, services, equipment, construction, or professional services to meet its needs for a 

specific job. 

Purchasing agent. The director of purchasing or any staff member of the purchasing department authorized 

to act as a purchasing agent for the county and shall be responsible for the procurement of materials, supplies, 

equipment, services, construction, construction related services and professional services, and processing 

contract and purchase orders. 

Request for information (RF/). All documents issued to vendors for the sole purpose of seeking information 

about the availability in the commercial market of equipment, supplies, services, construction, and construction 

related services. 

Request for proposals (RFP). A formal request to prospective vendors soliciting proposals and it contains, or 

incorporates by reference, the specifications or scope of work and all contractual terms and conditions. 

Proposals are submitted in sealed envelope and opened privately. Vendors are selected based on a qualification 

based evaluation. 

Request for qualification (RFQ). Documentation requested for professional services including, but not limited 

to, a list of professional references and similar work performed. 

Request for quotes/quotations. Informal pricing for the purchase of goods, supplies, services, equipment, 

construction or professional services. May be submitted by mail, written, by telephone (verbal quote), or email, 

and under the current purchase threshold. 

about:blank 56/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Requisition. An electronic request issued by a county department head or his/her designee against available 

and approved funds authorizing the purchasing department to issue a purchase order on the department's 

behalf. 

Responsible bidder or offeror. A person who has the capability in all respects to perform fully the contract 

requirements contained in the invitation for bids, has the capacity, facilities, equipment, and credit which will 

assure good faith performance, and has submitted a bid which conforms in all material respects to the 

requirements set forth in the invitation for bids. 

Responsive bidder. A person who has submitted a bid which conforms in all material respects to the invitation 

for bid. 

Responsible bidder for public works projects: A person (firm) who has the capability in all respects to perform 

fully the public works contract requirements, and the experience, personnel, reliability, facilities capacity, 

equipment, acceptable past performance and credit which will assure good faith performance. Responsible 

bidder for public works projects means a bidder for public works projects advertised, awarded, and financed, in 

whole or in part, with county public funds, who meets all of the job specifications, including the following 

applicable criteria. Evidence of compliance is required for public works projects estimated to be over bidding 

threshold in value. 

about:blank 

a. Certificates of insurance indicating the following coverages: general liability, workers' 

compensation, completed operations, and vehicle. Performance bonds, as required. 

b. To qualify as a responsible bidder for public works projects exceeding $30,000.00, or as defined in 

the most current Illinois Co~piled Statutes for small purchases, the responsible bidder and 

subcontractors must be a member of an organization that participates in an active apprenticeship 

and training programs approved and registered with the U.S. Department of Labor's Office of 

Apprenticeship and Training, or its successor, for each of the trades of work contemplated under 

the awarded contract. The required evidence shall include, but is not limited to, a copy of all 

applicable apprenticeship standards or apprenticeship agreement(s) for any apprentice(s) who will 

perform work on the public works project. 

c. Compliance with all provisions of the Illinois Prevailing Wage Act, 820 ILCS 130/0.01 et seq. All 

contractors and sub-contractors, as determined by the contract, are required to turn in certified 

payrolls as specified in Illinois Public Act 94-0515, and follow all provisions of the Employee 

Classification Act, 820 ILCS 185/1 et seq. 

d. Disclosure of the name and address of each subcontractor from whom the contractor has 

accepted a bid and/or intends to hire on any part of the project prior to the subcontractor 

commencing work on the public works project. 

e. All bidders must provide three projects of a similar nature as being performed in the immediate 

past five years with the name, address, email, and telephone number of the contact person having 

knowledge of the project or three references (name, address, email, and telephone number) with 

knowledge of the business practices of the contractor. 

57/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

The provisions contained in the definitions of "responsible bidder" and "responsible bidder for public works 

projects"shall not apply to grant, state or federally funded construction projects or Illinois Department of 

Transportation projects if such application would jeopardize the receipt or use of federal, state or grant funds in 

support of such project. 

Reverse auctions. A reverse auction is a real-time bidding process taking place at a scheduled time and 

internet location, in which multiple suppliers, anonymous to each other, submit bids to provide the designated 

goods and services specified in the invitation for bid. 

Services. The furnishing of labor, time, or effort by a contractor, not involving the delivery of a specific end 

product other than reports which are merely incidental to the required performance. This term shall not include 

employment agreements or collective bargaining agreements. 

Small purchase threshold. The threshold established by the county at which public bids are not required. 

Small purchases. Purchases that are at least $10,000.00 and less than $30,000.00, (less than $35,000.00 for 

the use, purchase, delivery, movement, or installation of data processing equipment, software, or services and 

telecommunications and inter-connect equipment, software and services), or as defined in the most current 

Illinois Compiled Statutes. 

Sole source procurement. Any contract entered into without a competitive process, based on a written 

justification that only one known source exists or that only one single vendor or supplier can fulfill the particular 

requirements. However, any contract that is initially determined to be sole source, shall be referred to the 

appropriate committee for consideration and recommendation. 

Solicitation. An invitation for bids or request for proposals or qualifications or request for quotes to provide 

materials, services, equipment, supplies or construction and construction related services and professional 

services. 

Specification. Any description of the physical or functional characteristics, or of the nature of a supply, service, 

or construction item. It may include a description of any requirement for inspecting, testing, or preparing a 

supply, service, or construction item for delivery. 

Stringing. Dividing or fragmenting procurements in order to circumvent any of the provisions of this division. 

Stringing is the practice of issuing multiple purchase orders or requisitions for purchasing like items or services, 

with the intent to circumvent procurement policies. 

Subcontractor or supplier. A vendor which enters into a contract with a prime contractor to provide goods or 

services pursuant to a contract between the prime contractor and the county. 

Surplus property. Property including goods and supplies and equipment that exceeds the reasonably 

foreseeable needs of the county or no longer has any use to the county. 

Suspension. Suspension is the process of determining that a contractor is ineligible to receive contract awards 

based upon adequate evidence, usually an indictment. Suspension is a temporary measure having a 12-month 

limit. It is usually used pending completion of an investigation or legal proceedings. 

about:blank 58/100 



4/30/25, 12:26 PM Winnebago County, IL Code of Ordinances 

Unauthorized purchase. An unauthorized purchase occurs when the materials, services, or any expense is 

charged to the county by a person who has not been given such authority. Unauthorized purchases include 

procuring goods and supplies, equipment, construction, or services (including professional services) without 

following this ordinance. The individual making an unauthorized purchase may incur a personal obligation to the 

vendor or the county for the expense even though the goods and supplies, equipment, construction, or services 

(including professional services) are used for county business. 

Used equipment. Equipment that: (a) has been in service for at least one-half of its commercially reasonable 

life, or if its life is less than 24 months, is at least one year old; or (b) is a floor or demonstration model that is 

offered at a price at least 25 percent below current market price; or (c) is otherwise determined by the director of 

purchasing on a case-by-case basis to be a bona fide used item. 

Using department or agency. Any county department or agency requiring goods and supplies, equipment, 

services, construction, or professional services procured pursuant to this division. 

(Ord. No. 2023-CO-092, 11-9-23) 

Sec. 2-333. - Director of purchasing. 

The director of purchasing shall serve as the purchasing agent for the county and shall be responsible for the 

procurement of materials, supplies, equipment, services, construction, construction related services and 

professional services in accordance with this division. The director of purchasing shall report to the county 

administrator or their designee and be recommended, appointed, disciplined, or dismissed with the approval of 

the county board chairman. If no consensus can be reached between the county administrator or their designee 

and the county board chairman related to the director of purchasing's employment, then it shall be subject to 

the advice and consent of the county board 

Before entering upon the duties of his/her office, the county director of purchasing shall execute a bond to 

the county in an amount to be prescribed by the county board, with sureties approved by the county board and 

which bond shall be conditioned as follows: That he/she shall faithfully perform all duties which are or may be 

required by law and county ordinance to be performed by him/her as county director of purchasing in the time 

and manner prescribed or to be prescribed by law and county ordinance; and when he/she shall be succeeded in 

office, shall surrender and deliver over to his/her successor in office all supplies, materials, equipment, books, 

papers, monies and other things belonging to the county and appertaining to his/her office, then the above bond 

shall void; otherwise to remain in full force and effect. 

(Ord. No. 2023-CO-092, 11-9-23) 

Sec. 2-334. - Purchasing department duties. 

The purchasing department shall work cooperatively with all departments in making determinations relative 

to the purchase of goods and supplies, equipment, services, construction, and professional services. In 

accordance with this division and subject to the direction of the County of Winnebago Board, the county board 

chairman, and the county administrator, and applicable provisions of state law, the purchasing department shall : 

about:blank 59/100 





































OPERATIONS & 
ADMINISTRATIVE 

 COMMITTEE 



Resolution Executive Summary 
Committee Date: Thursday, May 15, 2025 
Committee: Operations & Administrative 
Prepared By: Chris Dornbush   

County Board Office 
404 Elm Street, Rm 533, Rockford, IL 61101 | wincoil.gov  

Phone: (815) 319- 4225 | E-mail: boardoffice@admin.wincoil.gov 

Document Title: 
Resolution Authorizing Application For A Capital Assistance 
Grant For Paratransit Vehicle(s) Under The Illinois Department 
Of Transportation’s General Authority To Make Such Grants 

County Code: 

Board Meeting Date: Thursday, May 22, 2025 

Budget Information: 
Was item budgeted? NA Appropriation Amount:   $0 
If not, explain funding source:   
ORG - OBJ - Project Code: Budget Impact: NA 

Background Information: 
February 27, 2025 the County Board approved the Rural Winnebago County Public 

Transportation (RWCPT) Program for public transportation to citizens in the rural parts of 
Winnebago County. The Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT) has a grant that will cover 
the costs of the 3 vehicles ADA compliant; 2 minivans (~$124,000) and a light duty cutaway van 
(~$70,000), in total has an estimated cost of $194,000. The County partnered with Reagan Mass 
Transit District (Reagan MTD) to be the operator of the program on behalf of the County, which 
was Board approved February 27, 2025. Reagan MTD would carry the insurance for these 
vehicles. Anticipated arrival date for these would be the same as the program kick-off date, July 
1, 2025. 

Recommendation: 
Winnebago County Administration supports offering public transportation services to the 

County citizens. The intent of offering this service is to make resources (appointments, shopping, 
etc.) more accessible to citizens that reside in rural parts of the County. This grant would cover 
the cost of the vehicles. 

Contract/Agreement: 

Legal Review:  
Yes 

Follow-Up: 
Staff &/or Reagan Mass Transit District can provide updates to Committee and the County 
Board as requested or from time to time.  

http://www.wincoil.us/
mailto:boardoffice@admin.wincoil.gov


  COUNTY BOARD MEETING: MAY 22, 2025 

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

2025 CR _______ 
 

SUBMITTED BY:  OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 
 

SPONSORED BY: KEITH MCDONALD 
 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING APPLICATION FOR A CAPITAL ASSISTANCE 
GRANT FOR PARATRANSIT VEHICLE(S) UNDER THE ILLINOIS DEPARTMENT 

OF TRANSPORTATION’S GENERAL AUTHORITY TO MAKE SUCH GRANTS 
 

 
WHEREAS, the provision and improvement of public transportation and specialized 

transportation for seniors and individuals with disabilities is essential to the development of a 
safe, efficient, functional transportation system; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT) has the authority to make 
such Grants and makes paratransit vehicles available to private non-profits, general public 
transportation systems or IDOT Certified Public Provider transportation systems providing 
specialized paratransit service; and  

WHEREAS, Grants for said assets will impose certain obligations upon the recipient. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BOARD OF 
WINNEBAGO COUNTY, ILLINOIS: 

Section 1.  That an application be made to the Office of Intermodal Project 
Implementation (OIPI), Department of Transportation, State of Illinois, for a financial assistance 
grant under the Illinois Department of Transportation’s general authority to make such Grants, 
for the purpose of off-setting certain public transportation facility capital costs of Winnebago 
County, Illinois. 

Section 2.  That Joseph V. Chiarelli, County Board Chairman of Winnebago County, 
Illinois is hereby authorized and directed to execute and file on behalf of Winnebago County, 
Illinois such application. 

Section 3.  That the Joseph V. Chiarelli, County Board Chairman of Winnebago County, 
Illinois is authorized to furnish such additional information as may be required by the Office of 
Intermodal Project Implementation in connection with the aforesaid application for said Grant. 

Section 4.  That Joseph V. Chiarelli, County Board Chairman of Winnebago County, 
Illinois is hereby authorized and directed to execute and file on behalf of Winnebago County, 
Illinois all required Grant Agreements with the Illinois Department of Transportation. 



   

2 of 3 
 

 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Resolution shall be in full force and effect 

immediately upon its adoption. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby directed 

to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Winnebago County Chief 
Operating Officer, County Chief Financial Officer, County Chief Strategic Officer, County 
Administrator, the County Auditor, and the County Finance Director. 

 

 

                                                                                                              Respectfully Submitted, 
                                                    OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 
 

 VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 

PAUL ARENA  
 

 PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

 JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

 JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 

   
 
 



   

3 of 3 
 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of  
 

Winnebago, Illinois this _______day of ____________________2025. 
 
 

 
 

ATTESTED BY: JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 
 







County Board Meeting: May 22, 2025 

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by: Keith McDonald, Committee Chair 
Submitted by: Operations & Administrative Committee 

2025 CR ____ 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXECUTION AND AMENDMENT OF
SECTION 5311 GRANT AGREEMENT 

WHEREAS, the provision of public transit service is essential to the transportation of 
persons in the non-urbanized area; and  

WHEREAS, 49 U.S.C. § 5311 (“Section 5311”), makes funds available to the State of 
Illinois to help offset certain operating deficits and administrative expenses of a system 
providing public transit service in non-urbanized areas; and  

WHEREAS, the State of Illinois, acting by and through the Illinois Department of 
Transportation, is authorized by 30 ILCS 740/3-1 et seq. to provide the Section 5311 grant; and 

WHEREAS, grants for said funds will impose certain obligations upon the recipient, 
including the provision by it of the local share of funds necessary to cover costs not covered by 
funds provided under Section 5311. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois that: 

Section 1: That an application be made to the Office of Intermodal Project 
Implementation, Department of Transportation, State of Illinois, for a financial assistance grant 
under Section 5311 for fiscal year 2025 for the purpose of off-setting a portion of the Public 
Transportation Program operating deficits of County of Winnebago, Illinois. 

Section 2: That while participating in said operating assistance program, County of 
Winnebago, Illinois may provide local matching funds. 

Section 3: That the Chairman of the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois 
is hereby authorized and directed to execute and file on behalf of County of Winnebago, Illinois 
such application. 

Section 4: That the Chairman of the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois 
is authorized to furnish such additional information as may be required by the Office of 



 

Intermodal Project Implementation and the Federal Transit Administration in connection with 
the aforesaid application for said grant. 
 

Section 5: That the Chairman of the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois 
is hereby authorized and directed to execute and file on behalf of County of Winnebago, Illinois 
a Section 5311 Grant Agreement (“Agreement”) with the Illinois Department of Transportation, 
and amend such Agreement, if necessary, in order to obtain grant assistance under the provisions 
of Section 5311 for fiscal year 2025. 
 

Section 6: That the Chairman of the County Board of the County of Winnebago, Illinois 
is hereby authorized to provide such information and to file such documents as may be required 
to perform the Agreement and to receive the grant for fiscal year 2025. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be effective on its adoption. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois is directed to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the 
Winnebago County Chief Operations Officer, Chief Strategy Officer, County Finance Director, 
County Administrator, and the County Auditor. 
                                                                                   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

                                                                                                              Respectfully Submitted, 
                                                    OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 
 

 VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 

PAUL ARENA  
 

 PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

 JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

 JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 

   
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of  
 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 
 
 

ATTESTED BY:  JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



County Board Meeting: May 22, 2025 

ORDINANCE 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:  Keith McDonald, Committee Chair 
Submitted by: Operations & Administrative Committee 

2025 CO ____ 

ORDINANCE TO PROVIDE PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION IN THE 
RURAL AREAS OF WINNEBAGO COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

WHEREAS, public transportation is an essential public purpose for which public funds 
may be expended under Article 13, Section 7 of the Illinois Constitution; and  

WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois wishes to provide public transportation 
for its citizens and become eligible for grants from the State of Illinois or any department or 
agency thereof, from any unit of local government, from Federal government or any department 
or agency thereof; and  

WHEREAS, Illinois Compiled Statutes 740/2-1 et seq. authorizes a county to provide for 
public transportation within the county limits. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois that: 

Section 1: The County of Winnebago, Illinois may hereby provide public transportation 
in the rural areas of Winnebago County, Illinois. 

Section 2: That the Chairman of the Winnebago County Board is hereby authorized and 
directed to execute and file on behalf of the County of Winnebago, Illinois a Grant Application 
to the Illinois Department of Transportation. 

Section 3: That the Chairman of the Winnebago County Board is hereby authorized and 
directed to execute and file on behalf of the County of Winnebago, Illinois all required grant 
agreements with the Illinois Department of Transportation. 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that this Ordinance shall be effective on its adoption. 

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED, that this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare 
and deliver certified copies of this Ordinance to the Winnebago County Chief Operations 
Officer, Chief Strategy Officer, County Finance Director, County Administrator, and the County 
Auditor. 



 

      Respectfully Submitted,                                                                                                                                                                                     
OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 
AGREE  DISAGREE 

 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 
 

 VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 

PAUL ARENA  
 

 PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

 JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

 JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 

   
 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of  
 

Winnebago, Illinois this _______day of ____________________2025. 
 
 

 
 

ATTESTED BY: JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 













County Board Meeting: May 22, 2025 

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by: Keith McDonald, Committee Chair 
Submitted by: Operations & Administrative Committee 

2025 CR ____ 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF THE ACCEPTANCE OF THE
SPECIAL WARRANTY (GRANT FOR RURAL TRANSPORTATION) 

WHEREAS, Section 5311 of the Federal Transit Act of 1964, as amended, makes funds 
available to help offset certain operating deficits of a system providing public transit service in 
non-urbanized areas; and 

WHEREAS, 49 U.S.C. § 5333(b) requires that fair and equitable arrangements must be 
made to protect the interests of employees affected by such assistance as a condition of receipt of 
funds under Section 5311; and 

WHEREAS, a simplified process for assuring employee protections that accommodates 
the needs of participants in the Section 5311 program has been agreed upon by the U.S. 
Department of Labor and the U.S. Department of Transportation by allowing execution of a 
Special Section 5333(b) Warranty for Section 5311 projects (Special Warranty), which the 
Secretary of Labor certified on May 31, 1979. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois that: 

Section 1. That an application be made to the Office of Intermodal Project 
Implementation, Department of Transportation, State of Illinois, for a financial assistance grant 
under Section 5311 of the Federal Transit Act of 1964, as amended. 

Section 2.  As a condition of the receipt of Section 5311 funds, County of Winnebago, 
Illinois hereby agrees in writing to the terms and conditions of the Special Warranty (attached) 
regarding fair and equitable arrangements to protect the interests of employees affected by such 
assistance. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be effective on its adoption. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois is directed to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the 
Winnebago County Chief Operating Officer, County Chief Financial Officer, County Chief 
Strategic Officer, County Administrator, the County Auditor, and the County Finance Director. 



 

                                                                    
                                                                                                              Respectfully Submitted, 
                                                    OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 
 

 VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 

PAUL ARENA  
 

 PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

 JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

 JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 

   
 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of  
 

Winnebago, Illinois this _______day of ____________________2025. 
 
 
 

ATTESTED BY: JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



























Resolution Executive Summary 
Committee Date: Thursday, May 15, 2025 
Committee: Operations & Administrative 
Prepared By: Lafakeria Vaughn, Chris Dornbush  

County Board Office 
404 Elm Street, Rm 533, Rockford, IL 61101 | wincoil.gov  

Phone: (815) 319- 4225 | E-mail: boardoffice@admin.wincoil.gov 

Document Title: 
Resolution To Approve The Intergovernmental Agreement For 
The Public Safety Building By And Between The County of 
Winnebago And The City Of Rockford 

County Code: Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5 ILCS 200/1 et seq. 
Board Meeting Date: Thursday, May 22, 2025 

Budget Information: 
Was item budgeted? NA Appropriation Amount:   $0 
If not, explain funding source:   
ORG - OBJ - Project Code: Budget Impact: NA 

Background Information: 
The Public Safety Building (PSB) was constructed in 1974 pursuant to a Memorandum of 

Understanding and Agreement by and between the County and the City of Rockford (City). In 
January of 1985 the County and City entered into an IGA to establish management of the building 
and its services, functions, and facilities. This also outlined interests in ownership for equipment 
and furnishings with operational costs associated. April 2015, a new IGA was created for a lease, 
demolition of the PSB site to grade level, not including the adjacent maintenance garage, and 
transfer. This established roles and responsibilities related to the costs, construction, 
deconstruction, and operations of the PSB due to shared ownership. Due to the 2015 IGA, in 2017 
the County became the equitable owner of the property and the City leased space from the County. 
March 2019, the County exercised its termination clause within the lease which became effective 
March of 2020. No deconstruction of the building occurred after 2020. This new IGA (2025) 
encompasses the transfer of the building ownership from the City to the County, vacation of S. 
Court St. between W. State St. and Elm St., and the waiving of Rockford permit fees for the 
renovation of the PSB that is currently underway. 

Recommendation: 
Winnebago County Administration supports the building transfer of ownership and the 

vacation of South Court Street, under the PSB to have individual ownership of the building and 
property.  

Contract/Agreement: 
Yes 
Legal Review:   
Yes 
Follow-Up: 
NA  

http://www.wincoil.us/
mailto:boardoffice@admin.wincoil.gov


  COUNTY BOARD MEETING: MAY 22, 2025 

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 

2025 CR _______ 
 

SUBMITTED BY:  OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 
 

SPONSORED BY: KEITH MCDONALD 
 
 

RESOLUTION TO APPROVE THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT FOR 
THE PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING BY AND BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF 

WINNEBAGO AND THE CITY OF ROCKFORD 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5 ILCS 220/1 et seq., as 
amended (hereinafter “the Act”), authorizes public agencies to exercise any power or powers, 
privileges or authority which may be exercised by such public agency individually to be 
exercised and enjoyed jointly with any other public agency in the State of Illinois; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois (hereinafter, “County”) and the City of 

Rockford, Illinois (hereinafter, “City”) are both “units of local government” as defined in Article 
7, Section 1 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois and are “public agencies” as defined in 
Section 2 of the Act; and 

WHEREAS, the Public Safety Building (hereinafter, “PSB”) was constructed in 1974 
pursuant to a Memorandum of Understanding and Agreement by and between the County and 
City; and 
 

WHEREAS, on or about January 25, 1985, the County and City entered into an 
Intergovernmental Agreement (hereinafter “1985 IGA”), in part, to establish a plan for functional 
management of the building and its services, operations, functions, and facilities. The 1985 IGA 
also outlined the ownership interests of all equipment and furnishings and the division of 
operational costs; and  
 

WHEREAS, in late April 2015, the Parties entered into a new IGA (hereinafter “2015 
IGA”) for the lease, demolition and transfer of the PSB and set forth the roles and responsibilities 
of the County and City as it related to the costs, construction, deconstruction, and operations for 
the PSB due to the equal ownership share in the land and the PSB facility; and   

  
WHEREAS, on or about March 15, 2019, the County exercised its right to terminate the 

lease pursuant to Section 5(G) of the 2015 IGA, with an effective date of March 15, 2020. 
Subsequently, the City relocated all of its existing functions within the PSB; and  
 



   

2 of 3 
 

WHEREAS, the County did not proceed with the demolition plans for the PSB. After 
much consideration, the County now seeks to repurpose the PSB, rather than demolish the 
building. Thus, in order to move forward with the new plans for the PSB, which includes the City 
perfecting title transfer of its respective parcels to the County, the County and City desire to enter 
in to a new IGA to formalize their responsibilities. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois that the Winnebago County Board Chairman, is authorized and directed to, on 
behalf of the County of Winnebago, Illinois, to execute the attached Intergovernmental Agreement 
for the Public Safety Building (PSB) by and between the County of Winnebago, Illinois and the 
City of Rockford, Illinois. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its adoption. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby directed 

to prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Winnebago County Chief 
Operating Officer, County Chief Financial Officer, County Administrator, the County Auditor, 
and the County Finance Director. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



   

3 of 3 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
                                                    OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 
AGREE  DISAGREE 

 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 
 

 VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 

PAUL ARENA  
 

 PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

 JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

 JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 

   
 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of  
 

Winnebago, Illinois this _______day of ____________________2025. 
 
 

 
 

ATTESTED BY: JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 

 



1 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT  
FOR THE PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING (PSB) 

This Intergovernmental Agreement (hereinafter “Agreement”) is made this ______ day of 
__________________, 2025, by and between the City of Rockford, Illinois, a municipal 
corporation (hereinafter “City”) and the County of Winnebago, Illinois, a body politic and 
corporate, (hereinafter “County”). The City and County are collectively referred to herein as 
“Parties” or individually as a “Party”. 

RECITALS 

A. The City of Rockford, Illinois is a duly organized and existing municipal corporation
create under the provisions of the laws of the State of Illinois, and is now operating under and 
pursuant to the provisions of the Municipal Code, as amended (65 ILCS 5/1 et seq.; the Municipal 
Code”), is a “unit of local government” as defined in Article 7, Section 1 of the Constitution of the 
State of Illinois, and is a “public agency” as defined in Section 2 of the Intergovernmental 
Cooperation Act, as amended, 5 ILCS 220/1 et seq. (hereinafter “the Act”). 

B. The County of Winnebago, Illinois is a duly organized and existing county created
under the provision of the Counties Code, as amended (55 ILCS 5/1 et seq.; “the Counties Code”), 
is a “unit of local government” as defined in Article 7, Section 1 of the Constitution of the State 
of Illinois, and is a “public agency” as defined in Section 2 of the Act. 

C. Section 3 of the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act provides that “[a]ny power or
powers, privileges, functions or authority exercised or which may be exercised by a public agency 
of this State may be exercised, combined, transferred and enjoyed jointly with any other public 
agency of this State…” 

D. Section 5 of the Act provides that “[a]ny one or more public agencies may contract
with any one or more other public agencies to perform any governmental services, activity or 
undertaking or to combine, transfer, or exercise any powers, functions, privileges, or authority 
which any of the public agencies entering into the contract is authorized by law to perform, 
provided that such contract shall be approved by the governing bodies of each party to the contract 
and except where specifically and expressly prohibited by law. Such contract shall set forth fully 
the purposes, powers, rights, objectives and responsibilities of the contracting parties.” 

E. The Public Safety Building (hereinafter “PSB”) was constructed in 1974 pursuant to a
Memorandum of Understanding and Agreement by and between the City and County. 

F. On or about January 25, 1985, the Parties entered into an Intergovernmental Agreement
(hereinafter “1985 IGA”), in part, to establish a plan for functional management of the building 
and its services, operations, functions, and facilities. The 1985 IGA also outlined the ownership 
interests of all equipment and furnishings and the division of operational costs.  

G. In late April 2015, the Parties entered into a new IGA (hereinafter “2015 IGA”) for
the lease, demolition and transfer of the PSB. See attached Exhibit A. The Parties mutually agreed 
that it was in the best interest of the public and the collective taxpayers that the PSB be de-



2 

commissioned and demolished to at-grade, thereby leaving the parking structure, along with the 
building uses below grade, including the tunnel connection from the County Courthouse to the 
Winnebago County Criminal Justice Center. The vehicle maintenance garage adjacent to the PSB 
would remain.  

H. The 2015 IGA set forth the roles and responsibilities of the Parties as it
related to the costs, construction, deconstruction, and operations for the PSB due to the equal 
ownership share in the land and the PSB facility.  

I. Pursuant to the 2015 IGA, in 2017 the County became equitable owner of the
property and the City leased space in the PSB from the County. 

J. On or about March 15, 2019, the County exercised its right to terminate the lease
pursuant to Section 5(G) of the 2015 IGA, with an effective date of March 15, 2020. Subsequently, 
the City relocated all of its existing functions within the PSB.  

K. The County did not proceed with the demolition plans for the PSB. After much
consideration, the County now seeks to repurpose the PSB, rather than demolish the building. 
Thus, in order to move forward with the new plans for the PSB, which includes the City perfecting 
title transfer of its respective parcels to the County, the Parties desire to enter in to this Agreement 
to formalize the Parties’ responsibilities. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above recitals, and the mutual covenants, terms 
and provisions contained herein, the Parties agree as follows: 

1. RECITALS. The above recitals are incorporated in this Agreement by this reference and
made a part of this Agreement.

2. CURRENT PSB OWNERSHIP STATUS. The PSB facility is approximately 186,000
square feet, of which 142,000 is above-grade on three (3) levels. The first floor above-
grade structure of the PSB is bisected by Court Street, a 66-foot public right-of-way
running north-south and owned by the City. Approximately one-third (1/3) of the
basement, and 2nd — 4th floors of the PSB is beneath and over the Court Street right-of-
way. Parcel A, which is approximately 1.14 acres of property and is located west and
adjacent to the Court Street right-of-way. The vehicle maintenance garage is located on
Parcel A, along with the substructure of the PSB, and approximately one-third (1/3) of the
above-grade PSB structure. Approximately one-third (1/3) of the substructure and above-
grade structure of the PSB lies beneath a portion of Parcel B, which is two (2) acres of
property that is owned by the County and is located east and adjacent to the Court Street
right-of-way. Parcel A, Parcel B, and the Court Street right-of-way are further depicted and
described in Exhibit A, which is attached hereto and made a part of this Agreement.



 

3 
 

3. CITY RESPONSIBILITIES 
a. Subject to Rockford City Council approval, the City will perfect conveyance of the 

title to the PSB property to the County. Specifically, the City’s title conveyance 
shall include the PSB structure, along with the vehicle maintenance garage and its 
accompanied real estate ownership of Parcel A, via a Quit Claim Deed. The City 
will also relinquish its ownership and rights-of-way of Court Street by vacating 
Court Street between West State Street and Elm Street. See the map attached as 
Exhibit A. The City will collaborate with the County to effectuate the transfer of 
the City owned parcels to the County. 

b. Upon submittal of appropriate building permits for repurposing the building, the 
City will waive building plan review and permit fees for the initial remodeling.  
 
 

4. COUNTY RESPONSIBILITIES 
a. Subject to Winnebago County Board approval, the County will accept title 

conveyance of the City owned parcels pursuant to a Quit Claim Deed, as outlined 
in Exhibit A.  

b. The County will collaborate with the City to effectuate the transfer of the City 
owned parcels to the County. 
 

5. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Agreement shall be in full force and effect as of the date written 
above.  
 

6. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement (including each Exhibit attached hereto, which 
is hereby incorporated herein by reference) constitutes the entire Agreement between the 
parties hereto and it supersedes all prior agreements, negotiations and discussions between 
the parties relative to the subject matter hereof. Any amendments shall be by written 
instrument executed by the parties hereto, acting therein by their duly authorized 
representatives. 
 

7. INDEMNIFICATION. Each party to this Agreement shall indemnify and hold harmless 
the other party to this Agreement against all claims, suits, costs, expenses, judgments, and 
attorney’s fees caused or occasioned by the actions or omissions of the offending party or 
their employees, officials or agents, with respect to the performance of this Agreement. 
Either party hereto which contracts with a third-party service provider to effectuate the 
purposes of this Agreement shall be solely and exclusively liable to the non-contracting 
party for any actions of the third-party service provider and shall indemnify and hold 
harmless the non-contracting party as set forth above. The contracting party shall also bear 
all costs of said contracts. The indemnification in this Agreement shall only benefit the 
parties to this Agreement and are not intended to benefit any third party. Further, nothing 
in this Agreement shall limit the ability of a party to seek recovery from a third-party 
contractor for damages sustained or occasioned by that third party. 
 



4 

8. NOTICES. All notices, approvals, demands, requests or other documents required or
permitted under this Agreement, shall be in writing and shall be deemed properly given if
hand delivered or sent by nationally recognized overnight carrier or mailed by certified
mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, to the following addresses:

If to the COUNTY:

Winnebago County
Attn: Patrick Thompson, County Administrator
Winnebago County Administration Building
404 Elm Street, Room 533
Rockford, Illinois 61101

If to the CITY: 

City of Rockford 
Attn: Todd Cagnoni, City Administrator  
425 E. State Street, 8th floor  
Rockford, Illinois 61104 

Receipt of any notice shall be effective upon receipt, if delivered personally, or one (1) day 
after mailing if sent by overnight carrier, or three (3) days after deposit in the United States 
mail, with proper postage and properly addressed.  

9. GOVERNING LAW. The Parties agree this Agreement has been executed and delivered
in Illinois and that their relationship and any and all disputes, controversies or claims
arising under this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Illinois. The
parties further agree that the exclusive venue for all such disputes shall be the Circuit Court
of the 17th Judicial Circuit of Winnebago County, Illinois.

10. HEADINGS. Sections and other headings contained in this Agreement are for reference
purposes only and are not intended to describe, interpret, define or limit the scope, extent
or intent of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

11. SEVERABILITY.  If any provisions, covenants, agreements or portions of this
Agreement or its application to any person, entity or property is held invalid, such
invalidity shall not invalidate any other portion of this Agreement. The Parties intend to be
bound to this agreement even in the event that a portion of the agreement is declared
invalid, in accordance with law.

12. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall
be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument.



5 

13. WAIVERS. No terms or provisions hereof shall be deemed waived and no breach excused,
unless such waiver or consent shall be in writing and signed by the party claimed to have
waived or consented.  Any consent by any party to, or waiver of, a breach by the other,
whether express or implied, shall not constitute consent to, waiver of, or excuse for any
other different or subsequent breach.

14. NO WARRANTIES/REPRESENTATIONS. The City represents that the property is
being sold 'as is' and 'where is' with all faults, known or unknown, and City makes no
warranties, express or implied, regarding the condition, title, or suitability of the property
for any particular purpose. The County acknowledges that they have conducted their own
inspection of the property and are not relying on any representations made by the City
regarding the property's condition or fitness for use.

15. AUTHORITY. The County and City each warrant to the other that they have the authority
to enter into this Agreement and that the person or persons executing this Agreement on
their behalf has been duly authorized to act as the representative or officer of each
respective party in affixing their signatures to the Agreement. The County and City hereto
agree to sign such documents, enact such ordinances or resolutions, or perform such further
obligations as may be necessary to effectuate the purposes of this Agreement.

<signature page follows> 



 

6 
 

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by 
their duly authorized representatives. 

 

COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS      
a body politic and corporate 
 

________________________________   
Joseph V. Chiarelli       
Chairman of the County Board of the   
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 

ATTEST:   

 

____________________________    
Lori Gummow 
Clerk of the County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 
 

 

CITY OF ROCKFORD, ILLINOIS 
a municipal corporation 
 

____________________________________            
Thomas P. McNamara 
Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________    
Angela L. Hammer 
Interim City Legal Director 









































































    Resolution Executive Summary 

Prepared By: Winnebago County State’s Attorney’s Office  
Committee: Operations & Administrative Committee  
Committee Date: May 15, 2025 
Board Meeting Date: May 22, 2025 
Resolution Title:  Resolution Declaring Vacancy in Winnebago County Board District 12 
County Code:  Chapter 2, Article VI, Division 3  
Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?  N/A     Appropriation Amount:   $0 

If not, explain funding source: 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code: 

FY2025 Budget Impact: 

Background Information: Jaime Salgado, duly elected County Board member, resigned from 
Winnebago County Board, District 12, effective May 4, 2025. 

Pursuant to the Election Code, 10 ILCS 5/25-11, when a vacancy occurs in any elective office, the 
County Board shall declare that such a vacancy exists and notification thereof shall be given to 
the county central committee or the appropriate county board or board of commissioners district 
committee of each established political party within three (3) days of the occurrence of the 
vacancy and the vacancy shall be filled within sixty (60) days by appointment of the Winnebago 
County Board Chairman with the advice and consent of the county board. 

Pursuant to 10 ILCS 5/25-11, the appointee shall be a member of the same political party as the 
person he or she succeeds was at the time of his election and shall be otherwise eligible to serve; 
and 

Pursuant to 10 ILCS 5/7-11.1 and 10 ILCS 5/25-11, such appointment shall be until the next 
general election on November 3, 2026, at which time the vacated office shall be filled by special 
election for the remainder of the term. 

Recommendation: State’s Attorney’s Office and County Administration recommends approval 

Contract/Agreement: N/A  

Legal Review:  Yes. 

Follow-Up:  N/A        



    County Board Meeting: May 22, 2025 

RESOLUTION 
OF THE 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

2025 CR _______ 

SUBMITTED BY:  OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

SPONSORED BY:  KEITH MCDONALD 

RESOLUTION DECLARING VACANCY IN 
WINNEBAGO COUNTY BOARD DISTRICT 12 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Board was duly organized pursuant to 55 ILCS 5/1-
3005; and 

WHEREAS, Jaime Salgado, duly elected County Board member, resigned from 
Winnebago County Board, District 12, effective May 4, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, at the time of his election, Jaime Salgado was a member of the Democratic 
Party; and   

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Election Code, 10 ILCS 5/25-11, when a vacancy occurs in 
any elective office, the County Board shall declare that such a vacancy exists and notification 
thereof shall be given to the county central committee or the appropriate county board or board of 
commissioners district committee of each established political party within three (3) days of the 
occurrence of the vacancy and the vacancy shall be filled within sixty (60) days by appointment 
of the Winnebago County Board Chairman with the advice and consent of the county board; and  

WHEREAS, in accordance with Illinois law, the Central Committees of the Winnebago 
County Democratic Party and Winnebago County Republican Party were each notified of the 
vacancy on May 4, 2025; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to 10 ILCS 5/25-11, the appointee shall be a member of the same 
political party as the person he or she succeeds was at the time of his election and shall be otherwise 
eligible to serve; and  

WHEREAS, the vacancy occurred with more than twenty-eight (28) months remaining in 
the unexpired term of the county board member; and 



WHEREAS, pursuant to 10 ILCS 5/7-11.1 and 10 ILCS 5/25-11, such appointment shall 
be until the next general election on November 3, 2026, at which time the vacated office shall be 
filled by special election for the remainder of the term.  

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois that a vacancy is hereby declared to exist on the Winnebago County Board for District 12. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this Resolution shall be in full force and effect 
immediately upon its adoption. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 



                             Respectfully submitted, 
                                                        OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

AGREE     DISAGREE 

 
__________________________________       __________________________________  
Keith McDonald, Chair                                  Keith McDonald, Chair 
 
_________________________________         __________________________________ 
Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chair        Valerie Hanserd, Vice Chair     
 
_________________________________         __________________________________ 
Paul Arena                   Paul Arena          
 
_________________________________         __________________________________ 
John Butitta        John Butitta    
 
__________________________________       __________________________________ 
Joe Hoffman                                     Joe Hoffman 
  
__________________________________       __________________________________ 
Michael Thompson                              Michael Thompson 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              
__________________________________       __________________________________ 
                             

 
 
The above and foregoing Ordinance was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____ day of _________________, 2025. 
 

                      ________________________________  
                                                                             Joseph V. Chiarelli, Chairman of the 

     County Board of the County of    
     Winnebago, Illinois 

ATTEST: 
 

______________________________   
Lori Gummow, Clerk of the   
County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 



Resolution Executive Summary 
For CIP Projects 

Prepared By: Purchasing Department for Coroner’s Office  
Committee Name: Operations and Administrative Committee 
Committee Date: May 15, 2025 
Board Date:  May 22, 2025     
Resolution Title: Resolution Awarding Purchase of Transit Van for Coroner’s Office Using 

Fee Funds 

Budget Information 
Budgeted? YES   Amount Budgeted? $90,000 
If not, originally budgeted, explain the funding source?  
If CIP funded, original Board approved amount?  $90,000  
Over or Under approved amount? UNDER   By: $22,193 
Reason for CIP increase?  N/A 
ORG/OBJ/Project Codes: 41900-46410   Descriptor: Coroner Fee Fund 
Budget Impact? $67,807 

Background Information: The Winnebago County Coroner’s Office is requesting to purchase a 
Ford Transit Van using Coroner Fee Funds.  

Purchasing obtained three quotes to purchase a 2025 Transit 150 Van (See Resolution Exhibit A). 
Quotes include dealer discounted pricing and government GSA pricing for vehicles. Additional 
quotes are also provided for vehicle outfitting.  

Brad Manning Ford of Dekalb presented the lowest quote for the vehicle (See Resolution Exhibit 
B). The Coroner’s Office would like to order the vehicle for $52,466 and have the vehicle outfitted 
for $15,341 (Resolution Exhibit C). The vehicle being replaced will be sold by the Purchasing 
Department on govdeals.com when it becomes available. When possible, elements of the existing 
vehicle are reused by the outfitting vendor.  

Recommended By:  Coroner Jen Muraski and Deputy Coroner Matt Lane 

Follow-Up Steps:  Purchasing Department will issue Purchase Orders to the appropriate 
vendors. 



County Board Meeting: May 22, 2025 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Keith McDonald 
Submitted by:  Operations and Administrative Committee 

2025 CR 

RESOLUTION AWARDING PURCHASE OF TRANSIT VAN FOR CORONER’S OFFICE USING FEE FUNDS 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the County of Winnebago, Illinois, provides as in 
Section 2-357 (b) (1), Conditions for use. All procurements whose value equals or exceeds the 
competitive bidding threshold of $30,000.00 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding in 
accordance with this section except as otherwise provided in 2-357(c) (Request for Proposals), 2-
357(d) (Professional Services), 2-357(e) (Sole-Source), 2-357(f) (Emergency Procurements), 2-357 
(g) (Cooperative Joint Purchasing) or as provided by State statute; and,

WHEREAS, Winnebago County Coroner’s Office has requested the purchase of a 2025
Ford Transit 150, fully outfitted, using the coroner fee funds; and, 

WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department obtained three (3) quotes for the vehicle, 
including quotes with government pricing; and, 

WHEREAS, the Coroner’s Office also obtained quotes for the outfitting of the new 
vehicles, including the removal and installation for reuse of some existing equipment; and, 

WHEREAS, the Operations and Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the quotes for vehicles and the outfitting for the 
aforementioned purchase and recommends awarding to:  

MULTIPLE VENDORS 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that the Director of Purchasing is authorized to issue Purchase Orders 
in the amount of $67,807, on behalf of the County of Winnebago, to Brad Manning Ford, 
402 Manning Drive, Dekalb, Illinois 60115; Charles Brown, DBA Rockford Communications, 720 
Lorden Court, Rockford, Illinois 61104; Mortuary Mall, PO BOX 17, Wilton, CT 06897; and Foster 
Coach Sales, Inc., 903 Prosperity Drive, Sterling, IL 61081. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective 
immediately upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to 
prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Director of Purchasing, Finance 
Director, Administrator, County Coroner, County Board Office and County Auditor.        



Respectfully Submitted, 
       OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 
 

                            VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 

PAUL ARENA 
 
 

                                                                             PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

                                                                         JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                          JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 
 

 MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

   
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



Rock River Ford 

Rockford, IL

Brad Manning Ford  

DeKalb, IL
Morrow Brother's Ford 

Greenfield, IL

Transit 150 56,463$     52,466$   56,677$    

Outfitting 15,341$     15,341$   15,341$    

71,805$     67,807$   72,018$    

Outfitting:

$3,520.00 Charles Brown, DBA Rockford Communications

$8,640.13 Foster Coach

$819.01 Bulk Hat - Ford Vendor

$500.00 Latch Set for Cot - Vischer Funeral Supplies

$1,862.00 Mortuary Mall

$15,341.14

QUOTE TAB
25NB-2411

CORONER'S TRANSIT VAN USING CIP 2025 FUNDS

Purchasing Department  |  404 Elm St, Rm 202, Rockford, IL 61101  |  www.wincoil.gov

Phone: (815) 319- 4380   |  Email: purchasing@purchasing.wincoil.gov







Winnebago County Coroner’s Oce
403 Elm Street 2nd Floor
Rockord, IL 61101
Mobile: (815) 670-8082
MLane@coroner.wincoil.gov

Description Price QTY HRS Subtotal

Labor: Remove old foor, Install plywood to rame, install new Lonseal
fooring, add Stainless trim and install power-load. Install bulkhead
directly behind ront seating

40 $7,800.00

Part: LONPLATE 1 ROLL 6' X 60' DYE LOT LA-70/22 #637
Part #: P163

$62.20 9 $559.80

Part: 3/4 x 4 x 8 Plywood Sheathing
Part #: 3/4 x 4 x 8 Plywood Sheathing

$42.53 3 $127.59

Part: Custom Stainless Trim $76.37 2 $152.74

Total: $8,640.13

DO NOT PAY BASED OFF THIS. INVOICE WILL FOLLOW.

Estimates provided are an approximation o timing and charges to you or the
services requested. They are based on the anticipated work to be done. It is possible
or unexpected complications to cause some deviation rom the original quote. You
hereby authorize the repair work described in this estimate to be done along with the
procurement o the necessary material(s), including permission to operate the vehicle
or on-road testing or inspection. I any additional repairs are required, we will prepare
a revised work order providing the cost o additional parts and labor and total revised
cost. All parts are new unless specied otherwise.

Deposits are non-reundable. No returns or reunds on special ordered items or
electrical parts. There is no warranty or used parts or customer supplied parts.

You agree that we are not responsible or loss or damage to your vehicle, including
loss o articles let in the vehicle, including, without limitation, in case o re, thet, or
any other cause(s) beyond our control.

Labor ................................................. $7,800.00
Parts .................................................... $840.13

Subtotal ...................................... $8,640.13
Tax ..................................................... $0.00

Grand Total ..................................... $8,640.13
Paid to Date ........................................ ($0.00)

REMAINING BALANCE $8,640.13

We are not responsible or any delays caused by unavailability o parts or delays in delivery o parts by the supplier or transporter. You have the right to know
beore authorizing any additional repairs what those repairs will be and what they will cost. I required repairs exceed the authorized estimated amount, we
must obtain your approval to perorm the repairs. We will keep you inormed and perorm only repairs authorized by you.

Signature

Foster Coach
903 Prosperity Drive
Sterling , IL 61081
(815) 625-3276
service@ostercoach.com
ostercoach.com

Estimate #3409
Created: 02/10/2025

Payment Term: On Receipt
Service Writer: Delon Bland

Powered by Mon 2/10/2025 — Page 1 o 1



PRICE QUOTATION
  Quote Date:   5/7/2025

Wilton, CT 06897-0017   Quote #:  250507-9
Toll-Free: 1-844-MORT-MALL

FAX: 1-844-MORT-MALL

Quote Coroner Jennifer P. Muraski
Prepared Winnebago County Coroner’s Office
For 403 Elm Street, 2nd Floor

Rockford, IL  61101
815-319-4970

Qty Item # Unit Price Total (Qty x Price)

2.00 MOBI-US-BR $749.00 $1,498.00

Subtotal   $1,498.00

Sales Tax   NA

Shipping   $364.00

Total   $1,862.00

This price quotation is valid for 14 days after the quote date above.

PLEASE NOTE THE FOLLOWING: Mobi said the shipping 

lead time for this order would be approximately 4-6 

weeks after date of order.

PO Box 17

Description

MOBI Mortuary Cot Bed & Ramp



5/5/2025
To-WINNEBAGO COUNTY CORONER/ MATT LANE
From-Charles Browne
           Rockford Communications
          720 Lorden Ct. Rockford. IL 61104 815-742-2842

Hi MATT
Subject-Costs to outfit new 2025 FORD TRANSIT  WITH  LIGHTS, AND IGNITION OVERRIDE

Quantity Brand Description PaRT# Cost ext
1 secure idle ES350 IGNITION OVERRIDE 250.00$                              250.00$                   
1 STL VISOR LIGHT raptor tir o 350.00$                              350.00$                   
1 STL TRANSIT MOUNT FOR VISOR LIGHT o 75.00$                                75.00$                     
1 STL REAR TRAFFIC ADVISOR LIGHT BAR WITH EXTENSION(SPLIT) VLMC8 o 500.00$                              500.00$                   TRI COLOR
1 STL DIRECT CONTOL BOX TRAFFIC ADVISOR o 30.00$                                30.00$                     
1 FEDERAL SI BRAKE LIGHT FLASHER FA6 65.00$                                65.00$                     
2 WHELEN CLEAR VERTEX HIDE AWQAYS 100.00$                              200.00$                   
6 STL Z12 TIR LED GRILLE 2-side-2 rear door s -grille Z12 o 78.00$                                468.00$                   2 IN FRONT GRILLE 2 IN REAR SIDE WINDOWS
4 PROGRAMMING BUTTONS 8.00$                                  32.00$                     

S100

PARTS TOTAL 1,970.00$               
LABOR 1,500.00$               
FREIGHT 50.00$                     
TRANSIT TOTAL 3,520.00$               



Hi Hope, 
 
We can make them in grey, black or white as well. 
 

FORD TRANSIT LOW ROOF (WB 130”) 

PART NUMBER DESCRIPTION PRICE/UNIT 

MI-LIN346GRY WINDOW PARTITION GRY $819.01 

All prices are in USD and exclude taxes, duties and shipping 
 
Best regards 
 
Simi Omotehinwa  
Account Manager - Composites 
 

 
 
Toll Free Phone 1 877 859 8591 • Ext.128 
Toll Free Fax 1 877 817 1745 
Cell 1 506 378 9432 
 
www.malleyindustries.com 
 

       

 

Click here to subscribe to our newsletter. 
 
CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: The contents of this email message and any attachments are intended solely for the addressee(s) 
and may contain confidential and/or privileged information and may be legally protected from disclosure. If you are not the intended 
recipient of this message or their agent, or if this message has been addressed to you in error, please immediately alert the sender 
by reply email and then delete this message and any attachments. If you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that 
any use, dissemination, copying, or storage of this message or its attachments is strictly prohibited. 

 

https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fwww.malleyindustries.com%2f&c=E,1,9AwV9Cz6nhMzgX56B6YXJi1wET6RJTQlsyryBxQ3snC1EIJBMyoUbISnNItuodd_MXqlMR_gckZtiIVPHugs5ldXCjBOV1B5-lnecQ0XPQ,,&typo=1
https://linkprotect.cudasvc.com/url?a=http%3a%2f%2fmalleyindustries.com%2fnewsletter&c=E,1,DCtBiHUNFgt12CjsQhbBfo3E11N6NKeZFppSkYX0F4pbYibDa-ufqHRzxH-YN4slQ_CZ6fNA282CV-XB2Ga_KdPzVl0uiUvWejdl9CnRG8gU&typo=1
https://www.facebook.com/malleyindustries
https://twitter.com/malleyind
http://www.youtube.com/c/malleyindustries


Resolution Executive Summary 
 CIP Projects 

Prepared By: Purchasing Department for Facilities 
Committee Name: Operations and Administrative Committee 
Committee Date: May 15, 2025 
Board Date:  May 22, 2025     
Resolution Title: Resolution Awarding Replacement of 1st Floor Air Handler at Adult 

Probation and Wellness Center Using CIP 2025 Funds 

Budget Information 
Budgeted?  YES   Amount Budgeted?  $120,000    CIP 2025 
If not, originally budgeted, explain the funding source?   N/A 
If CIP funded, original Board approved amount?   $120,000  
Over or Under approved amount? UNDER   By: $22,280 
ORG/OBJ/Project Codes: 82200-46320-C2521 Descriptor: CIP 2025 – Building Improvement 
Budget Impact?  $97,720 

Background Information: The 1st floor Air handler at the Adult Probation and Wellness Center 
is a Rheem unit with a Trane condensing unit. These units, combined, provide all the cooling 
needs and some of the heating for the 1st floor of Adult Probation and the Wellness Center. 
The air handler on the 1st floor was manufactured in October of 1987 and condensing unit from 
April 1999. The estimated life span of a Rheem air handler is 10-15 years.  The unit is no longer 
warranted due to its almost 40 years of age and it is at the end of its useful life.   

Purchasing issued IFB#25B-2398, went out for bid April 7, 2025, which yielded five (5) bids with 
the lowest bid received from LM Sheet Metal Inc. of Loves Park $97,720, per the attached Bid 
Tab (see Resolution Exhibit A). 

The Invitation for Bid was emailed to 43 potential bidders and local suppliers, including Local 23 
Plumbers and Pipefitters and Northern IL Buildings Contractors, and was also publicly advertised 
in the RRStar and on County website. The pre-bid meeting was attended by representatives from 
seven (7) vendors, and yielded five (5) Bids. 

Recommended By:  Shawn Franks, Facilities 

Follow-Up Steps:  Purchasing Department will issue Purchase Order to LM Sheet Metal Inc. of 
Loves Park in the amount of $97,720.   



County Board Meeting: May 22, 2025 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Keith McDonald 
Submitted by:  Operations and Administrative Committee 

2025 CR 

 RESOLUTION AWARDING REPLACEMENT OF 1ST FLOOR AIR HANDLER AT ADULT PROBATION AND 
WELLNESS CENTER USING CIP 2025 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the County of Winnebago, Illinois, provides as in 
Section 2-357 (b) (1), Conditions for use. All procurements whose value equals or exceeds the 
competitive bidding threshold of $30,000 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding in 
accordance with this section except as otherwise provided in 2-357(c) (Request for Proposals), 2-
357(d) (Professional Services), 2-357(e) (Sole-Source), 2-357(f) (Emergency Procurements), 2-357 
(g) (Cooperative Joint Purchasing) or as provided by State statute; and,

WHEREAS, the Air Handler is in need of replacement; and, 

WHEREAS, the County went out for Bid #25B-2398 Wellness and 1st Floor Air Handler 
Replacement Winnebago County Adult Probation and Wellness Center; and, 

WHEREAS, the Operations and Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the Bid Tab (Resolution Exhibit A) for the 
aforementioned purchase and recommends awarding to:  

LM Sheet Metal Inc. 
6727 Elm Avenue 

Loves Park, IL 61111 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that the Director of Purchasing is authorized to issue a County 
Purchase Order, on behalf of the County of Winnebago, in the amount of $97,720 to LM 
Sheet Metal Inc., 6727 Elm Avenue, Loves Park, IL 61111. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective 
immediately upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to 
prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the States Attorney Office, Director 
of Purchasing, Finance Director, Facilities Director, County Board Office and County Auditor.  



Respectfully Submitted, 
          OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 
 

                            VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 

PAUL ARENA 
 
 

                                                                             PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

                                                                         JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                          JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
    
 

   
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 

 

 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



VENDOR NAME
Hartwig Mechanical LLC 

Harvard, IL

Ceroni Piping Company 

Cherry Valley, IL 

Complete Mechanical 

Solutions      

Machesney Park, IL

Miller Engineering Company 

Rockford, IL 

LM Sheet Metal Inc.  

Loves Park, IL 

PRICE FOR PARTS $37,435 $119,700 $87,669 $64,700 $47,500

PRICE FOR LABOR $61,965 $16,450 $28,952 $37,000 $50,270

TOTAL PROJECT PRICE $99,400 $136,150 $116,621 $101,700 $97,720

LEAD DAYS FOR MATERIAL 6 Weeks 4-6 Weeks Stock 6 Weeks 42 Days (6 Weeks)

NUMBER OF DAYS TO 

COMPLETE WORK 
14 Days 14 Days 14 Days 15 Days 14 Days 

BID TAB
25B-2398 1ST FLOOR AIR HANDLER REPLACEMENT ADULT PROBATION 

BID OPENING - MAY 7, 2025 AT 11:00 AM

Winnebago County Purchasing Department

404 Elm St, Rm 202, Rockford, IL 61101 | www.wincoil.gov

Phone: (815) 319- 4380 | Email: purchasing@purchasing.wincoil.gov



Resolution Executive Summary 
 CIP Projects 

Prepared By: Purchasing Department for Facilities 
Committee Name: Operations and Administrative Committee 
Committee Date: May 15, 2025 
Board Date:  May 22, 2025     
Resolution Title: Resolution Awarding Parking Lot Repaving for the Juvenile Justice Center 

Using CIP 2023 Funds  

Budget Information 
Budgeted?  YES   Amount Budgeted?  $300,000   
If not, originally budgeted, explain the funding source?   N/A 
If CIP funded, original Board approved amount?   $300,000  
Over or Under approved amount? UNDER   By: $129,542 
ORG/OBJ/Project Codes: 82200-46310-C2335 Descriptor: CIP 2023 – Building Improvement 
Budget Impact?  $170,458 

Background Information: The north and south parking lots of the Juvenile Justice Center 
building are in desperate need of repaving.  They are original to the construction of the building 
in approximately 1972, have been patched throughout the years, and are now beyond repair.  

With the help of the County Highway Department providing bid specifications, Purchasing went 
out for bid IFB 25B-2401 Parking Lot Replacements for the Juvenile Justice Center at the 
beginning of April, which yielded three (3) bids with the lowest bid received from Norwest 
Construction, Inc. at $170,458, per the attached Bid Tab (see Resolution Exhibit A). This total 
allows for both the north and south lots of the Juvenile Justice Center to be repaved 
simultaneously saving us approximately $17,106 if the work was complete separately.  

The Invitation for Bid was emailed to several local vendors, including the Northern Illinois Building 
Contractors Association (NIPCA), Project First Rate and also publicly advertised in the RRStar, the 
County website and the nationwide bidding platform, DemandStar.  

Recommended By:  Shawn Franks, Facilities Director, and Carlos Molina, County Engineer. 

Follow-Up Steps:  Purchasing Department will issue Purchase Order to Norwest Construction, 
Inc. in the amount of $170,458.   



County Board Meeting:  May 22, 2025 
 

 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Keith McDonald, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:   Operations and Administrative Committee 
   

2025 CR 
 

RESOLUTION  AWARDING PARKING LOT REPAVING FOR  
THE JUVENILE JUSTICE CENTER USING CIP 2023 FUNDS 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the County of Winnebago, Illinois, provides as in 
Section 2-357 (b) (1), Conditions for use.  All procurements whose value equals or exceeds the 
competitive bidding threshold of $30,000 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding in 
accordance with this section except as otherwise provided in 2-357(c) (Request for Proposals), 2-
357(d) (Professional Services), 2-357(e) (Sole-Source), 2-357(f) (Emergency Procurements), 2-357 
(g) (Cooperative Joint Purchasing) or as provided by State statute; and, 

          

 

WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department went out for bid 25B-2401 Parking Lots 
Replacements for the Juvenile Justice Center (2) in April to completely replace the north 
and south lots, which are beyond repair and five bid submissions were received; and, 
 

 

           WHEREAS, the Operations and Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the Bid received for the aforementioned project and 
recommends awarding the contract as follows:  

 

NORWEST CONSTRUCTION, INC. 
82 PRAIRIE HILL ROAD 

SOUTH BELOIT, ILLINOIS 61080 
 

(See Bid Tab, Resolution Exhibit A) 
 

 
 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois that the Director of Purchasing is authorized to issue a Purchase Order in the amount of 
$170,458, on behalf of the County of Winnebago, with NORWEST CONSTRUCTION, INC, 82 PRAIRIE 
HILL ROAD, SOUTH BELOIT, ILLINOIS 61080. 
 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective 
immediately upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare 
and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Director of Facilities, Highway Department 
County Engineer, , Director of Purchasing, Board Office, Finance Director and County Auditor. 
 

                    
 



                                        Respectfully Submitted, 
                        OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD 
 
 

                            VALERIE HANSERD 
 

PAUL ARENA 
 
 

                                                                             PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

                                                                         JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                          JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

 MICHAEL THOMPSON 

 
 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 

 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



DESCRIPTIONS UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

1
PAVEMENT REMOVAL SQ YD 1381 $27.65 $38,184.65 $26.00 $35,906.00 $40.00 $55,240.00

2
HMA BC IL-19.0 N50 TON 200 $115.85 $23,170.00 $140.75 $28,150.00 $130.00 $26,000.00

3
HMA SC IL-9.5 C N50 TON 120 $115.85 $13,902.00 $166.25 $19,950.00 $140.00 $16,800.00

4
SIDEWALK REMOVAL SQ FT 1649 $7.30 $12,037.70 $4.50 $7,420.50 $4.00 $6,596.00

5
PC CONC SIDEWALK 4 SQ FT 1649 $8.25 $13,604.25 $9.25 $15,253.25 $10.00 $16,490.00

6
CURB REMOVAL FOOT 700 $25.80 $18,060.00 $21.75 $15,225.00 $4.00 $2,800.00

7
COMB CC&G TB6.24 FOOT 700 $37.95 $26,565.00 $41.00 $28,700.00 $44.00 $30,800.00

8
AGG BASE CSE B TON 176 $29.20 $5,139.00 $66.75 $11,748.00 $35.00 $6,160.00

9 CHAIN LINK FENCE, R & R FOOT 20 $158.10 $3,162.00 $105.00 $2,100.00 $150.00 $3,000.00

10
PAINT PAVT MK LINE 4 FOOT 700 $1.22 $854.00 $1.50 $1,050.00 $2.00 $1,400.00

11
TRAF CONT & PROT SPL L SUM 1 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $12,000.00 $3,925.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00

12
CONSTRUCTION LAYOUT L SUM 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $3,200.00 $3,200.00 $5,500.00 $5,500.00

13
DETECTABLE WARNINGS SQ FT 32 $27.00 $864.00 $42.50 $1,360.00 $45.00 $1,440.00

14
CLEARING SPECIAL L SUM 1 $4,355.00 $4,355.00 $1,785.00 $1,785.00 $5,500.00 $5,500.00

15
DETECTION LOOPS FOOT 164 $40.00 $6,560.00 $30.00 $4,920.00 $30.00 $4,920.00

16
LANDSCAPE RESTORATION L SUM 1 $4,270.00 $4,270.00 $5,910.00 $5,910.00 $8,000.00 $6,600.00

$194,246

VENDOR NAME

TOTAL $170,457.80 $186,602.75

BID TAB- ALTERNATE BID
25B-2401 PARKING LOT REPLACEMENTS FOR THE JUVENILE JUSTICE CENTER (2)

BID OPENING - MAY 7, 2025 @ 2:00 PM

Norwest Construction Inc.  

South Beloit, IL

Stenstrom Exvavation & 

Blacktop Group      

Rockford, IL

Northern Illinois Service 

Company      

Rockford, IL 

Winnebago County Purchasing Department

404 Elm St, Rm 202, Rockford, IL 61101 | www.wincoil.gov

Phone: (815) 319- 4380 | Email: purchasing@purchasing.wincoil.gov

Resolution Exhibit A



DESCRIPTIONS UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

1
PAVEMENT REMOVAL SQ YD 1381 $28.51 $39,372.31 $26.00 $35,906.00 $40.00 $55,240.00

2
HMA BC IL-19.0 N50 TON 200 $134.63 $26,926.00 $140.75 $28,150.00 $130.00 $26,000.00

3
HMA SC IL-9.5 C N50 TON 120 $134.36 $16,123.20 $166.25 $19,950.00 $140.00 $16,800.00

4
SIDEWALK REMOVAL SQ FT 1649 $7.30 $12,037.70 $4.50 $7,420.50 $4.00 $6,596.00

5
PC CONC SIDEWALK 4 SQ FT 1649 $10.25 $16,902.25 $9.25 $15,253.25 $10.00 $16,490.00

6
CURB REMOVAL FOOT 700 $25.80 $18,060.00 $21.75 $15,225.00 $4.00 $2,800.00

7
COMB CC&G TB6.24 FOOT 700 $37.95 $26,565.00 $41.00 $28,700.00 $44.00 $30,800.00

8
AGG BASE CSE B TON 176 $39.65 $6,978.40 $66.75 $11,748.00 $35.00 $6,160.00

9 CHAIN LINK FENCE, R & R FOOT 20 $158.10 $3,162.00 $105.00 $2,100.00 $150.00 $3,000.00

10
PAINT PAVT MK LINE 4 FOOT 700 $2.09 $1,463.00 $1.50 $1,050.00 $2.00 $1,400.00

11
TRAF CONT & PROT SPL L SUM 1 $1,500.00 $1,500.00 $12,000.00 $12,000.00 $5,000.00 $5,000.00

12
CONSTRUCTION LAYOUT L SUM 1 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $3,200.00 $3,200.00 $5,500.00 $5,500.00

13
DETECTABLE WARNINGS SQ FT 32 $27.00 $864.00 $42.50 $1,360.00 $45.00 $1,440.00

14
CLEARING SPECIAL L SUM 1 $5,535.00 $5,535.00 $1,785.00 $1,785.00 $5,500.00 $5,500.00

15
DETECTION LOOPS FOOT 164 $32.35 $5,305.40 $30.00 $4,920.00 $30.00 $4,920.00

16
LANDSCAPE RESTORATION L SUM 1 $4,270.00 $4,270.00 $5,910.00 $5,910.00 $8,000.00 $8,000.00

BID TAB- BASE BID
25B-2401 PARKING LOT REPLACEMENTS FOR THE JUVENILE JUSTICE CENTER (2)

BID OPENING - MAY 7, 2025 @ 2:00 PM

Norwest Construction Inc.  

South Beloit, IL

Stenstrom Exvavation & 

Blacktop Group      

Rockford, IL

Northern Illinois Service 

Company      

Rockford, IL 

$195,646

VENDOR NAME

TOTAL $187,564.26 $194,677.75

Winnebago County Purchasing Department

404 Elm St, Rm 202, Rockford, IL 61101 | www.wincoil.gov

Phone: (815) 319- 4380 | Email: purchasing@purchasing.wincoil.gov

Resolution Exhibit B





Resolution Executive Summary 
For CIP Projects 

Prepared By: Purchasing Department for Sheriff’s Office 
Committee Name: Operations and Administrative Committee 
Committee Date: May 15, 2025 
Board Date:  May 22, 2025     
Resolution Title: Resolution Awarding Purchase of Replacement Truck for Winnebago 

County Sheriff’s Office using CIP PSST 2025 Funds  

Budget Information 
Budgeted? YES   Amount Budgeted?  $55,000 
If not, originally budgeted, explain the funding source?  
If CIP funded, original Board approved amount?   $55,000 
Over or Under approved amount? UNDER   By: 
Reason for CIP increase?  N/A 
ORG/OBJ/Project Codes: 82200-46410-C2522    Descriptor: CIP-PSST 2025 Automobile 
Budget Impact? $55,000 

Background Information: The Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office (WCSO) requested the purchase 
of one vehicle using CIP-PSST 2025 funds. The vehicle for purchase is a 2025 Chevrolet Tahoe. 

The Purchasing Department and the Sheriff’s Office reached out for quotes and availability.  Karl 
Emergency Vehicles presented the best offer for the vehicle and outfitting (See Resolution Exhibit 
A and B).  

Recommended By:  Sheriff Gary Caruana and Deputy Chief Ryan Heavin 

Follow-Up Steps:  Purchasing Department will prepare and submit Purchase Orders to Karl 
Emergency Vehicles in the amount of $55,000. 



    County Board Meeting: May 22, 2025 
 
 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
Sponsored by:   Keith McDonald 
Submitted by:  Operations and Administrative Committee 
 

2025 CR 
 
RESOLUTION AWARDING PURCHASE OF REPLACEMENT TRUCK FOR WINNEBAGO COUNTY 

SHERIFF’S OFFICE USING CIP PSST 2025 FUNDS 

WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances for the County of Winnebago, Illinois, provides as in 
Section 2-357 (b) (1), Conditions for use. All procurements whose value equals or exceeds the 
competitive bidding threshold of $30,000.00 shall be awarded by competitive sealed bidding in 
accordance with this section except as otherwise provided in 2-357(c) (Request for Proposals), 2-
357(d) (Professional Services), 2-357(e) (Sole-Source), 2-357(f) (Emergency Procurements), 2-357 
(g) (Cooperative Joint Purchasing) or as provided by State statute; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Sheriff’s Office requested the purchase of one 
Replacement Truck, using CIP-PSST 2025 funds; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Purchasing Department and the Sheriff’s Office obtained quotes for price 
and delivery, resulting in the lowest price and best lead time from Karl Emergency Vehicles; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, the Operations & Administrative Committee of the County Board for the 

County of Winnebago, Illinois has reviewed the quotes for the Replacement Truck and 
Vehicle Outfitting, (Resolution Exhibit A and B) and recommends awarding the purchases to 
Karl Emergency Vehicles. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, that the Director of Purchasing is authorized to issue Purchase Orders, 
on behalf of the County of Winnebago, Illinois to Karl Emergency Vehicles 5983 NE Industry 
Dr. Des Moines, IA 50313. 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective immediately 
upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to prepare and 
deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Director of Purchasing, Finance Director, 
County Administrator, County Sheriff, County Board Office and County Auditor.    
 
 
 
 
 



Respectfully Submitted, 
       OPERATIONS AND ADMINISTRATIVE COMMITTEE 

 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 
 

  

KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

 KEITH MCDONALD, CHAIR 
 
 

VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 
 

                            VALERIE HANSERD, VICE CHAIR 
 

PAUL ARENA 
 
 

                                                                             PAUL ARENA 
 
 

JOHN BUTITTA 
 

                                                                         JOHN BUTITTA 
 
 

JOE HOFFMAN 
 

                                                                          JOE HOFFMAN 
 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON  MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 
 

   
 
The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH CHIARELLI 
CHAIR OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 



Karl Emergency Vehicles                         

Des Moines, IA

Alan Browne 

Chevrolet                 

Genoa, IL

Currie Motors 

Chevrolet, Inc.                                     

Forest Park, IL

2025 Chevrolet Tahoe 51,600$                             84,210$                         73,580$                                

Outfitting 3,400$                               3,400$                           3,400$                                  

Total 55,000$                             87,610$                         76,980$                                

QUOTE TAB
25NB-2412 

WCSO REPLACE TRUCK USING CIP PSST 2025 FUNDS

Resolution Exhibit A



Karl Emergency Vehicles

5983 NE Industry Dr

Des Moines, IA 50313

Phone: 515-264-6325

Quotation

Quote

To:

Winnebago County Sheriff (IL)

650 W State ST

Rockford, IL 61102

FAX:

13523

Hastings

Inquiry:

05/02/2025

Terms:

UNKNOWN...

WINNE61102

Phone:

Jon Thomas

(815) 319-6000

06/01/2025

Expires:

Quote Number:

Quote Date:

Customer:

Salesman:

Ship Via:

Contact:

2025 Chevrolet Tahoe Special Service

VIN - 1GNS6LED7SR255755

Page 1 of 2

Report Generated:  05/05/2025 12:19:29 PM

Item

Part Number

Description MSRPQuantity Price

Total Line Price

1 LABOR

LABOR TO INSTALL AND FINSH BUILD

- HOURLY STATE BID RATE

$165.0016 $85.00 /HR $1,360.00

2 SA315P

SA315P SPEAKER, BLACK PLASTIC

$403.001 $186.00 /EA $186.00

3 SAK9

SA315 SIREN MT KIT UNIV SWIVEL

$51.001 $30.71 /EA $30.71

4 IONR

ION LIGHT RED

$178.002 $105.02 /EA $210.04

5 IONB

ION LIGHT BLUE

$178.002 $105.02 /EA $210.04

6 PSE02FCR

STRIP-LITE+ DUO FLASHR BLU/WHT

$218.001 $128.62 /EA $128.62

7 PSD02FCR

STRIP-LITE+ DUO FLASHR RED/WHT

$218.001 $128.62 /EA $128.62

8 PSBKT90

STRIP-LITE+ 90 DEG MT KIT

$32.002 $18.66 /EA $37.32

9 IW54UFX

DUO I-E XLP 12-LT 2021 TAHOE

1 $550.00 /EA $550.00

10 SHOP SUPPLIES

Expendable materials used for production

1 $25.00 /EA $25.00

11 HHS4200

SIREN AMP W/ HAND-HELD CONTROL

$856.001 $500.34 /EA $500.34

12 MMBP-25

MAGNETIC MIC CLIP

$49.211 $33.00 /EA $33.00

13 2025 CHEVROLET TAHOE SSV

VIN 1GNS6LED7SR255755

1 $51,600.00 /EA $51,600.00

$54,999.69Total:

Resolution Exhibit B

http://karlvehicles.mye2shop.com/QuickJump?jumpTo=PC8hQEtFWT1QYXJ0Tm88LyFAVkFMVUU9TEFCT1I=
http://karlvehicles.mye2shop.com/QuickJump?jumpTo=PC8hQEtFWT1QYXJ0Tm88LyFAVkFMVUU9TEFCT1I=
http://karlvehicles.mye2shop.com/QuickJump?jumpTo=PC8hQEtFWT1QYXJ0Tm88LyFAVkFMVUU9TEFCT1I=
http://karlvehicles.mye2shop.com/QuickJump?jumpTo=PC8hQEtFWT1QYXJ0Tm88LyFAVkFMVUU9TEFCT1I=


 Quote Number: 13523 (continued from page 1)

Page 2 of 2

Report Generated:  05/05/2025 12:19:29 PM

Item

Part Number

Description MSRPQuantity Price

Total Line Price

Acknowledgement / Date









PUBLIC WORKS 
 COMMITTEE 











































































































































































































































































Public Safety & 
Judiciary 

Committee 



Resolution Executive Summary 
Prepared By: Marlana Dokken 

Committee:  Public Safety & Judiciary Committee 

Committee Date:  May 12, 2025 

Resolution Title:  RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A MUTUAL AID
AGREEMENT WITH THE ILLINOIS CORONERS AND MEDICAL EXAMINERS
ASSOCIATION 

County Code:   Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date: May 22, 2025  

Budget Information: 
Was item budgeted?    n/a  Amount:   n/a 

If not, explain funding source:   n/a 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:   n/a   Budget Impact:   n/a 

Background Information:  The Winnebago County Coroner wishes to prepare for emergencies 
which may require they provide aid and assistance to other county coroners, as well as request 
aid and assistance from other county coroners.  The Winnebago County Coroner’s Office has a 
long-held mutual aid agreement; however, with administrative changes occurring across many 
counties, the Winnebago County Coroner wishes to update the agreement. This 
intergovernmental agreement authorizes Winnebago County Coroner’s participation in the 
Illinois Coroners and Medical Examiners mutual aid agreement effective upon the approval of 
this Resolution. 

Recommendation:    The Winnebago County Coroner recommends approval of agreement. 

Contract/Agreement: Attached 

Legal Review:  The State’s Attorney’s Office has reviewed the agreement. 

Follow-Up:   The Coroner’s Office will proceed with the execution of the agreement(s). 



County Board:  May 22, 2025 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:  Brad Lindmark, Committee Chairman 
Submitted by:  Public Safety & Judiciary Committee 

2025 CR 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT WITH THE
ILLINOIS CORONERS AND MEDICAL EXAMINERS ASSOCIATION 

WHEREAS, the Constitution of the State of Illinois, 1970, Article VII, Section 10, 
authorizes units of local government to contract or otherwise associate among themselves in 
any manner not prohibited by law or ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, the “Intergovernmental Cooperation Act”, 5 ILCS 220/1 et seq., provides that 
any power or powers, privileges or authority exercised or which may be exercised by a unit of 
local government may be exercised and enjoyed jointly with any other unit of local 
government; and 

WHEREAS, Section 5 of the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5 ILCS 220/5, provides 
that any one or more public agencies may contract with any or more public agencies to perform 
any governmental service, activity, or undertaking which any of the public agencies entering into 
the contract is authorized by law to perform, provided that such contract shall be authorized by 
the governing body of each party to the contract; and 

 WHEREAS, the Winnebago County Coroner wishes to prepare for potential emergencies 
which may require that they provide aid and assistance to other county coroners or that the 
Winnebago County Coroner may request aid and assistance from other county coroners; and 

WHEREAS, the objective of preparing for these emergencies can be furthered by the 
establishment of a state-wide mutual aid and assistance system between and among the county 
coroners of this state by and through the Illinois Coroners and Medical Examiners Association. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois, that the County Board Chairman and County Coroner shall be authorized to enter into 
this intergovernmental agreement that authorizes Winnebago County Coroner’s participation in 
the Illinois Coroners and Medical Examiners mutual aid agreement effective upon the approval 
of this Resolution. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the County Board is hereby directed to 
prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Winnebago County Coroner, and 
County Board Office. 



           Respectfully submitted, 
           PUBLIC SAFETY AND JUDICIARY COMMITTEE 

                
 

AGREE  DISAGREE 
 
 

  

BRAD LINDMARK, CHAIR 
 
 

 BRAD LINDMARK, CHAIR 
 
 

AARON BOOKER 
 
 

 AARON BOOKER 
 

ANGIE GORAL   ANGIE GORAL 
 
 

KEVIN MCCARTHY 
 

                                                                 KEVIN MCCARTHY 
 

 
TIM NABORS 
 
 

                                                                           TIM NABORS 
 

CHRIS SCROL 
 
 

 

                                                                          CHRIS SCROL 
 

MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 
 

                                                           MICHAEL THOMPSON 
 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 

Winnebago, Illinois this _____day of ___________________________2025. 

 
 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 

JOSEPH V. CHIARELLI 
CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD 

OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 
 
 
LORI GUMMOW 
CLERK OF THE COUNTY BOARD  
OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 















Resolution Executive Summary 
Prepared By:   Marlana Dokken 

Committee:   Public Safety & Judiciary Committee 

Committee Date:   May 12, 2025 

Resolution Title:  RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD TO 
EXECUTE A WINNEBAGO COUNTY MENTAL HEALTH BOARD AMENDMENT 
TO THE FUNDING AGREEMENT  

County Code: Not Applicable 

Board Meeting Date:   May 22, 2025 

Budget Information: 

Was item budgeted?    Yes   Amount:   $1,799,388.37 

If not, explain funding source:   Winnebago County Community Mental Health Board 

ORG/OBJ/Project Code:     Budget Impact:   n/a 

Background Information:  The County of Winnebago, Illinois (County) and the 17th Judicial Circuit Court 
propose to approve the Amendment to the Funding Agreement (Amendment) with the Winnebago 
County Community Mental Health Board (WCCMHB) to provide behavioral health services at the Resource 
Intervention Center (RIC), the Juvenile Resource Intervention Center (JRIC), and the Juvenile Detention 
Center (JDC). The County will extend agreements with service provider to administer behavioral health 
service provision at the three (3) locations. Also included is funding for security, supplies, and grant 
compliance support which will be provided by the County. Pursuant to the Amendment, the County and 
WCCMHB desire to extend the term of the original Funding Agreement for an additional two (2) years, 
with a new end date of May 31, 2027, an additional allocation of funds, and including any approved 
unspent funds from Program Year 4. 

Recommendation:  Approve Amendment to the Funding Agreement with the WCCMHB, budgeted for 
services at the following locations: 

a. Resource Intervention Center $412,710.62 
b. Juvenile Resource Intervention Center $412,710.65 
c. Juvenile Detention Center $973,967.10 

Contract/Agreement: County will approve WCCMHB Amendment to the Funding Agreement and amend 
agreements with sub-awardee. 

Legal Review:  Legal has reviewed the Amendment and will review all amended sub-awards prior to 
execution. 

Follow-Up:   Chairman’s Office of Criminal Justice Initiatives and the 17th Judicial Circuit Court will proceed 
with the execution of the agreement(s). 



County Board:  May 22, 2025 

R E S O L U T I O N 
of the 

COUNTY BOARD OF THE COUNTY OF WINNEBAGO, ILLINOIS 

Sponsored by:   Brad Lindmark 
Submitted by:   Public Safety and Judiciary Committee 

2025 CR

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CHAIRMAN OF THE COUNTY BOARD TO EXECUTE A
WINNEBAGO COUNTY MENTAL HEALTH BOARD AMENDMENT TO THE FUNDING

AGREEMENT  

 WHEREAS, the County of Winnebago, Illinois and the 17th Judicial Circuit Court have 
been awarded funding from the Winnebago County Community Mental Health Board 
(WCCMHB) for Program Years 5-6; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the proposed Amendment, the County and WCCMHB desire to 
extend the term of the original Funding Agreement for an additional two (2) years, with a new 
end date of May 31, 2027, an additional allocation of funds, and including any approved 
unspent funds from Program Year 4; and 

WHEREAS, the Public Safety and Judiciary Committee of the County Board for the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois, has reviewed the Amendment to Funding Agreement, 
attached hereto as Exhibit A, and recommends its approval. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the County Board of the County of Winnebago, 
Illinois that the County Board Chairman is authorized to execute, on behalf of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois, an Amendment to the Funding Agreement with the Winnebago County 
Community Mental Health Board, in the total dollar amount of one million seven hundred ninety-
nine thousand three hundred eighty-eight dollars and thirty-seven cents ($1,799,388.37), in 
substantially the same form as that set forth in Exhibit A. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be in full force and effective 
immediately upon its adoption and the Clerk of the County Board is hereby authorized to 
prepare and deliver certified copies of this Resolution to the Chairman’s Office of Criminal 
Justice Initiatives, Director of Purchasing, Finance Director, County Board Office, and County 
Auditor.        



 

                 
Respectfully submitted, 

  PUBLIC SAFETY and JUDICIARY COMMITTEE 
 

  
AGREE  DISAGREE 

 

 

  

BRAD LINDMARK, CHAIR  BRAD LINDMARK, CHAIR 

 

AARON BOOKER  AARON BOOKER 

 

ANGIE GORAL 

 

                                                                         ANGIE GORAL 

 

KEVIN MCCARTHY 

 

                                                                 KEVIN MCCARTHY 

 

TIM NABORS 

 

 TIM NABORS 

 

CHRIS SCROL   CHRIS SCROL 

 

RAY THOMPSON 

 

 RAY THOMPSON 

 

The above and foregoing Resolution was adopted by the County Board of the County of 
Winnebago, Illinois this ____ day of _____________, 2025. 

 
 
                      ________________________________  
                                                                                  Joseph V. Chiarelli, Chairman of the 
           County Board of the  
           County of Winnebago, Illinois 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________   
Lori Gummow, Clerk of the   
County Board of the 
County of Winnebago, Illinois 

 









UNFINISHED 
BUSINESS 



Appointments 



NEW BUSINESS 



ANNOUNCEMENTS & 
COMMUNICATIONS 



 

County Clerk  |  404 Elm St, Rm 104, Rockford, IL 61101  |  Clerk.wincoil.gov 
Phone: (815) 319-4250 | Fax: (815) 969-0259  

 

 
Announcements & Communications 
Date: May 22, 2025 
Item: Correspondence to the Board 
Prepared by: County Clerk Lori Gummow 
 

Governing Statute(s):  State of Illinois Counties Code 55 ILCS 5/Div. 3-2, Clerk 
 
County Code: Ch 2. Art. II. Div. 4, Sec. 2.86 – Record Keeping & Communications 
 
Background: The items listed below were received as correspondence.  
 

1. County Clerk Gummow received from the United States Nuclear Regulatory 
Commission the following: 

 
a. Byron Station – Integrated Inspection Report 05000454/2025001 and 

05000455/2025001. 
b. Summary of April 3, 2025, Meeting with Constellation Energy Generation, LLC 

Regarding Applicability of Generic Letter 83-11 (EPID L-2025-LRM-0019) 
c. Byron Station, Unit Nos. 1 and 2 -Issuance of Relief Request I5R-03 Regarding 

Documentation for Replacement of Pressure Retaining Bolting (EPID L-2024-LLR-
0063) 

d. Monthly Notice; Applications and Amendments to Facility Operating Licenses and 
Combined Licenses Involving No Significant Hazards Considerations. 

e. Federal Register/Vol. 90, No. 92/Wednesday, May 14, 2025/Notices  
 

2. County Clerk Gummow received a Monthly Report from the Winnebago County Clerk 
and Winnebago County Recorder’s Office for February, March, and April, 2025.   

 
3. County Clerk Gummow received from Theresa Grennan, Winnebago County Treasurer 

the following: 
 

a. Collateralization Report – as of March 31, 2025 
b. Investment Report - as of March 1, 2025 
c. Winnebago County Treasurer Bank Balances – March, 2025  

http://www.wincoil.us/
http://www.ilga.gov/legislation/ilcs/ilcs4.asp?DocName=005500050HDiv%2E+3-2&ActID=750&ChapterID=12&SeqStart=14400000&SeqEnd=16300000
https://library.municode.com/il/winnebago_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COCO_CH2AD_ARTIICOBO_DIV4RUPR_S2-86RECO


 

Adjournment 


	Revised Agenda
	Awards, Presentations, Public Hearings & Public Participation
	Approval of Minutes
	Consent Agenda
	Appointments
	Zoning Board of Appeals - Tami Verstraete & Tom Walsh
	Board of Review - Pamela Cunningham & Jay Dowthard
	Durand Sanitary District - David Bliss
	Cherry Valley Cemetery Association - Donna Riha
	Harlem Cemetery Association - Ray C. Rogers, Thomas L. Taylor & Terry Johnson
	Seward Sanitary District - Dennis Hille
	Reports of Standing Committees
	Zoning Committee
	Economic Development Committee
	Ordinance Amending Chapter 2 ("Administration") of the Winnebago County Code to Restore Administrative Authority to County Board Chairman
	Operations & Administrative Committee
	Resolution Authorizing Application for a Capital Assistance Grant for Paratransit Vehicle(s) under the IL Dept. of Transportation's General Authority to Make Such Grants
	Resolution Authorizing Execution & Amendment of Section 5311 Grant Agreement
	Ordinance to Provide Public Transportation in the Rural Areas of Winnebago County, IL
	Resolution Authorizing Execution of the Acceptance of the Special Warranty (Grant for Rural Transportation)
	Resolution to Approve the IGA for the PSB by & between the County of Winnebago & the City of Rockford
	Resolution Declaring Vacancy in Winnebago County Board District 12
	Resolution Awarding Purchase of Transit Van for Coroner's Office using Fee Funds
	Resolution Awarding Replacement of 1st Floor Air Handler at Adult Probation & Wellness Center using CIP 2025 Funds
	Resolution Awarding Parking Lot Repaving for Juvenile Justice Center using CIP 2023 Funds
	Resolution Awarding Purchase of Replacement Truck for Winnebago County Sheriff's Office using CIP PSST 2025 Funds
	Public Works Committee
	(25-030) Ordinance Establishing a Speed Zone on Latham Rd. (CH 17) from Rockton Avenue to IL-2
	(25-031) Resolution to Reject Bid for Box Culvert Materials on Rockton Avenue at Gleasman Road (Section: 25-00737-00-BR)
	(25-032) Resolution Authorizing the Award of Bid for Moate Road Resurfacing (Section: 25-00000-03GM)
	(25-033) Resolution Authorizing the Award of Bid for Pecatonica Road Shoulder Paving (Section: 25-00000-05-GM)
	(25-034) Resolution Adopting the Winnebago County Traffic Safety Action Plan
	(25-035) Resolution Adopting a Policy for Celebrate Life Memorials along the Perryville Path
	Public Safety & Judiciary Committee
	Resolution Authorizing the Execution of a Mutual Aid Agreement with IL Coroners & Medical Examiners Association
	Resolution Authorizing Chairman of County Board to Execute a Winn. Cty. Mental Health Board Amendment to the Funding Agreement
	Unfinished Business
	Appointments read in on April 24, 2025
	Four Rivers Sanitation District - Brad Long
	New Milford Fire Protection District - Doug Hayes & Greg Tucker
	New Business
	Announcements & Communications
	Adjournment



